

Mobility and detection of antimicrobial resistance genes in

Mycoplasma hominis, Ureaplasma parvum, Ureaplasma

urealyticum and Neisseria gonorrhoeae

Ву

Martin George Sharratt

A thesis submitted in candidature for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy (PhD)

Division of Infection and Immunity, School of Medicine,

Cardiff University

2023

Acknowledgements

Firstly, I would like to thank my fantastic supervisor, Dr. Brad Spiller, not only for his excellent input and advice but also for his unwavering enthusiasm throughout the entirety of my research. No matter how many failed experiments or international pandemics came my way, he always made sure to help me work through those challenges and come out on the other side with a successful and enjoyable research project, for which I will be forever thankful.

I would also like to express my sincerest thanks and appreciation to everyone at Cwm Taf Morgannwg University Health Board for supporting and assisting in my research, with special thanks to Dr. Lucy Jones and the wider clinical research team. Working on such an important clinical study was a daunting prospect at first, but their care and enthusiasm made sure I felt like a member of the team. It was thanks to their brilliant hard work that I was able to complete my research.

I also want to thank everyone I've worked with at the 6th-floor lab at UHW, Cardiff University – Ian, Jordan, Ed, Kirsty & Caitlyn, just to name a few. Their friendship, kindness, and passion for research (no matter how off-track my explanations got!) were incomparable and one of the highlights of my time researching this work. All my friends, near and far, have always supported me throughout these last four years with kind words, pub crawls, and adventures in Devon. No matter how erratic my timetable was, they were always able to make time for me, something I will always treasure.

Finally, all the work here was made possible by my family. No matter what challenges arose, they have always supported me and my ambitions. Words cannot express how grateful I am.

i

I would like to thank Knowledge Economy Skills Scholarships (KESS 2), the Welsh Government's European Social Fund (ESF), and Cwm Taf Morgannwg University Health Board for their financial support, especially their swift and generous COVID-19 relief funding.

Publications arising from this project:

Chalker, Victoria J., et al. "Tetracycline resistance mediated by tet (M) has variable integrative conjugative element composition in Mycoplasma hominis strains isolated in the United Kingdom from 2005 to 2015." Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy 65.4 (2021): 10-1128.

Sharratt, Martin, et al. "Defining fluoroquinolone resistance-mediating mutations from nonresistance polymorphisms in mycoplasma hominis topoisomerases." Antibiotics 10.11 (2021): 1379.

Poster Presentations:

Martin Sharratt, Dr Owen Brad Spiller, Dr Lucy Jones: Urogenital mycoplasmas & Neisseria gonorrhoea prevalence in symptomatic sexual health patients. Presented at Cwm Taf Morgannwg University Health Board Annual R&D Conference, 23 November 2022.

Word Count: 36,555

Summary

Mycoplasmas are some of the most structurally minimalist bacteria currently known to science. As urogenital pathogens, they can lead to a variety of adverse outcomes such as spontaneous abortion, pre-term birth and neonatal pneumonia. Their structural simplicity means that they lack most of the targets of antibiotic treatments, and their high degree of genomic plasticity allows them to rapidly adapt to the few treatments that are available. As such, the primary goal of this work was to investigate the mechanisms and detection of tetracycline and quinolone resistance in *Mycoplasma hominis* as well as tetracycline resistance in *Ureaplasma parvum* and *Ureaplasma urealyticum*. In addition, I investigated the effectiveness of utilizing real-time PCR techniques for the clinical detection of urogenital mycoplasmas and their associated antimicrobial resistances, along with that of *Neisseria gonorrhoea* and *Mycoplasma genitalium* due to their international prominence as "superbugs".

An interrogation of the mechanisms behind fluoroquinolone resistance in *M. hominis* demonstrated an environmentally driven mechanism of resistance, mediated by mutations I observed in *gyr*A that preceded mutations in the complementary *par*C gene. Furthermore, I observed a similarly high degree of genomic heterogenicity between the *tet*M genes that mediate tetracycline resistance in *M. hominis*, suggesting that horizontal gene transfer mediated the development of tetracycline resistance in *M. hominis*. These observations were only partially mirrored in my analysis of tetracycline resistant *Ureaplasma spp*. All *Ureaplasma urealyticum* isolates shared a common insertion site for *tet*M that appeared to be part of a Tn916-carried composite integrated conjugal element (ICE), while most *U. parvum* isolates retained a second conserved *tet*M insertion site (but without most of the

iii

expected Tn916-associated genes) and a final *U. parvum* isolate that appears to have acquired a Tn916 insertion event at a unique third somatic position. For all *Mollicutes*, the transition from standard bacterial coding where UGA is stop, and not the main histidine codon, appears to drive mutation in these open-reading frames in *M. hominis* and *Ureaplasma spp*.

Analysing isolates collected as part of the Antibiotic Guardian study, which had to be significantly truncated due to the COVID-19 outbreak and restrictions on sexual health patients coming into hospital, found that U. parvum had highest prevalence, followed by M hominis, U. urealyticum, N. gonorrhoea and finally M. genitalium. Furthermore, a significantly higher prevalence of U. parvum and M. hominis in female patients suggested a gender bias for pathogenicity. The in-house qPCR assays used showed 100% concordance with both commercial molecular methods and NHS culture methods for detection of urogenital mycoplasmas, indicating the reliability and accuracy of this assay for use as a rapid diagnostic tool. Furthermore, the high levels of resistance in *N. gonorrhoea*, *M.* genitalium and M. hominis observed were identical between SpeeDx commercial assays (not *M. hominis*) and culture-based confirmation. However, the significantly lower viability of *N.* gonorrhoea in culture demonstrated that the molecular methods had a distinctive advantage in diagnosis relative to traditional susceptibility testing methods. Given the increasing prevalence of resistance for all pathogens, continued surveillance to monitor antimicrobial resistance trends is required.

iv

Abbreviations

AMR	Antimicrobial resistance
ARG	Antibiotic resistance gene
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
BASHH	British Association for Sexual Health and HIV
BLAST	Basic Local Alignment Search Tool
CARD	Comprehensive Antibiotic Resistance Database
CDC	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
CLSI	Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute
CSF	Cerebrospinal fluid
СТ	Chlamydia trachomatis
EMA	European Medicines Agency
GAPDH	Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase
GC	Neisseria gonorrhoea
HGT	Horizontal gene transfer
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus
HPV	Human papillomavirus
ICE	Integrate conjugative element
IRAS	Integrated Research Application System
LGV	Lymphogranuloma venereum
MBA	Multiple banded antigen
MG	Mycoplasma genitalium
MH	Mycoplasma hominis
MHBM	Mueller Hinton broth medium
MIC	Minimum Inhibitory Concentration
MLST	Multi-locus sequence typing
MRSA	Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus
MSM	Men who have sex with men
NCBI	National Centre for Biotechnology Information
NHS	National Health Service
NICE	National Institute for Health and Care Excellence

ORF	Open reading frame
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PHE	Public Health England
PHW	Public Health Wales
PID	Pelvic inflammatory disease
QRDR	Quinolone resistance-determining region
RPP	Ribosomal protection protein
RPR	Rapid plasma reagin
SARA	Sexually acquired reactive arthritis
SNP	Single Nucleotide Polymorphism
STI	Sexually transmitted infection
TPHA	Treponema pallidum haemagglutination assay
UKHSA	UK Health Security Agency
UP	Ureaplasma parvum
UU	Ureaplasma urealyticum
VAA	Variable adherence antigen
VFDB	Virulence Factors of Pathogenic Bacteria Database
WHO	World Health Organization

Contents

1	1 Introduc			tion	1
	1.1 Sex 1.2 Pat		Sexu	ally transmitted bacterial infections in the UK	1
			Path	nogens	2
		1.2.3	1	Neisseria gonorrhoeae	4
		1.2.2	2	Mycoplasma genitalium	8
		1.2.3	3	Mycoplasma hominis	15
		1.2.4	4	Ureaplasma spp	21
	1.	3	Anti	microbial Treatments	25
		1.3.1		Quinolones	28
		1.3.2	2	Macrolides	
		1.3.3	3	Tetracyclines	
		1.3.4	4	Lincosamides	40
	1.	4	Aim	s and Objectives	42
2		Mat	erial	s and Methods	44
	2.	1	M. h	nominis culture	44
		2.1.3	1	Antimicrobial Resistance Screening	45
		2.1.2	2	Ethical Considerations	46
	2.	2	Ured	aplasma spp. culture	46
		2.2.2	1	Clinical Samples	47
		2.2.2		Ethics Considerations	47
		2.2.3	3	Whole genome sequencing and bioinformatic analysis.	47
	2.	3	Inte	rventional Clinical Study	49
		2.3.2	1	Samples and methods relating to the "Antibiotic Guardian Study"	49
		2.3.2	2	Sample Processing	51
		2.3.3	3	Alterations to Clinical Study and Reporting	56
		2.3.4	4	Statistical Analysis of Clinical Study Primary Outcomes	56
		2.3.	5	Growth of Isolates in Presence of Sex Hormones	57
3		Ant	imic	robial Guardian Study – An Interventional Clinical Study	59
	3.	3.1 Intro		oduction	59
	3.	2	Resu	ılts	62
		3.2.2	1	Patient Demographics	62
3.2.2		2	Analysis of Pathogen Incidence	62	
		3.2.3	3	Detection of Resistance in Clinical Samples	66
		3.2.4	4	Genomic Analysis of Fluoroquinolone-Resistant GC	66

	3.2.5		Growth of Ureaplasma spp. in the Presence of Sex Hormones	69
	3.3	Disc	cussion	71
4 Re	Poly esistan	ymoi ice oi	rphism Analysis of Quinolone Resistance Determining Mechanism-Me f Fluroquinolones in <i>Mycoplasma hominis</i>	diated 75
	Introd	uctio	n	75
	4.1	Res	ults	77
	4.1.	1	Genomic Analysis	77
	4.1.	2	Antimicrobial Resistance Testing	77
	4.1.	3	Spontaneous Induction of Antimicrobial Resistance	79
	4.1.	4	Phylogenetic Variation of Resistant and Susceptible Isolates	80
	4.2	Disc	cussion	83
5	Cor	njuga	tive Element Analysis of tetM in Mycoplasma hominis	86
	5.1	Intro	oduction	86
	5.2	Res	ults	88
	5.2.	1	Reference culture and PCR review	88
	5.2.	2	Antibiotic susceptibility testing evaluation on recovered viable isolates	89
	5.2.3		Mechanisms of antimicrobial resistance	89
	5.2.4		Sequence veracity and genetic drift	92
	5.2.	5	Anecdotal evidence for ICE Mobility	92
	5.2.6		Alternative therapies for tetracycline and multi-resistant strains	99
	5.3	Disc	cussion	101
6	Mee	chan	isms of <i>tet</i> M mediated Tetracycline Resistance in <i>Ureaplasma spp.</i>	106
	6.1	Intro	oduction	106
	6.2	Res	ults	107
	6.2.	1	Analysis and Detection of <i>tet</i> M	107
	6.2.	2	Genomic variation of Tn916 and surrounding genomic regions in U. urealyticum	108
	6.2.	3	Genomic variation of Tn916 and surrounding genomic regions in <i>U. parvum</i>	112
	6.2.	4	Analysis of Potential Gene Insertion Sites	114
	6.3	Disc	cussion	116
7	Ger	neral	Discussion	120
	7.1	Fluc	proquinolone resistance in <i>M. hominis</i>	120
	7.2	tetN	A-mediated tetracycline resistance in <i>M. hominis</i>	121
7.3 tetl 7.4 Clin 7.5 Sun		tetN	A-mediated tetracycline resistance in Ureaplasma spp	123
		Clin	ical Interventional Study	125
		Sum	nmary	126
	7.6	Futu	ure Work & Recommendations	128

8	Bibliography		9
---	--------------	--	---

Table 1-1 - Clinically relevant antibiotics and their effectiveness against urogenital mycoplasmas. Columns in red are ineffective treatments for Mycoplasma infections due to inherent immunity, while antibiotics listed in orange are potentially viable treatments but could be ineffective for a particular medical case due to the presence and/or emergence of

 Table 2-1 - The panel of targets of both assays run on each sample.
 52

 Table 2-2 – Primers and probes used in qPCR multiplex assay.
 53
Table 3-1 - Clinical data by sample type collected during AGS clinical study. Multiple sample types could be collected from patients in line with presenting symptoms. Bacterial count was calculated by gene copy count generated as part of RT-qPCR analysis......64 Table 4-1 - A summary of the ranges of SNP frequencies observed across the Table 5-1 - Sample numbers per year, detailing detection of M. hominis by PCR and culture and associated antimicrobial resistance. Prior to July 2010 culture positive samples were recorded and post-July 2010 samples submitted for M. hominis investigation tested by molecular diagnostics were included. The one resistant isolate found in 2015 was a dual-Table 5-2 - Variable Adherence-associated Antigen (VAA) typing for given strains. Strains Table 6-1 - Summary of 13 Ureaplasma isolates analysed in this chapter. HPA71 has two entries in this table as MIC values were initially 1 (fully susceptible) pre-selection but were 64 (resistant) post-selection when cultured in sublethal-conditions. Serovars marked with an asterisk have not been conclusively serotyped at time of writing and so all potential serovars Table 8-1 – Meta-Data of Mycoplasma hominis isolates analysed in this work......168 Table 8-2 - Meta-Data of Ureaplasma parvum and Ureaplasma urealyticum isolates Table 8-3 - Amino acid variations present in the gyrA genes of all isolates analysed in reference Table 8-4 - Amino acid variations present in the gyrB genes of all isolates analyzed in reference Table 8-5 - Amino acid variations present in the parC genes of all isolates analysed in reference to ATCC 21134 (divided into (a), (b) and (c) due to size constraints). CDS numbers in the Table 8-6 - Amino acid variations present in the parE genes of all isolates analysed in reference Table 8-7 – A list of SNP frequencies observed across the topoisomerase genes of each of the seventy-four isolates analysed. Tables correspond to SNPs present in gyrA (a), gyrB (b), Table 8-8 - Bacterial cell count values of Ureaplasma parvum isolates grown in media with varying concentrations of sex hormones. U-values and p-values were calculated via

Table 8-9 - Bacterial cell count values of Ureaplasma urealyticum isolates grown in mediawith varying concentrations of sex hormones.U-values and p-values were calculated viaMann-Whitney U-Test.189

Figure 1-1 – The characteristic cellular structures of Mycoplasma genitalium. The motility mechanism is made up of three distinct protein complexes, whereby force is generated at the bowl complex (a), transmitted through the paired plates (b) and modulated by the Nap adhesion complex (c). The structure of the motility mechanism pushes against the cell membrane, creating the characteristic "flask" shape of the cell. Image created in Microsoft Office Figure 1-2 - The colony structure of Mycoplasma genitalium cultured in agar. Visible growth (under microscope) can be achieved in approximately a week but can often take 2-4 Figure 1-3 – Mycoplasma hominis colonies observed visually with optical microscopy. The cell circled in red denote the progression of the M. hominis colony from a small colony of uniform density (A) to a partial colony structure (B) and the characteristic "egg-fried" colony structure (C) observed in mature colonies. Image taken by author at 100x magnification on selective agar (Mycoplasma Experience Ltd.) with M. hominis. strain DF145.17 Figure 1-4 - Tertiary complex of type II topoisomerases, DNA, and quinolones. Quinolones disrupt the active sites of the gyr(A) and par(C) complexes, preventing the enzyme from cutting and releasing DNA after binding, causing double-stranded DNA and apoptosis. Primase, Polymerase and PriA make up the DNA Replication complex that is assisted by type II topoisomerases and is subsequently disrupted by quinolones. Adapted from Hooper (2002). Figure 1-5 - Mechanism of function for antibiotics that inhibit protein synthesis. For all three classes of antibiotic illustrated here, the overarching mechanism of resistance is an alteration of one or more tRNA binding sites that in turn prevents the binding of the antibiotic Figure 1-6 - The structure of the Tn916 transposon. Each of the four gene clusters mediating different functions of the transposon are marked in a different colour. Figure Figure 2-1 - 96-well Plate Determination of Minimum Inhibitory Concentration. This plate shows the result of a hypothetical tetracycline-resistant M. hominis isolate. Dark red wells indicate growth-mediated colour change, while orange-yellow wells indicate a lack of growth sufficient to induce colour change. A Minimum Inhibitory Concentration was determined by the highest concentration of antibiotic to produce colour change at 1×10^4 or higher Colour Figure 2-2 – Summary of clinical testing regime undertaken for the interventional clinical study. Only symptomatic patients were part of the clinical study. The standard NHS treatment regime takes approximately two weeks, with immediate treatment given empirically and Figure 3-1 - The distribution of pathogens detected in 160 patients tested as part of the Antibiotic Guardian Study. Patients may have been tested via multiple sample types based Figure 3-2 – The distribution of pathogens detected in male and female patients, as well as before and after pandemic restrictions. All four categories show that U. parvum is the most common bacteria present. M. hominis is the second most prevalent pathogen overall and in women specifically, while U. urealyticum is the second most prevalent pathogen in male Figure 3-3 – An alignment of the variation between gyr(A) QRDR regions present in two N. gonorrhoea genomes. Pictures A and B show both bacteria sampled from patients AGS138, AGS151 and AGS152 on Oxoid agar plates, with antibiotic diffusion disks containing ciprofloxacin. AGS138 demonstrates a 20mm diameter zone of inhibition surrounding a Cip 5 disk, while AGS152 demonstrates a 55mm diameter zone with the same Cip 5 disk, demonstrating a significantly lower resistance to ciprofloxacin. AGS151 contains a ciprofloxacin-susceptible bacterium (zone diameter <20mm) now known to be K. dentrificans. Figure 3-4 – An alignment of tetM genes from common urogenital microflora and target pathogens of the study. Species, reference strain designation, and percentage similarity is indicated in the blue labels, relative to the HPA23 strain of M. hominis labelled in black. Point mutations are indicated in yellow lines present in the green identity bar and as black dashes Figure 3-5 – Growth of U. parvum across 12 hours in the presence of beta-oestradiol and testosterone. (E) refers to strains grown in the presence of beta-oestradiol, while (T) refers to strains grown in the presence of testosterone. Growth units are plotted exponentially and measured in Sq., or no. of bacterial genomes detected per 5µl of broth culture as quantified by rt-PCR. Error! Bookmark not defined. Figure 3-6 - Growth of U. urealyticum across 12 hours in the presence of beta-oestradiol and testosterone. (E) refers to strains grown in the presence of beta-oestradiol, while (T) refers to strains grown in the presence of testosterone. Growth units are plotted exponentially and measured in Sq., or no. of bacterial genomes detected per 5µl of broth culture as quantified by rt-PCR. Error! Bookmark not defined. Figure 4-1 - Minimum inhibitory concentration for M. hominis isolates for levofloxacin and moxifloxacin. Internationally agreed thresholds for resistance are shown as dotted lines and isolates above the line are resistant to the respective fluoroquinolones. Isolates with QRDR gyrA-only mutations are shown (S019M as red circles and DF28 as blue circles), and MICs for these isolates following one step induction of resistance, resulting in an additional QRDR parC mutation, are shown as coloured squares (S019M2R as red squares and DF282R as blue Figure 4-2 - The single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) of gyrA and parC genes found in the ORDR regions of all strains analysed. Orange lines represent functional or nonsynonymous mutations. No functional mutations were found in the QRDR regions of gyrB or Figure 4-3 - A phylogenetic tree of 72 isolates analysed, with two induced resistant strains linked by arrows. Phylogenetic tree was constructed via concatenations of all four topoisomerase genes (gyrA, gyrB, parC and parE. The outgroup used was Mycoplasma pneumoniae M129, listed on the tree under its accession number (NC000912) and marked with a red circle. Naturally occurring resistant strains are identified by arrowheads. Induced mutant Figure 5-1 - Alignment of ICE elements carrying the tetM gene. Genes were aligned relative to their insertion at the 3' end of the rum(A) gene. Open reading frames for PL5 reference gene consist of rum(A); tn916 conjugation genes (green) ORF17, ORF16, ORF15, ORF14, ORF13; tetM resistance gene (pink); Tn916regulation genes (blue, or grey at 80% homology) ORF9, ORF7; Tn916excisase and integrase genes (red); accessory transporter genes from ICESpv2905 (accession number FR691055; yellow) which also includes the serine recombinase (red) at the end of the mobile genetic element. MH06-1 was absent from previous Figure 5-2 - Nucleotide alignments for the contigs containing the tetM gene showing SNP locations. These SNPs were identified when sequencing the same strain (MH06-12) three independent times (A) and three independent isolations (AH3-20wk, AH3-28wk and AH3-Figure 5-3 - Phylogenetic analysis of MLST genes. Phylogenetic analysis was conducted for strains with tetM (light blue box) relative to strains without (white box). Listed are the typing of major surface antigen (VAA) is shown next to each isolate with the VAA type (blue circle = type 1, red circle = type 2, green circle = type 4 or 4b (due to 1 or 2 copies of module III, respectively), yellow circle = novel VAA type), the total number of ICE genes (excluding tetM) and then the conserved SNP variation as per previous identifications in the literature (Mardassi et al. 2012), indicated as the last entry per line for type "A", "B" and sub-variant "B2".95 **Figure 5-4 - Alignment of tetM genes showing conserved SNP variants.** A threshold of >0.2 prevalence was used for tetM-type A (06-11, 06-12, 08-5, 12-9, 13-4 and 13-5) relative to the remainder that represent tetM-type B. Grey dashes indicate non-synonymous single nucleotide Figure 5-5 - Neighbour-joining phylogenetic analysis of the entire tetM gene between strains. Those with conserved SNPs distinguishing between tetM-type A and tetM-type B Figure 4-6 - Antimicrobial susceptibility testing for 40 isolates. Data is of 13 tetM-carrying and 27 randomly selected susceptible controls) for antibiotics with CLSI-defined resistance thresholds, along with for glycyl-tetracycline tigecycline and macrolide josamycin. No breakpoints have been assigned for these latter two antimicrobials at time of writing, so a more detailed range of breakpoints were tested instead of the usual two-fold dilutions seen in the Figure 5-2 – An alignment of the Tn916 transposon of all eight Ureaplasma urealyticum isolates. Section (a) is an alignment of isolates mapped against the tetM gene of a reference strain of Enterococcus faecalis DS16 (Accession no. EFU09422). Asterisks indicate the position of a stop codon leading to a gene truncation. Section (b)......109 Figure 5-3 – Insertion sites for the Tn916 transposon in U. urealyticum. Aligned relative to the common tetM gene, the DEAH/DEAD box helicase is marked in red, and the common insertion site is marked with purple arrows, demonstrating the inversion of genomic content Figure 5-4 – Alignment of Tn916 and downstream genomes of U. urealyticum isolates. Genes are marked in orange, with homologous regions marked in purple for the Tn916 transposon, and blue for the section of genome between the transposon and the DEAH/DEAD box helicase gene. Black-grey lines indicate BLAST identity percentage, as per the figure Figure 5-5 - An alignment of five Ureaplasma parvum isolates. The tetM accessory gene is labelled in black, with truncation labelled in grey. All conjugative transfer genes normally upstream of the tetM accessory genes in Tn916 are absent in all but DF28U, which contains the full complement of ORFs but also a truncation at ORF 14, marked with an asterisk.113

1 Introduction

1.1 Sexually transmitted bacterial infections in the UK

While a key part of healthcare treatment provided by the NHS, there has been a more recent rise in importance of sexual health and subsequently the treatment of sexually transmitted infections. In Wales, only 0.1% of NHS Wales funding is directly allocated to the treatment of sexually transmitted infections (Welsh Government 2023) but 4.7% of NHS Wales funding is spent on urogenital illnesses (excluding infertility) often linked to untreated or poorly treated STIs (Henkel 2021). A further 3.2% is spent on maternity and reproductive health, another sector of healthcare that the literature consistently notes as being impacted by STIs (Ikonomidis et al. 2016; Beeton et al. 2019; Paira et al. 2021). One of the biggest issues facing this important field of medicine is the rapid increase in antimicrobial resistance (AMR) across many of the most common STIs treated in clinical settings. Globally, *Neisseria gonorrhoea* has been observed to demonstrate resistance to first-line treatments in seventy different countries globally (Unemo et al. 2019) with ciprofloxacin resistance in *N. gonorrhoea* of up to 100% of some cohorts observed by the World Health Organization (WHO) (WHO 2019) and significant levels of AMR occurring in other STIs such as *Mycoplasma genitalium* (MG) (Unemo and Jensen 2017) and *Chlamydia trachomatis* (Ikonomidis et al. 2016; Paira et al. 2021).

It is a well-established principle that prevention is better than cure and relating this to STIs, poor sexual health outcomes can contribute to a variety of other conditions. The most well-known links relate to the well-established connections between STIs and the risk of lowered fertility (Beeton et al. 2019; Tang et al. 2020; Paira et al. 2021; Smolarczyk et al. 2021) and adverse pregnancy outcomes (Viscardi 2014; Tang et al. 2020; Ma et al. 2021; Vallely et al. 2021) but also includes less well-known links such as septic arthritis (Chen et al. 2020; Lemoine et al. 2021) and eye disease (Sadhasivam and Vetrivel 2018; Spiteri et al. 2019; Shah et al. 2021), demonstrating that the rapid diagnosis of STIs is a key part of improving the healthcare outcomes of patients (Huntington et al. 2018; Whitlock et al. 2018; Lorenc et al. 2021).

1.2 Pathogens

While it is important to recognize the relevance of many non-bacterial sexually transmitted infections (STIs such as viruses (e.g., Herpes and HIV) or protozoans (e.g., *Trichomonas vaginalis*), the focus of this work shall be on urogenital Mycoplasmas that are linked with the common symptoms of vaginitis and urethritis and avail themselves more readily to resolution with antibiotic therapy, specifically:

- Mycoplasma genitalium (MG)
- Mycoplasma hominis (MH)
- Ureaplasma parvum
- Ureaplasma urealyticum

Additionally, while not a focus of this thesis, for the sake of completeness, *C. trachomatis* is one of the most common causes of STIs and thus is described here to outline its lack of inclusion. *Chlamydia trachomatis* is an obligate intracellular Gram-negative bacterium causing some of the most common occurrences of STI and is more colloquially known as just "Chlamydia". *C. trachomatis* can be further sub-divided into biovars and serovars (Faris et al. 2019), with serovars A-C consisting of mainly ocular pathogens (Sadhasivam and Vetrivel 2018). Serovars D-K are the biovar responsible for sexually transmitted variants of the bacterium. One final biovar consists of serovars L1-3, pathogens cause lymphogranuloma venereum (LGV), a sexually transmitted disease, common to men-who-have-sex-with-men (MSM) manifesting as ulcerating lymphadenopathy that produces characteristic "buboes" (Seth-Smith et al. 2021).

Testing for *C. trachomatis* is always undertaken when patients present with urogenital, anorectal, and ocular symptoms, and for any known relevant sexual contacts of confirmed infected persons (Meyer 2016). As there is no national screening programme for *C. trachomatis*, and screening does not occur at time of a cervical smear or routine pregnancy screening, periodic testing only occurs opportunistically when other infections are ruled out. Current first line treatments for *C. trachomatis* infections are 100mg doxycycline for 7 days or 1g azithromycin for 1 day followed by 500mg of azithromycin for 2 days, with doxycycline contraindicated for pregnant patients. Treatment failure in patients fully complying with antibiotic regimes due to resistance is incredibly rare, with most treatment failures relating to a failure to abstain from sexual intercourse during treatment (Chow et al. 2020). As such,

while this pathogen is of clinical relevance in the study of STIs as a field, it is not relevant to this work's particular focus on the investigation of rapidly developing antimicrobial resistance in STIs.

The other commonly tested bacterial STI that is outside the scope of this thesis is also devoid of reported antimicrobial resistance but is described here for completeness. *Treponema pallidum* is a spirochaete bacterium that causes syphilis (including bejel and yaws). Syphilis is transmitted only amongst humans, primarily via sexual contact or vertically from pregnant mother to baby (Patel et al. 2018; Forrestel et al. 2020). *Treponema pallidum pallidum* causes syphilis, *T. p. endemicum* causes nonvenereal endemic syphilis or Bejel, which produces inflammation of the skin and mucosal tissues. *T. p. pertenue* is a tropical infection of the skin causing skin lesions, fatigue, and misshapen scars (Beale and Lukehart 2020). Although the three subspecies produce distinctly different symptoms, they are morphologically and serologically indistinguishable, requiring molecular techniques to determine the differences.

Syphilis is diagnosed predominantly when diagnosed opportunistically as a dual target in HIV screenings, or during antenatal screening, with the most common diagnostic methods utilising serology followed by the treponema-specific testing for Treponema pallidum haemagglutination assay (TPHA) and rapid plasma reagin (RPR) (Terzi et al. 2020). If necessary, a PCR test of primary syphilis ulcer swabs can be used to detect fingerprint amplification sites of the *Treponema pallidum pallidum* genome (Zhou et al. 2019). Penicillin is an effective first-line treatment for syphilis at all stages of the disease, with doxycycline and ceftriaxone equally effective as second line treatments in the event of patient allergies to penicillin (Ghanem et al. 2020). Azithromycin is the only clinically prescribed treatment of note that syphilis is observed to develop resistance to (Walker et al. 2019), and as such is not recommended as a treatment. As with *C. trachomatis*, syphilis is an STI of increasing importance to broader health policy, with a rise in infections amongst the Welsh population (PHW 2019), and as such should be surveyed both generally and for antimicrobial resistance as a precautionary measure. Nonetheless, due to the current lack of rapid antimicrobial resistance.

1.2.1 Neisseria gonorrhoeae

Neisseria gonorrhoea (or simply Gonorrhoea) is a component of the clinical aspects of this work due to its role as a highly resistant "superbug". Gonorrhoea is a sexually transmitted infection (STI) caused by the bacterium *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*, referred to interchangeably as gonococcus or GC (Unemo et al. 2019). The Neisseria genus is a group of gram-negative diplococci bacteria with the two species of most clinical significance (Neisseria meningitidis and N. gonorrhoea) causing bacterial meningitis and gonorrhoea respectively. As a species, N. gonorrhoeae is a non-sporulating obligate aerobe that infects predominantly mucosal tissues, producing symptoms of itching, pain, and discharge in the affected oral, anal, or urogenital areas (Lovett and Duncan 2019). This normally arises from the host immune response rather than any inherent component of GC, but the necessary adhesion to epithelial cell membranes has been linked to tissue damage in cases of long-term infection (Dillard and Seifert 2001; Yu et al. 2019). UKHSA report that gonorrhoea is significantly increasing in prominence as an STI, which is particularly worrying for a pathogen already considered a superbug by the WHO (2018). UKHSA have reported a significant rise in rates of Gonorrhoea of 50% from 2021-2022 (UKHSA 2022,2023), with commensurate rises in antimicrobial resistances (UKHSA 2022).

In men, inflammation of the penile urethra causes a narrowing and stiffening of the urethral lumen which in turn leads to symptoms of burning sensation and generalized pain. This inflammation can extend further along the male genital system and lead to epididymitis (Sivaraj et al. 2021). In women, GC causes inflammation in the uterus, cervix, vagina, rectum and pharynx that in turn leads to vaginal discharge, lower abdominal pain, and dyspareunia (Sweet and Walker 2011), with common complications of untreated GC being pelvic inflammatory disease and scarring of the fallopian tubes (Darville 2021), in turn leading to ectopic pregnancy. Another complication arising from GC is vertical transmission (unclear if this is transplacental or via contact with the birth canal), leading to premature birth and/or neonatal conjunctivitis (Vallely et al. 2021).

The pathogenesis of *N. gonorrhoeae* begins with the adherence of *N. gonorrhoeae* to the outer membrane of its host epithelial cells. *N. gonorrhoeae* achieves this using a diverse set of extracellular type-IV pili (Prister et al. 2019) and porin proteins (Deo et al. 2018) to interact with prominent structures on the host cell's surface. Once the initial pathogen cells have

adhered to the host epithelial cells, *N. gonorrhoeae* overcomes the local microbiota to form microcolonies and potentially microfilms, scavenging nutrients for this process from the cell surface and surrounding microbiota (Quillin and Seifert 2018). The exact composition of nutrients required in laboratory culture varies, but the lysed horse blood used in laboratory GC culture includes iron, glucose and phosphates (Thayer et al. 1965), equally required by *in vitro* pathogenic colonies. Other sources of nutrients include intracellular resources such as zinc as *N. gonorrhoeae* secretes the outer membrane protein *Tdfj* to bind to and deactivate S100A7 (Maurakis et al. 2019), preventing the host cell from sequestering zinc away from host pathogens.

A key aspect of the *N. gonorrhoeae* lifecycle is the evasion of the immune response while adhered to the host membrane. The secretion of oligosaccharides facilitates one such method of evasion by avoiding covalent attachment of C3b following complement activation (Quillin and Seifert 2018) an opsonin or something that facilitates engulfment by phagocytes. It also provides a barrier to the final stage of complement activation leading to pathogen cell lysis via formation of the membrane attack complex (Russell et al. 2019). However, there is evidence to suggest that GC can utilise phagocytes to aid in distribution of infectious bacteria. GC releases outer membrane vesicles such as oligosaccharide fragments and peptidoglycans that trigger toll-like receptors and recruits leukocytes and neutrophils to phagocytose GC (Quillin and Seifert 2018). To successfully use macrophages and neutrophils as a vector it has been observed to trigger actin-skeleton rearrangement, creating intracellular vesicles around the diplococci colonies that protect them both from the macrophage and detection by the wider immune system. This further benefits the pathogen by providing a vector for transmission between sexual partners via transmission of purulent exudate.

Another vital mechanism to the survival and propagation of GC is its ability to adapt its pathogenesis to evade and overcome both the host's immune system and antimicrobial treatments. GC has been shown to not only evade but actively suppress the host immune response through transforming growth factor- β (TGF β) cytokine production in BALB/c mouse vaginal cells (Liu et al. 2014), preventing the development of T helper 1 and T helper 2 cells that would facilitate a further immune response. Inversely, GC has been found to downregulate the expression of efflux pumps genes when colonizing cervical cells as compared to urethral cells (Ma et al. 2020), highlighting the need for complex regulatory

mechanisms to aid in balancing the benefits of antimicrobial resistance and the fitness costs of expending resources on additional (and potentially unnecessary) secondary cellular structures. Two GC strains of international concern (ST-7363 and ST-1901) has been observed to have rapidly become resistant to third generation cephalosporins through recombination with another *Neisseria* species bacteria, but also independently and simultaneously develop fluoroquinolone resistance through point mutations in topoisomerase genes. The varied mechanisms by which GC can adapt to a variety of selection pressures emphasizes the need for rapid and precise assays for the detection of these adaptations.

Diagnosis of GC can be undertaken by culture-based analysis, in clinic microscopy, or molecular based diagnostic platforms such as qPCR. Direct microscopy requires enough discharge and/or pus to be a viable diagnostic technique, supplemented with the use of Gramstaining, and as such has a weak positive-predictive value (measuring true positives) of approximately 67% (Hall et al. 2019). This type of diagnostic technique can be utilized in theory with any non-urine sample, but in practice is rarely used with cervical samples due to the potential for confusion with commensal bacterial flora and the typically asymptomatic nature of these infections (Meyer and Buder 2020). Detection of male urethral gonococcal infection is usually undertaken with first-catch urine samples (Meyer and Buder 2020), which refers to the first part of the urine stream passed. Culture-based analysis requires sufficient sampling of discharge to be undertaken effectively, normally using a combination of urogenital, anorectal, or pharyngeal swabs (Wilson et al. 2021). These swabs can then be used to inoculate GC-selective plates containing a balance of antibiotics in addition to the base of agar and lysed horse blood. These include antimicrobials for the inhibition of both Grampositive and -negative bacteria such as vancomycin and colistin, as well as amphotericin B as an anti-fungal measure and trimethoprim as an anti-Enterobacteriaceae (Thayer et al. 1965). Samples incubated on these plates for 24-48 hours at 37°C with supplemental CO₂ typically produce smooth, round, and shiny colonies. Overall, these series of techniques are further supplemented with tests to discern any antimicrobial resistance, increasing the accuracy of testing to 98.6% sensitivity and 91.4% specificity (Hall et al. 2019).

Modern techniques involve the use of NAATs such as qPCR to amplify fingerprint targets of the GC's genome, with antimicrobial resistance detection being built into a multi-target assay (Gaydos and Melendez 2020). The use of NAATs such as PCR analysis generally have a

sensitivity and specificity of 95% and >99% respectively (Meyer and Buder 2020). These values mean that only 5% of false negatives are generated, and only generated less than 1% of false negatives. These values are significantly more reliable and sensitive than the older culturebased methods, particularly for pharyngeal swabs, which would otherwise be difficult to analyse effectively (Cornelisse et al. 2017). In addition, more advanced NAATs can simultaneously identify antimicrobial resistance (AMR) mutations (specifically for ciprofloxacin) but these are not available in routine clinical practice. GC is increasingly considered a pathogen of interest by a variety of national and international health bodies due to both its commonality and its broad swathe of established and developing resistances. In England and Wales, the annual GRASP survey (UKHSA 2022) details increasing levels of antimicrobial resistance between 2017 and 2021. Tetracycline has long been considered an ineffective treatment option for GC, with resistance increasing from 48.5% to 75.2% over this period and ciprofloxacin resistance increasing from 36.4% to 46.9% across this same period. Of all the isolates tested 0% were resistant to ceftriaxone, the only antibiotic surveyed to have this result. However, the report does note that there was an increase in ceftriaxone-resistant GC isolates referred to UKHSA in its capacity as a reference laboratory. This increase from 0 to 9 resistant isolates from 2017 to 2021 is marginal in isolation but indicates the potential for ceftriaxone resistant isolates to become a significant proportion of future sample sizes. While not a member of the class *Mollicutes*, GC as a pathogen mirrors the *Mollicutes* STIs in many ways – GC is a fastidious bacterium that has adapted to scavenge nutrients from the host cell that would otherwise be synthesized by other bacteria, produces inflammatory symptoms that can mirror *M. genitalium* and *U. spp.*, and can develop antibiotic resistance rapidly. As such, it is included in many commercial multiplex assays that also detect M. genitalium and U. spp., although this is tempered by the lack of uniformity between accepted resistance thresholds (CLSI 2011) between commercial kits (Beeton and Spiller 2017) in turn ironically contributing to the development of antimicrobial resistance, due to the inappropriate administering of treatment. As such, more data and evidence are required to understand the impact of these and other drivers of resistance in Ureaplasma, and as such these bacteria were a component of my studies into the rates of antibiotic resistance in a clinical setting.

1.2.2 Mycoplasma genitalium

Mycoplasma genitalium (MG) is a pathogenic *Mollicutes* characterised by a highly reductive genome and microbial structure, most prominently lacking a cell wall (Fraser et al. 1995; Razin et al. 1998; van der Schalk et al. 2020). Most symptoms produced by MG are immunologically mediated, arising from the body's response to the initial extracellular colonisation of the outer cell structure (Razin et al. 1998; Citti et al. 2010; Taylor-Robinson and Jensen 2011). This manifests as urethritis in men, producing discharge and a burning sensation while urinating (Hamasuna et al. 2007; Hadad et al. 2011; Cox et al. 2016). Additionally, there is evidence to support the link between chronic non-gonococcal urethritis, epididymitis and proctitis caused by MG and infertility in men (Huang et al. 2016; Tjagur et al. 2018; Paira et al. 2021), with similar links between MG-mediated chronic pelvic inflammatory disease and infertility in women (Ma et al. 2021; Tantengco et al. 2021b).

A recent study into the epidemiology of MG and *Trichomonas vaginalis* (Perry et al. 2023) found that MG more prominent in male patients than female patients and was most prominently detected in male rectal samples. Furthermore, Perry and colleagues observed a trend of MG/HIV co-infection in these rectal samples, which agrees with earlier evidence of such a relationship (Khaw et al. 2018). A recent Welsh study (Spiller et al. 2020) found that the overall carriage of MG in sexual health patients presenting at STI clinics was low, with MG carriage slightly lower in female patients (2.7%) than male patients (3.5%). Interestingly, the study found no link between MG bacterial load and clinical symptoms, although an overall higher bacterial load was observed in male patients. An inference that can be drawn from these studies is that male patients are consistently more at risk of MG infection than female patients, and both identify points at which MSM patients were particularly at risk – Spiller and colleagues note that the only fluoroquinolone/macrolide dual-resistant isolate was identified in an MSM patient, and Perry et al. note the higher prevalence of MG/HIV co-infection risk in MSM patients.



Figure 1-1 – **The characteristic cellular structures of** *Mycoplasma genitalium*. The motility mechanism is made up of three distinct protein complexes, whereby force is generated at the bowl complex (a), transmitted through the paired plates (b) and modulated by the Nap adhesion complex (c). The structure of the motility mechanism pushes against the cell membrane, creating the characteristic "flask" shape of the cell. Image created in Microsoft Office PowerPoint 2016.

While these infection rates are relatively low when compared to established superbugs such as GC, the treatment of MG and other mycoplasma infections is complicated by the hesitance of clinicians to prescribe doxycycline-based treatments due to their chelating effects in infants and developing foetuses (Sánchez et al. 2004; Pöyhönen et al. 2017), although this consensus has shifted more recently (Gaillard et al. 2017; Kim et al. 2018; Ansari et al. 2021). Another factor is its simplistic cell structure and subsequently parasitic lifecycle, due to its inability to produce most vital respiratory molecules. MG will not grow without the presence of progesterone in most animal models and scavenges glucose from both its host cell and surrounding microflora (Taylor-Robinson and Jensen 2011), although notably not arginine or urea. This underpins the use of phenol red as the chemical mechanism for a colour-change indicator (red to yellow) in MG agar plate cultures, but also limit the metabolic pathways that can be targeted by clinical treatments.

A key identifying characteristic of MG is its cellular structure, a "flask shaped" structure with a prominent "bottle neck" protrusion. This bottleneck terminates in the Nap, a tip-like organelle structure that mediates much of MG's adhesive qualities. This Nap structure is composed of adhesin proteins such as MgPa and P110 (or MgpC) that mediate adherence to epithelial cells (Mader et al. 1991) along with the accessory proteins MG218 and MG317 (Yueyue et al. 2022). Another prominent component of infection is MG's mobility, which could be considered abnormal for such a reductive genome. While in principle, the idea of such a reductive bacterium retaining motility seems unusual, it is not unhear-of that a bacteria with such a small genome would make use of genetic pleiotropy (Rendueles and Velicer 2020). The source of MG's motility is interlinked with its adhesive qualities, as the adhesin proteins P140 and P110 have been shown to also have a dual role as cytoskeletal proteins (García-Morales et al. 2016) in tandem with the specialized motility proteins MG200 and MG386 (Pich et al. 2006), highlighting the genetic pleiotropy required of such a minimal genome. P140 (or MgPa and MgpB) and P110 (MgpC) are the major adhesins of MG (Yiwen et al. 2021) and as such are common targets for molecular testing due to their importance (Braam et al. 2018; Sweeney et al. 2020; van der Schalk et al. 2020). These adhesins interact with both the external host cell and each other to form a lipoprotein complex that anchors the bacterial cell to the host cell surface (Aparicio et al. 2018). GAPDH (Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase) is another protein speculated to moonlight as an adhesin and one that has been shown to bind MG to host cell mucin proteins (Alvarez et al. 2003), providing MG with a broad mechanism of adherence.

The highly variable mechanisms that mediate the adhesive quality of MG is one of the key aspects of its pathogenesis (Mader et al. 1991; Unemo et al. 2018), with a high degree of antigenic variation of the cell adhesin structure used to evade adaptive measures of the host immune system. The antigenic variation displayed by MG adhesion proteins is primarily mediated through the presence of homologous repeat regions in MgPa gene clusters (Hakim et al. 2021). These highly repetitive repeat regions can make up between 4% of the total MG genome (Iverson-Cabral et al. 2007; Wood et al. 2020) and have been observed both *in vitro* and *in vivo* to undergo wide-scale recombination in response to immunologically mediated selective pressures seen in clinical cases (Wood et al. 2020) that are absent in *in vitro* cultures. These variations have been reported to be mediated by the enzymatic machinery that regulates the overall DNA recombination process in MG (Hakim et al. 2021), likely an adaptation in light of the simplistic genome of MG. Genes implicated in this phenomenon include the *RuvA*/B family of DNA enzymes and the Uvr family of DNA-binding proteins (Burgos and Totten 2014), indicating the variation occurs as part of the routine DNA replication pathway of MG in turn conserved across eukaryotic cells.

While MG normally is observed to adhere to the membranes of host cell and historically was exclusively considered an extracellular bacterium, with the development of techniques such

as confocal laser scanning microscopy we have gained the ability to observe intracellular host cell invasion in low percentages of MG infection cases (Jensen et al. 1994). Along the mechanisms of motility and adhesin-mediated evasion of the immune system mentioned previously, cellular localization in host epithelial cells is another shield against immune clearance and the means by which a more permanent infection can be established (Mcgowin et al. 2009). While this phenomenon is thought to be rarer than extracellular host cell adhesion, it is thought to contribute to clinical cases of chronic and recurrent infection that do not clear with first-line antibiotics (Pinto-Sander and Soni 2019; Soni et al. 2019).

The immune response that causes symptoms in MG infections are mediated through the detection of pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), small molecular motifs that can be discerned by the immune system to belong to an infection. In the case of MG, toll-like receptors 1, 2, and 6 are the main mediators of the subsequent secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines (Dehon and Mcgowin 2017). Because of the shared serological effects of antigens shared between MG and *M. pneumoniae*, it has been theorized that patients with previous *M. pneumoniae* respiratory infections may be susceptible to more severe MG symptoms (Hakim et al. 2021; Vizarraga et al. 2021), but in practice this has not been observed in animal models and is rarely recorded in medical cases. Nonetheless, the antigenic variation of surface proteins coupled with the variation in host immune system has been demonstrated in animal models (Wood et al. 2013) to be a contributing factor to abnormally heavy or light symptoms in MG infections.



Colony Surface – Fried Egg Structure

Figure 1-2 - The colony structure of *Mycoplasma genitalium* **cultured in agar.** Visible growth (under microscope) can be achieved in approximately a week but can often take 2-4 weeks depending on the viability of the bacterium.

When agar media has been inoculated with MG, it colonises the surrounding area via binary fission and forms characteristic "fried-egg" colonies of bottle-shaped cells in agar culture when observed both by eye and using a microscope (Taylor-Robinson and Jensen 2011). The formation of these colony structures in agar is due to the aggregation of nutrients within the agar medium, prompting more accelerated growth in the colony section more able to access the agar. As these cells are pushed out from growth occurring within the colony, bacterium die off and become sparser in concentration, creating the visible gradient of cells observed. This colony structure is notably only observed in oxygenic agar culture, as culturing MG on agar in the presence of 5% CO₂ will cause the colony to burrow deeper into the agar, creating

a clear spherical colony structure that lacks the density gradient observed in grown aerobically (Tully et al. 1983).

In addition to agar-based culture, there are well-established techniques for the cultivation of MG in cell-line cultures, typically Vero cell-lines (Taylor-Robinson and Jensen 2011). While this technique is well-established and has been optimised for working directly with first-void urine (Hamasuna et al. 2007), the culture times are, the given culture times are prohibitively long for usage in diagnostics – two weeks for the initial cultivation of MG inoculated on Vero cells, and additional time for pre- and post-inoculation processing. As such, cell-culture based methods would not be useful in a clinical context and indeed are superseded by agar-based and broth-based methods.

There are also established techniques for the culturing of MG in broth media, broadly in line with the original protocols devised by Tully and colleagues during the initial species identification of MG (Tully et al. 1983). While a variety of commercial broth media exist, the standard media initially outlined by Tully and colleagues is SP-4 media, utilizing pH-based colour change indicators such as cresol red or phenol red to produce colour-change in the growth media in the presence of MG metabolites excreted during growth (Waites et al. 2023). Both indicators shift from a dark red to a bright yellow as the waste products of MG glycolysis cause the broth media to become more acidic, providing a simple method for visually detecting the growth of a viable culture of MG.

One downside of this method of detection is that the pH range of these indicators is much broader than the optimal pH range of MG broth culture. In line with its fastidious culture requirements the broth culture of MG is ideally made up to a pH of 6.95 +/- 0.01, while the colour change of both phenol red and cresol red is much broader. Colour indicators reliant on pH can often be deceiving to the untrained eye and suggest high levels of growth, when in fact the pH of the broth has often shifted to the point of cytotoxicity, rendering it unviable for further investigation. Nonetheless, if the culture is not needed for further investigation and only a simple diagnosis by culture is required, broth media is usually preferrable to agar culture media due to the sharply reduced cultivation time.

Even though culture techniques are available for the cultivation of MG, they function on a timescale unviable for clinical diagnosis. In optimal conditions and with specialist knowledge,

MG strains have been long established to have a culture time of about a week (Tully et al. 1983). However, when conducted in a clinical diagnostic laboratory setting, most healthcare providers list up to a fortnight for a conclusive diagnosis. In this context, the only method that can be utilized expediently is the use of molecular methods, but while there are a variety of commercially available assays that have been individually validated for laboratory use, there is no common standard for MG NAATs. As such, diagnostic variance can and does exist between clinics and national surveillance systems, notwithstanding the overall high accuracy of NAATs as a diagnostic tool.

MG has in recent years has been further scrutinized due to its wide-ranging antimicrobial resistance qualities as a "superbug" (Unemo and Jensen 2017; Machalek et al. 2019; Sweeney et al. 2020), and its established links with a variety of adverse outcomes (Pinto-Sander and Soni 2019; Gnanadurai and Fifer 2020), while the antimicrobial resistance encompasses both inherent conserved and variable induced resistance to main-line treatments (Bradshaw et al. 2017; Unemo and Jensen 2017; Braam et al. 2018; van der Schalk et al. 2020). The status of MG as a superbug has been precipitated by inconsistent prescription of antibiotics leading to rapid development of AMR (Soni et al. 2019), in turn due to a lack of rigorous testing parameters that lead to incomplete treatment and resulting outcomes (Birger et al. 2017), and coupled with a lack of information on many aspects of its resistance mechanisms and wider genomic structures. Due to the pressing need to fill significant gaps in our understanding of MG, it was chosen to be explored further in this thesis.

1.2.3 Mycoplasma hominis

Mycoplasma hominis (MH) is a species of bacteria of the *Mollicutes* class, inclusive in the colloquial term "genital mycoplasmas", but this also includes the *Ureaplasma* genus of bacteria. While normally a harmless commensal genitourinary colonizer, this organism can produce bacterial vaginosis, pelvic inflammatory disease and urethritis in patients (Woodhall et al. 2018; Vodstrcil et al. 2021), while also being linked to infertility (Boujemaa et al. 2018; Ma et al. 2021).

It is difficult to ascertain the epidemiology of M. hominis as an STI, due to the reticence of clinicians in Europe to test for its presence (Horner et al. 2018). Nonetheless, there are some studies conducted in different countries which can be used to infer the dynamics of MH infections in sexual health patients. A meta-analysis by Moridi et al. (2020) found that in Iran, women presenting with genitourinary tract infections were more likely to carry *M. hominis* than male patients with genitourinary tract infections, and was more likely to be detected in infertile patients than fertile patients. Shao et al. (2021) found in Shenyang, China that both *M. hominis* infections and *M. hominis* co-infections with *U. urealyticum* were significantly more prevalent in female patients and highest amongst the 20-24 and 25-29 age cohorts, which the study attributes to sexual activity. While it is difficult to draw concrete conclusions from studies conducted on patients subjected to different treatment regimens and clinical systems, these findings do emphasize the role of *M. hominis* as a causal agent of urogenital diseases.

When looking at other pathophysiology, *M. hominis* can cause the induction of pre-term birth (Ansari et al. 2021) in pregnant women and cause severe respiratory dysfunction (Waites et al. 2009) or meningitis (Gwon et al. 2020) in newborn children if MH is transmitted via normal vaginal birth. MH is well-established to have links with infertility in both sexes (Skiljevic et al. 2016; Boujemaa et al. 2018; Ma et al. 2021; Paira et al. 2021), as well as forming ascending infections in pregnant women that can lead to chorioamnionitis, spontaneous abortion and preterm labour. Furthermore, infants born with MH infections frequently develop respiratory inflammation, requiring ventilation and a regime of antibiotics to regain lung function. This disease is further complicated by the nature of its biological structure, and how it limits what drugs can be used to treat it. While broadly considered a commensal bacterium in healthy adult patients, the established association of MH with failure in organ transplant patients

(Spiller 2017; Givone et al. 2020), hyperammonaemia and pre-term birth mean (Waites et al. 2009; Meygret et al. 2019) that it is still important to develop fast and effective methods of treatment for the disease in at-risk patients.

While much of MH's resilience is via the loss-of-function mutations that eliminate vectors of treatment, the genome of MH has been refined by selective pressures to also contain a variety of virulence factors that aid it in its pathogenicity. The variable adherence associated (Vaa) antigen is a key adhesin structure of MH (Morris 2019; Chalker et al. 2021), as well as a primary target of phylogenetic analyses of MH (Boujemaa et al. 2018; Roachford et al. 2019; Durrant et al. 2020; Yiwen et al. 2021). The Vaa gene mediates the synthesis of an approximately 49kDa multiple-banded membrane lipoprotein, with the exact size and molecular composition demonstrating high levels of allelic variability. This variability is in turn shown be mediated by genomic variation of homologous "cassette" modules of genomic regions (Brown et al. 2014), such that there are large differences between certain strains but these have not been defined as different serotypes to date. These homologous arrangements of these cassettes can be used to fingerprint strains and aid in outbreak tracing (Boujemaa et al. 2018). Equally, phase variation can occur in a poly-A region at the start of the conserved sequence that causes a frame shift and truncating that can "turn off" the major surface antigen (Brown et al. 2014). Boujemaa et al. 2018 created a multi-locus sequence typing (MLST) scheme using house-keeping genes (gyrB, tuf, fts(Y), uvr(A), gap) combined with putative virulence genes (p120', vaa, Imp1, Imp3, p60), which they refer to as multi-virulencelocus sequence typing (MVLST) loci. Whereas, Jironkin et al., (2016) generated three proposed 7-locus MLST schemas for *M. hominis* based on pan-genome gene frequencies.

MH utilizes a variety of surface proteins to evade the host immune system, adapting their expression and specificity using regulated mechanisms of controlled variation, namely antigenic variation of genes. Antigenic variation in the context relates to the modulation of repeat regions of DNA in genes such as the *vaa* gene and other surface protein lipoproteins, The ability to type MH strains using genomic fingerprinting is hampered somewhat not only by the variable nature of virulence genes such as the *vaa* gene, but also by MH's ability to undergo horizontal gene transfer, integrating entire gene clusters of functional genes such as resistance genes (Dordet-Frisoni et al. 2019; Meygret et al. 2019; Berglund et al. 2020), from other strains or even species of bacterium. This variation is not only a persistent hinderance

to phenotyping, but also a means of genomic variation that allows MH to overcome immune responses in a relatively short amount of time.

Due to its minimal gene structure, MH cannot generate energy via the usual pathways such as oxidative phosphorylation or the Krebs cycle. Instead, MH utilizes a biological pathway known as the arginine-dihydrolase or arginine deamination pathway. This pathway combines arginine with N-dimethyl-arginine to form citrulline, catalysed via arginine deiminase and Ndimethylarginine dimethyl-aminohydrolase. Citrulline is then converted to carbamoylphosphate and ornithine by ornithine carbamoyl transferase. Finally, ATP can then be generated via carbamate kinase on carbamoyl phosphate. Mediated by an integrated membrane protein called an arginine-ornithine antiporter (*arc*(D)), this metabolic process requires no ATP for arginine acquisition, making it an efficient alternative to more common metabolic pathways. When culturing MH in broth medium this pathway is also the means of qualitatively assessing growth, as the resultant basic pH change in the growth medium can be tracked by a colour-change pH indicator, usually phenol red.

Broth culture is the most common method of culturing MH, as the techniques and necessary reagents have well-established international standards (Waites et al. 2012), and unlike agarbased culture techniques these reagents can be acquired commercially. SP4 media is the most



Figure 1-3 – *Mycoplasma hominis* colonies observed visually with optical microscopy. The cell circled in red denote the progression of the *M. hominis* colony from a small colony of uniform density (A) to a partial colony structure (B) and the characteristic "egg-fried" colony structure (C) observed in mature colonies. Image taken by author at 100x magnification on selective agar (Mycoplasma Experience Ltd.) with *M. hominis*. strain DF145.

commonly cited media used, but other alternatives such as laboratory-prepared modified Hay-flick's mycoplasma broth (MHMB) (Razin and Hayflick 2010) and Mycoplasma Liquid

Medium[®] (Mycoplasma Experience[®] Ltd, Reigate, UK) are available for use. In anoxygenic conditions growth will occur within 24 hours, typically turning the broth from yellow/orange to a deep red, providing an easy method of detection. However, as with broth culture methods for MG, this colour change occurs in the presence of toxic metabolites that can kill the MH present in the culture and prevent further cultures or other investigations.

In comparison, while agar-based culture techniques are not usually used for diagnostic purposes due to the slow growth of Mycoplasma agar cultures, they offer a means to examine cellular morphology that broth culture lacks. The formulation of agar culture usually starts with the addition of arginine (an obligate metabolite) (Schimke et al. 1966) and is usually followed by the addition of selective antimicrobials such as penicillin, vancomycin and amphotericin B (Parija 2023) to control for fungal and bacterial contaminants that might inhibit MH growth. Additionally, a few commercially available formulations are available. These reagents are typically in the form of agar supplements (Merck, Dorset, UK; Oxoid, Basingstoke, UK) but can also supplied as pre-prepared agar plates (Mycoplasma Experience® Ltd, Reigate, UK). If successfully cultured, MH will form small clear spherical colonies within 3-5 days after inoculation (Cardot Martin et al. 2021), with varying density across the sphere that creates the classic "fried-egg" appearance. These colonies mirror MG's colony morphology, with the two distinguishing features being that MH is significantly quicker to culture overall, and the agar colonies of MH are larger and more easily identified visually. Nonetheless, MH's similar colony structure to MG means that without specific training, there could be a misidentification. This notably could result in incorrect treatment, due to MH's inherent resistance to azithromycin (Pereyre et al. 2002) and the frequency with which doxycycline is contraindicated in many categories of patients. Due to this and the time taken for culturing MH on agar, the preferred diagnostic assay is real time or quantitative PCR.

M. hominis is long-established to be resistant to erythromycin and as a microbe requires a variety of specialist techniques and resources to facilitate viable *in vitro* growth (Waites et al. 2012), it relatively difficult to culture *in vitro* (Spiller 2017) and thus detect (CLSI 2011), increasing the chance the disease is treated empirically and thus without full knowledge of any antimicrobial resistances. Detection options are limited in practice to the use of NAATs

18

(Pereyre et al. 2009; Grosjean et al. 2014; Citti et al. 2018) such as qPCR (Férandon et al. 2011; Jironkin et al. 2016; Givone et al. 2020), but as mutations conferring quinolone resistances can arise from a single point mutation (Pereyre et al. 2002; Meygret et al. 2018; Yang et al. 2020b), resistance can occur spontaneously in isolates regardless of lineage and therefore genomic analysis of resistant isolates for novel genomic variation is the most reliable way of identifying these resistant strains.

MH is not screened for in sexual health by the NHS, and so the information required to determine optimal antimicrobial treatments must be derived from research on MH and MG (as the most relevant similar pathogen) along with the established CLSI/US guidelines on its detection (CLSI 2011). Considering this, treatment should normally be a first course of doxycycline, unless contraindicated in which case clindamycin or levofloxacin should be considered. Due to the risk of resistance, any treatment regime should be paired with a concurrent test for antibiotic resistance to avoid contributing to the well-documented rise in antibiotic resistance in MH (Rideau et al. 2019; Yang et al. 2020b). Analysis methodology is not consistent or well-regulated in many ways, as MH is not currently recognised as a pathogen by European clinical organisations (Horner et al. 2018), and therefore detailed information on the treatment of MH is not fully available. This reluctance to engage in regular MH screening is commonly cited as being due to lack of evidence of MH as a pathogenic STI, as well as a reluctance to potentially contribute to increasing levels of AMR in the wider microflora. This statement is tempered with an acknowledgement of a lack of relevant evidence for regular testing rather than a consensus of evidence against such a course, based on a perceived lack of studies using accurate molecular testing and issues around controlling for co-infections that acts as confounding variables.

While not routinely screened for by clinicians, there is a growing body of evidence to support the pathogenicity of MH in humans. Case reports have established the role of MH in neonatal lung infections (Che et al. 2022), neonatal meningitis (Gwon et al. 2020; Nohren et al. 2020; Ansari et al. 2021; Yeung et al. 2021; Che et al. 2022) and a variety of serious illnesses developed by immunocompromised patients which mainly concerns transplant patients (Smibert et al. 2017; Spiller 2017; Gerber et al. 2018; Nowbakht et al. 2019; Vecchio et al. 2021) but also other illnesses such as hyperammonaemia syndrome (Nowbakht et al. 2019). There is also broad acknowledgement of MH's co-relation with bacterial vaginosis as a contributory pathogen (Dessì et al. 2019), and both broad evidence (Waites et al. 2009) as well as direct case studies (Givone et al. 2020; Ansari et al. 2021; Che et al. 2022) demonstrating its pathogenicity in neonates. Dessì et al. (2019) reviews the mechanisms of symbiosis between MH and *Trichomonas vaginalis*, noting the relative rarity of symbiosis between two obligate human pathogens. They describe previous research conducted by the group (Fiori et al. 2013) linking the severity of *T. vaginalis* symptoms to the upregulation of proinflammatory cytokines such as II-1 β by an MH infection (Sabo et al. 2020). The symbiosis between these two bacteria is also posited to exacerbate symptoms of vaginal dysbiosis, with *M. hominis* aiding in the adhesion (Hinderfeld and Simoes-Barbosa 2020) of *T. vaginalis* to host cells and subsequent formation of biofilms.

Proinflammatory cytokines not only aid in the colonization of host cells by *T. vaginalis*, but may contribute as a risk factor for progression of virally-associated cervical cancers such as HPV and HIV (Klein et al. 2020). This is caused by structural and genomic changes in host cells that lead to the development of cancers, well-established to be induced by chronic inflammation (Archer et al. 2020). Nonetheless, the exact mechanisms by which MH-mediated inflammation damages host cells and induces oncogenesis have been speculated in reviews (Garbas et al. 2021; Tantengco et al. 2021b) as relying on statistical association and longstanding precedent rather than a substantiated mechanism. As such, more direct evidence is required before a definite link can be established, but the overall ability of *M. hominis* to cause chronic inflammation and the link between that and diseases such as prostate cancers (Archer et al. 2020) suggests that *M. hominis* can affect long-term damage on patients if not treated promptly and effectively. A consistent topic across many of these reviews and studies is the simultaneous consistency of association between *M. hominis* and lack of concrete evidence, which this thesis hopes to provide.

1.2.4 Ureaplasma spp.

Ureaplasma as a clade (referred to as *Ureaplasma spp.* in this work) are a subgroup of *Mollicutes*, exhibiting many features shared with Mycoplasmas, with some key characteristics particular to the genus. Like all *Mollicutes*, ureaplasma exhibit a refined and simplified genomic structure and as such exhibit a parasitic lifestyle, using host nutrients and resources in place of the cellular machinery required to produce these components. The main distinctive property of ureaplasma is the ability to metabolise urea via intracellular urease to produce ATP, hence their genus designation (Thirkell et al. 1989; Biernat-Sudolska et al. 2017). *Ureaplasma spp.* STIs are composed of two different species, *Ureaplasma parvum* (UP) and *Ureaplasma urealyticum* (UU), but as these species share over 95% genetic identity between their very compact genomes it is common for the two species to be referred to interchangeably as *Ureaplasma spp.* Nonetheless, there are distinct conserved genetic variations which demarcate the two species, with multi-locus sequence typing (MLSTs) relying on well-established loci such as the multiple banded antigen (MBA) (Teng et al. 1994; Knox et al. 1998; Glass et al. 2000) and a variety of virulence genes.

Between the two species, UP and UU variants are comprised of 14 serovar variants shared between two species. UP includes "serovars" 1, 3, 6 and 14 and UU comprises the remaining 10 serovars (Zheng et al. 1995; Paralanov et al. 2012; Sweeney et al. 2017b), with suspicion that some serovars have a greater capacity for pathogenicity, although this is not fully understood. Attempts to try and correlate putative MLSTs with serovar categories has been inconclusive and many times this is caused by frequent horizontal gene transfer (Xiao et al. 2011; Silva et al. 2019). Although occasionally compartmentalised dual infection by two different serovars within twin neonate hosts without shared genomic determinants (Beeton et al. 2016b), suggesting horizontal gene transfer is sporadic and not necessarily commonplace.

As ureaplasma usually exist as a commensal, it is usually constrained to adhesion and replication on the epithelial layer of the urogenital tract, where for most of the population ureaplasma are harmless components of the microbiome (Garcia-Castillo et al. 2008; Pandelidis et al. 2013; Rowlands et al. 2021). However, ureaplasma can induce immune responses in hosts that present as a variety of symptoms and diseases. In men, pathogenic UU infections produce symptoms of urethritis and/or prostatitis (Beeton et al. 2019), while in

21

women UP infection can manifest as bacterial vaginosis and endometritis (Beeton and Spiller 2017; Sweeney et al. 2017a) as well as a contributor to infertility (Beeton et al. 2019). More serious symptoms are produced by ascending infections of *Ureaplasma spp*. in pregnant mothers, leading to premature birth and stillborn births (Biernat-Sudolska et al. 2017), as well as neonatal pneumonia and meningitis in neonates (Waites et al. 2009; Beeton and Spiller 2017). In addition, immunocompromised patients such as neonates and transplant patients can develop life-threatening symptoms from dangerously high serum ammonia levels (Matson and Sonetti 2019; Smith et al. 2019), which can lead to delirium, swelling on the brain and eventually death.

While the adhesin complement of U. spp. has not been fully characterized, surface proteins known as multiple banded antigens (MBAs) have been identified as one key component of virulence (Aboklaish et al. 2016; Sweeney et al. 2017b) and are used in many serological testing assays. Immunoglobulin protease A (IgA) has been speculated as another component of U. spp. virulence, as has the ammonia by-product of urea hydrolysis components of U. spp. cell surface structures (Biernat-Sudolska et al. 2017; Silva et al. 2019). Phospholipases were also speculated to act as virulence factors but following investigation (Paralanov et al. 2012) were determined not to be a significant component in virulence. These factors seem to only contribute to the immune-based response that forms the basis of *U. spp.* symptoms, as well as the more severe pathogenicity demonstrated in immunocompromised patients such as neonates and transplant patients. This is further complicated due to the structural refinement of Ureaplasma physiology rendering most antibiotics ineffective. Due to the lack of cell wall structures and its parasitic metabolism as mentioned in previously discussed Mollicutes, treatment for U. spp. is constrained in practice to doxycycline as a first-line treatment with azithromycin as a second-line treatment, but the use of azithromycin is only advised if the infection is determined to not be azithromycin-resistant (Horner et al. 2016).

In addition, there is a debate as to the relevancy of *U*. spp. as a pathogen in the treatment of sexual health, with BASHH guidelines determining that approximately 25% of urethritis are linked to a positive *Ureaplasma* diagnosis (Horner et al. 2016) but as *U*. spp. is a common commensal bacterium in the urogenital tract, it has been posited that it cannot be determined to have a causal link to symptoms of urethritis and/or PID unless a significantly high load is detected (Horner et al. 2018). This is further complicated by the lack of feasible diagnostics

22
available to a clinical setting (Sprong et al. 2020), mainly due to the difficulties in culturing such a fastidious bacterium (Waites et al. 2012). While much improved in recent years, a lack of species specificity is cited as one of the main reasons that routine testing is not recommended in asymptomatic patients as a clinical measure (Horner et al. 2016; Horner et al. 2018), along with a lack of evidence describing the causal link between *U. spp.* and diseases such as urethritis.

Because of the reticence of European clinicians to screen and treat Ureaplasma infections (Horner et al. 2018), studies into the epidemiology of Ureaplasma infections in directly applicable geographies are limited. A study by Lesiak-Markowicz et al. (2022) found significantly higher levels of U. parvum (5.4%) in asymptomatic male patients than U. urealyticum (2.4%), while in a Brazillian study (Carneiro et al. 2020) found that amongst female patients undergoing routine screening via cervical pap smears, 14.9% of patients tested positive for U. parvum and 4.2% of patients tested positive for U. urealyticum. In both cases while there were no overt symptoms present in either cohort, both Ureaplasma infections were associated with cytological abnormalities suggestive of potential cervicitis, emphasizing the need for routine surveillance in asymptomatic patients. The study by (Shao et al. 2021) previously discussed also surveyed Ureaplasma urealyticum infections in Shenyang, China and found significantly higher levels of positive infections in female patients, and a Moroccan study conducted by Karim et al. (2020) found that out of 1053 women with symptoms associated with Ureaplasma infections (leucorrhoea, pelvic pain/dyspareunia, pruritus, menorrhagia, metrorrhagia, or dysuria), 25.4% were positive for either U. urealyticum (12.1%), U. parvum (7%), or a Ureaplasma co-infection (6.3%). Karim and colleagues identify age as a risk factor, with patients below the age of 30 at particular risk of symptomatic Ureaplasma infection due to increased sexual activity, in agreement with Shao et al. (2021) and their analysis of *M. hominis* risk factors.

Recommendations against routine surveillance by the European STI Guidelines Editorial Board are tempered by the acceptance of UP infections being correlated with non-gonococcal urethritis when present in sufficiently high bacterial loads, albeit at levels that have not been sufficiently calibrated for clinical use (Strauss et al. 2018). As with many other *Mollicutes* bacteria, *Ureaplasma* infections are a known risk in transplant procedures (Gerber et al. 2018; Matson and Sonetti 2019; Nowbakht et al. 2019) and their links to fertility are well-established

23

and well-studied (Knox et al. 2003; Mihai et al. 2011; Huang et al. 2016; Beeton et al. 2019; Paira et al. 2021). Furthermore, higher-than-normal *Ureaplasma* bacterial loads have been correlated with HPV infections (Amorim et al. 2017; Ye et al. 2018) and have been observed to increase the clearance time of HPV infections (Kim et al. 2019), which in turn is an established cause of cervical cancers in female patients. While many bacteria are labelled as pathobionts based on weak correlations that have not corrected for confounding variables (Jochum and Stecher 2020), this is not the case with *Ureaplasma parvum* or *Ureaplasma urealyticum*. While treating it as a first-call pathogen would sometimes be incorrect due to its presence as a commensal in many patients, there is a large body of evidence linking it to chronic or recurrent urogenital conditions, especially those investigations that have already excluded traditional pathogens such as GC or MG that may share similarities in symptoms or lifecycles. This work therefore seeks to explore the pathogenicity and incidence of *Ureaplasma spp.* in symptomatic patients as well as its ability to adapt to microbial treatments.

1.3 Antimicrobial Treatments

MG, MH and *U. spp.* exhibit highly refined structures that lacks many of the structures targeted by antimicrobials (Beeton and Spiller 2017). The lack of a cell wall precludes the use of drugs such as beta-lactams and glycopeptides (Beeton and Spiller 2017; Bradshaw et al. 2017; van der Schalk et al. 2020; Yang et al. 2020b), an absence of folic acid enzymes likewise precludes sulphonamides and trimethoprim (Spiller 2017) and MH is well established to be naturally resistant to erythromycin (Pereyre et al. 2002).

Novel variants of pre-existing treatments are available that work to overcome these structural immunities, but progress is slower than resistance development and treatments are often restricted to last-line usage due to fears of resistance development - of note, only two antibiotic treatments approved since 2017 have novel mechanisms of action (Shrestha et al. 2022), assessed by Shrestha and colleagues to be due to the financial risk of developing antibiotics likely to be outdated soon after a costly and time-consuming rollout. Of the two treatments they identified, Lefamulin is already an established veterinary treatment for respiratory mycoplasma infections but has only been regulated for clinical usage in recent years (File et al. 2021; Spiller-Boulter et al. 2021), while meropenem is ineffective against mycoplasmas due to the lack of a cell wall. In addition to production bottlenecks, there are a cohort of treatments that while technically effective, are unviable, restricted, or otherwise unutilized in a clinical setting. The established antibiotic Pristinamycin is reserved only for multi-resistant MG infections due to fears of resistance development (Read et al. 2018), which has been observed in some clinical cases (Durukan et al. 2020; Palich et al. 2021). Spectinomycin is another antibiotic that is noted to be effective at treating multi-resistant strains of *M. genitalium* (Falk and Jensen 2016), but requires daily intramuscular injections and is unviable as mono-treatment due to recurrent issue with resistance development (Yang and Ke 2020). Similarly, Daptomycin has been noted as an effective anti-mycoplasma treatment in cell cultures (Strieker and Marahiel 2009), but its full efficacy as a clinical treatment is not well-established and current NICE guidelines proscribe a relatively significant monitoring regime that restricts its practical usage.

Looking at more theoretical sources of treatment, Melittin is an antimicrobial peptide derived from bee sting venom that has observed antimicrobial activity against mycoplasmas (Ko et al.

2020), but not at sub-lethal levels that would be safe for clinical use (Askari et al. 2021) – current efforts are being made to reduce its cytotoxicity without impacting its antimicrobial efficacy.

With alternative sources of treatment either impractical, flawed or still currently being developed, the current treatments available for the treatment of pathogenic *Mollicutes* infections are sharply limited. This small group of drugs mainly target the protein synthesis and genomic regulation of pathogens, and can be narrowed down to fluoroquinolones, lincosamides/macrolides and tetracyclines (Wang et al. 2016) (Figure 4). This limited collection of antimicrobials have been the focus of works attempting to analyse the broader landscape of pathogenic *Mollicutes* treatment (Viscardi 2014; Chernov et al. 2018; Roachford et al. 2019; Ahmadi 2021), as well as the focus of concern regarding the development of antimicrobial resistance (Unemo et al. 2019; WHO 2019; Derbie et al. 2020; Truong et al. 2022). As such, these forms of treatment have also formed part of the focus of this thesis, along with the clinical applications of their usage and the impact of resistance development against these treatments in a clinical setting.

Table 1-1 - Clinically relevant antibiotics and their effectiveness against urogenital mycoplasmas. Columns in red are ineffective treatments for Mycoplasma infections due to inherent immunity, while antibiotics listed in orange are potentially viable treatments but could be ineffective for a particular medical case due to the presence and/or emergence of antimicrobial resistance.

Potential Antibiotics for Treatment of Mycoplasmas							
Inhibition of Cell Wall Synthesis		Inhibition of Nucleic Acid Synthesis			Inhibition of Protein Synthesis		
Beta-Lactams	Polypeptides	Antifolates	RNA Synthesis Inhibitors	Quinolones	30S Inhibitors	50S Inhibitors	
Penicillin Carbapenems Cephalosporins Beta- Lactamases	Glycopeptides Lipopeptides Polymyxins	Sulphonamides Trimethoprim	Rifampicin	Fluoroquinolones	Aminoglycosides Tetracyclines	Amphenicols Pleuromutilin Macrolides Ketolides Lincosamides Streptogramins	

1.3.1 Quinolones

Quinolones are a class of broad-spectrum antibiotics (Pham et al. 2019) typically administered as a second-line treatment when risk-factors or multi-drug resistance contraindicate the usage of first-line treatments such as penicillin, macrolides or tetracyclines (Sánchez et al. 2004; Vázquez-Laslop and Mankin 2018b). Fluoroquinolones, a subset of quinolone antibiotics, are marked by their bicyclic core structures with an integrated 4-quinolone molecule (Pham et al. 2019).

Fluoroquinolones such as ciprofloxacin, levofloxacin, moxifloxacin, and ofloxacin are by far one of the most common types of antimicrobial treatment used in contemporary clinical treatment, with one of the key benefits of fluoroquinolones as a treatment being that they can be quickly absorbed by bone tissue without chelating it as tetracyclines do, providing a safer treatment for patients suffering osteomyelitis (Ezelarab et al. 2018). Another benefit is their broad effectiveness across both Gram-positive and Gram-negative pathogens, allowing them to function as a second-line treatment for a variety of infections that do not respond to first-line STI treatments such as doxycycline (Ezelarab et al. 2018) such as tetracycline resistant MG (Braam et al. 2018; van der Schalk et al. 2020). The usefulness of fluoroquinolones is tempered by the severe set of side-effects that can contraindicate their usage. Fluoroquinolones most notably can induce tendon pain and rupture (Godoy-Santos et al. 2018; Jupiter et al. 2018; Morales et al. 2019), along with arrythmia in extreme cases (Vivithanaporn et al. 2021), emphasizing the need to temper their prescription with appropriate monitoring of antibiotic resistance, to minimize the risk exposure to such harsh side-effects.

Fluoroquinolones target the type II topoisomerase genes of the bacterial cell, DNA gyrase and topoisomerase IV, genes vital to the proper function of cellular homeostasis. The two type II topoisomerases are heterotetrametric enzymes: DNA gyrase is composed of two *gyrA* and two *gyrB* subunits while topoisomerase IV is composed of two *par*C and two *par*E subunits, all approximately 70-97kDa in size. The *gyrA/par*C subunits form the active unit of the protein complex that mediates enzymatic activity, while the *gyrB/par*E subunits mediate ATPase-based reactions to produce energy for the protein complex.

DNA gyrase regulates DNA supercoiling, a necessary mechanism of prokaryotic regulation that ensures DNA is efficiently packaged in a cell. When not being replicated or transcribed, DNA is coiled in the direction of the double helix and then against the direction of the helix, producing the super-condensed supercoil or "negative supercoil". When DNA replication is initiated, DNA gyrase binds to the replication fork produced during DNA replication and unwinds the dual helix by introducing negative superhelices that twist ahead of the replication fork, allowing the binding of DNA polymerases and preventing supercoiling from damaging the DNA structure. Topoisomerase IV acts during cell division to disentangle DNA after semi-conservative replication, cutting and repairing interlinked loops so that they can be segregated into daughter cells, a process called decatenation. Together, these topoisomerases mediate the segregation and condensation of chromosomal pairs, as well as altering the super-helicity of DNA (Berger et al. 1996), aiding the regulation of DNA repair and division. The type II topoisomerase genes are highly conserved genes observed across the bacterial kingdom (Talbert et al. 2019) and share a variety of similar homologs across the other biological kingdoms (Duprey and Groisman 2021). As such, they are a core part of even a simplistic genome and thus function as one of the few avenues of antibiotic treatment for mollicute-based pathogens. Within the genomes of the bacteria described in this work, they are comprised of the DNA gyrase genes gyrA, gyrB, and the topoisomerase IV genes parC and parE)

Fluoroquinolones function as a bactericidal treatment by disrupting the DNA replication of pathogens. This is achieved via the fluoroquinolone molecule binding non-competitively to type II topoisomerases as detailed in Figure 1 5, disrupting DNA ligation, and thus preventing ligation occurring in tandem with cell nucleases (Gutierrez et al. 2018). This leads to both single-stranded and double-stranded breaks in the bacterial DNA during the DNA replication process that in turn leads to cell death (Hall et al. 2019). In addition, fluoroquinolones have been identified as having a disrupting effect on the function of topoisomerase IV of segregating chromosomes during cell division, further contributing to its bactericidal properties (Gutierrez et al. 2018).



Figure 1-4 – **Tertiary complex of type II topoisomerases, DNA, and quinolones.** Quinolones disrupt the active sites of the gyr(A) and par(C) complexes, preventing the enzyme from cutting and releasing DNA after binding, causing double-stranded DNA and apoptosis. Primase, Polymerase and PriA make up the DNA Replication complex that is assisted by type II topoisomerases and is subsequently disrupted by quinolones. Adapted from Hooper (2002).

While less selective for equivalent human enzymes, interactions between fluoroquinolones and human genomic machinery is thought to be the most likely source of the severe sideeffects that can arise from administering these drugs, with photosensitivity (Kim et al. 2018; Loupa et al. 2020) and damage to connective tissues (Godoy-Santos et al. 2018; Jupiter et al. 2018; Morales et al. 2019) being the most prominent side-effects. Such is the severity of these side-effects that their use is severely restricted in all but the most severe and/or resistant bacterial infections (EMA 2019). Adding to these severe side-effects, the mechanism for fluoroquinolone resistance in *M. hominis* is well established as arising from Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms (SNPs) in the Quinolone Resistance Determining Region (QRDR) of the topoisomerase genes, as best characterised for *E. coli* (Van Der Putten et al. 2019) but mirrored in function across most other bacteria (Bebear et al. 1997; Hamasuna et al. 2018; Ostrer et al. 2019; Zhang et al. 2019; Esfahani et al. 2020). By altering the protein conformation of the resulting topoisomerases, they lack the relevant complementary sites and thus quinolones cannot bind to the bacterial ribosome, thus conferring immunity to the disruptive effect of fluoroquinolones.

Rates of quinolone resistance are incredibly high in certain pathogens, with 97% of countries reporting resistance rates to the World Health Organisation recording the presence of ciprofloxacin-resistant GC (Wi et al. 2017). Rates vary across different pathogens, but broadly are high enough that it is no longer recommended to treat GC with fluoroquinolones as a first-line treatment (Dalhoff 2012). As MH and U. *spp*. are not commonly surveyed or treated as pathogens, MG is the only *Mollicutes* with considerable clinical data, with moxifloxacin resistance rates existing at 4-10% (Deguchi et al. 2016; Le Roy et al. 2016; Li et al. 2017), varying across different geographies. In practice, older quinolones such as ciprofloxacin and ofloxacin have been established to have significantly poorer cure rates than moxifloxacin (Jernberg et al. 2008), which has a cure rate approaching 100% in susceptible strains (Jensen et al. 2016) and thus the recommended treatment for macrolide-resistant MG.

1.3.2 Macrolides

Macrolides are a class of broad-spectrum antibiotics, predominantly administered for Grampositive bacteria for which penicillin would be ineffective, but also for a small variety of Gramnegative bacteria (Vázquez-Laslop and Mankin 2018b). Erythromycin was first discovered in 1952 as an equivalent treatment for penicillin-resistant illnesses and patients allergic to penicillin (Vázquez-Laslop and Mankin 2018b). One of the major side-effects of erythromycin is moderate gastrointestinal issues (Arsic et al. 2018), so early developments into the synthesis of variants such as azithromycin and clarithromycin were driven by the desire for less severe side-effects, although it should be noted that even modern variants of macrolides such as azithromycin can cause nausea and diarrhoea in patients. For the purposes of this work, focus will be on erythromycin, azithromycin, clarithromycin and josamycin as the four most relevant variants of macrolide antibiotics for this body of work.

Macrolides functions as a bacteriostatic by binding to the A2058 and/or A2059 residues of the 23S rRNA region of the 50S ribosome subunit, as well as the V region (Vázquez-Laslop and Mankin 2018a). Macrolides act by blocking the exit tunnel of the ribosome causing disengagement after only 7-8 peptides have been linked. The effects of this inhibition are reversible (bacteriostatic), but prolonged inhibition leads to cell death. Azithromycin is thought to be the most effective of the macrolides commonly used for the treatment for MG treatment due to its irregular 15-membered lactone ring, in comparison to the standard 14-membered ring of older macrolides such as erythromycin (Bradshaw et al. 2017). Josamycin is observed to be even more effective and has a 16-membered lactone ring but is not as commonly prescribed as azithromycin (Arsic et al. 2018), which remains a potential second-line treatment of susceptible MG strains if doxycycline is not a viable option for treatment. However, doxycycline is usually chosen as the first line treatment for MG over azithromycin, notwithstanding any reason to contraindicate the use of tetracyclines in a patient such as the patient being prepubescent or pregnant (Mello 1967; Tötterman and Saxén 1969).

Macrolides are generally ineffective in MH, with 14- and 15-ringed macrolides being unable to bind to the V region of the 50S ribosomal subunit due to a conserved G2057A polymorphism blocking binding (Pereyre et al. 2002; Krausse and Schubert 2010; Waites et al. 2012), modifying the active site of the macrolide binding region. This adaptation is not effective against larger ringed macrolides (Arsic et al. 2018), which means that of all the commonly prescribed macrolides, only josamycin is effective against MH. GC also exhibits resistance to macrolides using a similar mechanism of modifying the V region of the 50S subunit but rather than a point mutation, resistant strains instead carry genes encoding rRNA methylase called *erm* genes to methylate the macrolide binding site of the V region (Svetlov et al. 2021), preventing macrolides from binding to the region and blocking ribosome subunit interactions. *erm* genes are regularly found on conjugative elements and can spread via conjugal transfer (Cousin et al. 2003; Derbie et al. 2020), with variants observed across a variety of gonococci pathogens. GC can also develop resistance to macrolides via similar mechanisms of rRNA mutations as observed in MG, with MICs increasing in line with the frequency of mutation across the four 23S rRNA alleles of GC (Hall et al. 2019). Methylation of the 23S rRNA region carries with it a fitness cost of inefficient protein synthesis relative to a wild-type variant, but this can be alleviated through macrolide-dependent mechanisms in the ribosome, whereby transcription of methyltransferases are heightened in the presence of intercellular macrolides (Vázquez-Laslop and Mankin 2018b).

Macrolide resistance is a growing feature of many infections, with resistance hovering between 2.5% to 5% in most countries reporting resistance (Unemo and Jensen 2017; Wi et al. 2017; Unemo et al. 2019). This is relatively consistent when compared to tetracycline and quinolone resistances, which tend to be much broader in range and normally much higher overall (Bradshaw et al. 2017; Godman et al. 2017; Unemo and Jensen 2017; Derbie et al. 2020). While low, the potential for anywhere between one in forty to one in twenty patients presenting as having macrolide-resistant GC makes resistance a growing concern in the treatment of a variety of other pathogens. These are varied but are predominantly pathogens already of interest due to their growing resistance rates. STIs such as GC (Hall et al. 2019; Ma et al. 2020) and MG (Machalek et al. 2019; Machalek et al. 2020) have been noted as potential superbugs due to the rising levels of macrolide resistance (Unemo and Jensen 2017; WHO 2019) and the lack of feasible alternative treatments. Macrolide resistance is an ongoing concern in other areas of clinical practice such as methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* MRSA (Bishr et al. 2021) and necessary changes to treatments such as the prescription of macrolides for patients allergic to penicillin can increase the risk of developing this infection (Blumenthal et al. 2018). *Clostridium difficile* (Tilkorn et al. 2020) and *Klebsiella pneumoniae* (Zieliński et al. 2021) are also diseases with rising levels of resistance, as are GC and MG,

proving that macrolides are a vital tool that is becoming significantly less effective at treating serious pathogens both considered STIs or otherwise.



Figure 1-5 - Mechanism of function for antibiotics that inhibit protein synthesis. For all three classes of antibiotic illustrated here, the overarching mechanism of resistance is an alteration of one or more tRNA binding sites that in turn prevents the binding of the antibiotic to the relevant ribosomal site, blocking inhibition.

1.3.3 Tetracyclines

The tetracycline group of antibiotics includes range of broad-spectrum antibiotics, used for the treatment of a variety of infections. These include infections such as STIs, acne, cholera (di Cerbo et al. 2019), agricultural purposes (Koike et al. 2017) and even rarer diseases such as *Yersinia pestis* and *Bacillus anthracis* infections (Yang 2017; Brightman 2019). In addition, tetracyclines have a chelating property that makes them a useful biomarker of bone growth in rare cases (Macri-Pellizzeri et al. 2018; Martin and Bettencourt 2018). This class of drug is widely used and relied upon and as such is listed by the World Health Organization as one of the most critically important antimicrobials (WHO 2019).

Historically, the generations of tetracycline drugs describe their synthesis – 1st generation tetracyclines are biologically derived, those of the 2nd generation are modified after biological synthesis and 3rd generation tetracyclines are artificially synthesized in their entirety (Krueger et al. 2004). Further derivatives are either in development or starting to become licenced for more general use (Watkins and Deresinski 2019; Zhanel et al. 2019), but for the purposes of this thesis, the well-established derivatives of tetracycline listed here will be the main topic of discussion.

The tetracycline family of antibiotics functions as a bacteriostatic via the inhibition of protein synthesis. This is achieved by competitively inhibiting the attachment of charged aminoacyl-tRNA to the A-site of the ribosomal complex. Tetracyclines function via a broad mechanism of attack that can theoretically affect human cells as well (Chukwudi and Good 2019), but there are variances between cell toxicities that can be observed and are due to bacterial cells actively pumping tetracycline into their cytoplasm, where mammalian cells only absorb the drug via osmosis (Chukwudi 2016). This limits how much damage tetracyclines can do to a patient receiving treatment but does mean that some tetracycline-mediated damage of human cells will likely occur.

Furthermore, it has been observed that the metabolic by-products of tetracycline derivatives are themselves cytotoxic (Burgos et al. 2011; Tong et al. 2016), compounding potential side-effects. The developments in the R groups of tetracyclines has been driven by the need to reduce this toxicity, with newer drugs achieving an overall improvement in that regard (Borghi and Palma 2014). This has led to the replacement of tetracycline with doxycycline

in almost all cases (Heaton et al. 2007), but ultimately there is still some level of toxicity present in all tetracyclines (Burgos et al. 2011; Tong et al. 2016).

The most well-known side-effect is the chelating property of tetracyclines, which will discolour bone and teeth with continual usage (Sánchez et al. 2004; Judge et al. 2018). This is magnified in children (Sánchez et al. 2004), although evidence suggests a lack of staining from doxycycline (Gaillard et al. 2017; Pöyhönen et al. 2017) still is the effect on unborn foetuses, where tetracycline can more severely affect foetal development (Tötterman and Saxén 1969; Nahum et al. 2006; Muanda et al. 2017). As such, this family of drugs cannot be proscribed to pre-pubescent patients and is very rarely proscribed as a long-term form of treatment. These more general side-effects include phototoxicity (Kim et al. 2017). all presents serious barriers to the prescription of these drugs, even before considering the development of AMR in pathogenic eukaryotes.

The potential for increasing resistance rates to tetracyclines via the acquisition of the *tet*M gene is of concern. This gene encodes for a ribosomal protection protein (RPP) that protects the carrier from the effects of tetracycline. The *tet*M protein binds to ribosomes conjugated with tetracycline and induces permanent conformational changes in the 16S RNA region (Dönhöfer et al. 2012), ejecting the tetracycline molecule from the ribosomal complex and preventing re-binding, thus conferring effective resistance to the drug. The gene is inherited primarily by horizontal gene transfer (HGT) via transposons and/or plasmids, with transposon *tn*916 most associated with its dissemination.



Figure 1-6 - The structure of the Tn916 transposon. Each of the four gene clusters mediating different functions of the transposon are marked in a different colour. Figure taken from Roberts and Mullany (2009).

The Tn916 transposon is composed of four gene clusters that mediate the conjugative transfer, transcriptional regulation, and recombination of the transposon as well as the *tet*M accessory gene (Wright and Grossman 2016), as illustrated in Figure 1-6. Upon expression of its recombinase gene cluster, the transposon is excised from the genome on either end of the transposon and via further regulation of its topology is reformed into a circular mobile transposon (Rubio-Cosials et al. 2018), which is then transmitted via the usual mechanisms of plasmid transmission. Tn916 normally has specific insertion targets formed of two coupling sequences, one of which is integrated into the excised plasmid to bond the two ends of the transposon together to form the circular structure. This cannibalization of one coupling sequence forms a motif that can be used to detect the presence and subsequent excision of a transposon in what would otherwise appear as a wild-type variant (Lunde et al. 2021). The mechanism of excision and insertion are applicable to a variety of different species, allowing for not only inter-species transmission but also intra-species transmission.

The absence of *tn*916 conjugation genes led to speculation as to whether the *tet*M element retained mobility or not (Calcutt and Foecking 2015). AMR of Tetracyclines is developing at a of pathogens rapid rate across variety and *tet*M-mediated tetracycline а resistance in pathogens typically confers resistance to all members of the drug family (Schmitz 2001; Beeton et al. 2016a; Meygret et al. 2018). In GC, tetracyclines are longestablished to be an ineffective treatment (Unemo et al. 2019) with 75.2% of UK isolates tested by UKHSA found to be tetracycline-resistant (UKHSA 2022). Furthermore, only 30% of MG infections are successfully cleared by doxycycline (Pitt and Fifer 2022), with little or no understanding of the genotyping of the resistance strains.

Our understanding of tetracycline resistance in *U. spp.* and MH is even less detailed due to the lack of standardized routine surveillance, and so relies on aggregation of clinical studies. A meta-review by Ahmadi (2021) found that tetracycline resistance in both pathogens was

relatively high and increasing over time, although they also noted that the lack of standardization between commercial kits was a major issue for determining accurate resistance rates. Ahmadi noted that across 37 studies, the average rates of doxycycline resistance was 28.6% for Ureaplasma spp. and 9% for MH. This data is again noted to vary geographically, with rates ranging from 0-100% resistance for tetracycline and 9-18% resistance for doxycycline, as observed in other studies (Wang et al. 2016; Beeton and Spiller 2017; Meygret et al. 2018). The wide variance in rates of resistance can be primarily attributed to the varying rate of prescription of these drugs, with countries using more stringent guidance showing lower levels of tetracycline resistance (Godman et al. 2017). This is counterbalanced by the significantly higher cost of alternative treatments in low-income countries, forcing clinicians to proscribe tetracyclines and without antimicrobial resistance testing. In addition, the overuse of tetracyclines (and other drugs) in agriculture has been noted as a contributor to the generation of AMR, with livestock making up the bulk of antimicrobial consumption worldwide (He et al. 2019). These factors have contributed to an overall drop in the effectiveness of tetracyclines as a treatment for urogenital mycoplasmas, relative to other options such as fluoroquinolones or macrolides. Nonetheless, they are a key family of antibiotics worldwide and their resistance rates are an important component in the surveillance of antimicrobial resistance.

1.3.4 Lincosamides

Lincosamides are a relatively small class of broad-spectrum antibiotics, most used as an alternative treatment for patients who are allergic to penicillin (Armengol Álvarez et al. 2022). Lincomycin was first isolated as a secondary metabolite produced by Streptomyces lincolnensis and licenced for medical use in 1964 (Macleod et al. 1964), with current production still mediated by genetically modified cultures of S. lincolnensis. Clindamycin was quickly semi-synthesized using lincomycin as a template to increase the drug's activity spectrum and reduce the impact of its considerable side-effects, being licenced for clinical use in 1966 (Magerlein et al. 1967). Lincosamides are used to treat a variety of pathogens, showing good activity against staphylococci, streptococci and most anaerobic bacterium but typically lack efficacy against enterococcii, Neisseria meningitidis and aerobic gram-negative bacilli (Schwarz et al. 2016). Clinical use of clindamycin significantly outstrips the usage of lincomycin due to its broader range of susceptible organisms and higher overall efficacy as a clinical treatment (Spížek and Řezanka 2004). Furthermore, Pirlimycin is only approved by European regulators for the treatment of bovine mastitis (Birkenmeyer et al. 1984). As such, clindamycin is the only clinically relevant lincosamide for the treatment of urogenital infection and subsequent antimicrobial resistance.

Lincosamides primarily function as bacteriostatic protein synthesis inhibitors, targeting the 50S region of the bacterial ribosome subunit akin to macrolides. Where lincosamides differ is that instead of targeting the peptide exit tunnel like macrolides, they act earlier in the initiation of protein synthesis. Lincosamides bind to a 50S site that somewhat overlaps with the binding site of macrolides (Spížek and Řezanka 2004). By non-covalently binding at this site, lincosamides interact with both the A-site and P-site of the subunit (Tenson et al. 2003). This interferes with the positioning of both the peptidyl-tRNA and aminoacyl-tRNA, disrupting the peptidyl transferase-mediated reaction required to elongate the peptide chain. Tenson and colleagues also identified an inverse link between peptide chain length and lincosamide effectiveness, as the increased affinity of peptidyl-tRNAs with long peptide chains is sufficient to out-compete the lincosamide molecule.

As macrolides and lincosamides share similar binding sites, they also share mechanisms of resistance. As the binding sites of macrolides and lincosamides significantly overlap, ermmediated methylation of the 50S binding sites confers resistance to both macrolides and lincosamides, as well as group B streptogramins and azalides (Lewis and Jorgensen 2005). Constitutively resistant bacteria uniformly express an altered 50S site that confers resistance, while inducible resistance occurs when macrolides bind to upstream translational attenuator sequences that in turn induce the expression of erm methylases to alter the 50S binding site (Weisblum 1995). In addition to conformational changes, lincosamide-specific resistance can also occur. This is typically mediated via enzymatic inhibition (Schaenzer and Wright 2020) or drug efflux (Schwarz et al. 2016) and is typically a less common form of lincosamide resistance in pathogens. A key aspect of lincosamide usage in sexual health is the mechanism of application. There are no NICE guidelines for the use of clindamycin in male sexual health patients, and guidelines for treatment of pelvic and female genital infections are to be treated via intravenous infusion. In practice, an IV (and thus a longer-term hospital visit) would be considered a last resort, sharply limiting the applications of clindamycin for the treatment of vaginitis and PID. Furthermore, it is well-established that oral or parenteral applications of clindamycin carry a breadth of side-effects such as skin irritation, diarrhoea, and potentially life-threatening antibiotic-associated colitis.

Within the context of treating urogenital mycoplasmas, the application of clindamycin is limited. Because erm-mediated resistance to lincosamides can also confer resistance to macrolides, erythromycin and azithromycin are preferred over clindamycin due to their higher sensitivity (Taylor-Robinson and Jensen 2011) and there are no official recommendations for the use of clindamycin to treat MG infections. Furthermore, *Ureaplasma* spp. demonstrate a uniform resistance to lincosamides (Redelinghuys et al. 2014), the mechanisms of which are not fully understood. On the other hand, MH is inherently immune to 14- and 15-membered macrolides due to mutations in 23S rRNA (Pereyre et al. 2002) but is sensitive to clindamycin (Chang et al. 2022) and so is recommended as a second-line treatment for MH infections. The limited spectrum of lincosamides in the treatment of mycoplasma infections means that they did not form a significant component of this study.

1.4 Aims and Objectives

The overarching hypothesis of this work is that that antimicrobial resistance and its genomic mechanisms can be rapidly and effectively identified using modern molecular methods through the link between mycoplasmas and symptoms of disease, with both established links with mycoplasma infections and symptoms not yet associated clinically with mycoplasma infections and symptoms by which I will explore and demonstrate this hypothesis are:

- Determining mechanisms of tetracycline and quinolone resistance in *M. hominis*, looking at both mobile genetic elements transmitted inter- and intra-species.
- Determining the mechanisms of transposon-mediated resistance in Ureaplasma spp.
- Examining if there are significant benefits for the clinical usage of molecular diagnostic methods over traditional culture-based methods for GC and M. hominis.
- Examining rates of antimicrobial resistance pre- and peri-COVID pandemic for GC, *M. hominis*, *M. genitalium* and *Ureaplasma spp*.
- Investigating if incidence rates of Ureaplasma spp. between sexes can be related to variations in growth rates in the presence of sex hormones.

While relatively understudied in the context of a pathogen, the molecular mechanisms of resistance in *M. hominis* are well-established enough to be explored in more detail. Relating back to *M. genitalium* and referencing work already conducted on antimicrobial resistance in *M. hominis*, the main areas of clinical concern are increasing levels of resistance to tetracycline- and quinolone-family antibiotics observed in clinical trials. As such, it was deemed relevant to explore the underlying mechanisms behind these adaptations.

Likewise, while understudied as a sexual pathogen *Ureaplasma spp*. is regarded as a pathogen of concern in fertility and obstetrics, and as such there is a great deal of benefit to understanding the mechanisms of resistance in these organisms and how they contribute to the overall burden of antibiotic resistance. In addition, analysis of these resistance mechanisms and how they relate to the resistance mechanisms present in *M. hominis* offers a chance to further explore the molecular regulation and adaptations of mollicutes as a species and how the mechanisms present in each species interrelate.

The point of interest that underlies the study of these organisms is the growing levels of antimicrobial resistance in each of these pathogens, and how the mechanisms of resistance are not fully understood and thus offer opportunities to improve treatment outcomes for patients in a clinical setting. As such, the core question of my work is to take these observations and interrogations of antimicrobial resistance mechanisms and attempt to combine this knowledge with the practical analysis of whether the molecular detection of antibiotic resistance can be integrated into clinical analysis in a cost- and time-efficient manner. To do this, this work will investigate at a variety of factors relating to the incidence rates and AMR rates of GC, *M. hominis, M. genitalium* and *Ureaplasma spp.* It will examine methods for the purpose of their molecular detection and use the information generated along with linked demographic data to observe if there are correlations between any demographic variance and any of the chosen bacterial targets. Considering the Covid-19 pandemic and its associated challenges, this will also include an analysis of the effects of the pandemic on rates of antibiotic resistance present in the target pathogens of this study.

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 M. hominis culture

Mycoplasma hominis strains investigated were derived from clinical samples or isolates referred to Public Health England (PHE) reference laboratory for diagnostic investigation or antimicrobial susceptibility testing (from 21st February 2005 to 9th October 2015). Isolated strains kindly supplied by PHE were archived at -80°C as agar cubes in mycoplasma liquid media and/or mycoplasma liquid cultures (with or without beads) until investigated for this work. Samples submitted were derived from a range of clinical specimens including neonatal, obstetric, and sexual health as well as invasive infections (blood culture, CSF, heart valve, ascitic fluid and pleural fluid). Four vaginal reference strains from Australia were also kindly provided to me by Dr Matthew Payne, University of Western Australia, for comparative analysis (3 from the same patient (AH3) collected at 20, 28 and 36 weeks gestation, as well as a single isolate from a separate patient (AH58) (Payne et al. 2016). Apart from the M. hominis strains isolated in Havana, Cuba, the remaining strains were archived from previously published studies (Beeton et al. 2009b; Morris et al. 2020; Boostrom et al. 2021). Recovery of frozen archived isolates was performed via resuspension in Mycoplasma Experience Limited (Reigate, UK) selective media. Plates sealed with clear adhesive film were incubated in a humidified chamber at 37 °C for up to 5 days. Cultures and plates were checked daily, with their growth recorded. Growth in broth culture was visualized as a yellow to red colour change in the absence of turbidity.



Figure 2-1 - 96-well Plate Determination of Minimum Inhibitory Concentration. This plate shows the result of a hypothetical tetracycline-resistant *M. hominis* isolate. Dark red wells indicate growth-mediated colour change, while orange-yellow wells indicate a lack of growth sufficient to induce colour change. A Minimum Inhibitory Concentration was determined by the highest concentration of antibiotic to produce colour change at 1x10⁴ or higher Colour Change Units.

2.1.1 Antimicrobial Resistance Screening

For the determination for antimicrobial resistance in *M. hominis*, mycoplasma selective agar (Mycoplasma Experience Limited) with inclusion of specific concentrations of antimicrobials for threshold resistance screening was used. For minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) determination, microbroth dilution methods utilised Mycoplasma selective medium prepared by CPM SAS (Rome, Italy), optimised for colour change indicative of *M. hominis* growth. Agar and microbroth dilution methods were performed as outlined by CLSI guidelines (CLSI 2011) including use of defined resistance thresholds: 2 µg·mL⁻¹ levofloxacin, 0.5 µg·mL⁻¹ moxifloxacin, 0.5 µg·mL⁻¹ clindamycin, and 8 µg·mL⁻¹ tetracycline. For agar plates, four 10-fold dilutions of each strain were inoculated per 90mm plate, and only the dilution that yielded 30-300 colonies on the antimicrobial-free control plate were used for analysis of antimicrobial-containing agar plates. Microbroth dilution methods to determine MIC for tetracycline, levofloxacin and moxifloxacin was undertaken according to CLSI guidelines (CLSI 2011) examining 1x10⁴ colour-changing units in comparison to the antimicrobial-free growth control medium, as established previously by Beeton et al. (2009b). Briefly, colour-changing units relate to a well of unknown bacterial concentration (set at 1 CCU) being diluted tenfold across a broth microdilution plate, creating a ten-fold gradient of growth for the determination of growth in the presence of a parallel gradient of antibiotic concentrations.

While no resistance thresholds have yet been determined for josamycin and tigecycline, MICs were determined under the same parameters. 120 *M. hominis* isolates from 81 patients were analysed, with initial screening for *tet*M presence was performed by traditional PCR (AppTaq RedMix (Appleton Woods, UK), 40 cycles, Tm=56°C, extension 30 sec) visualising the expected 419 bp product by transilluminated ethidium bromide containing 1% agarose gel electrophoresis using PCR primers (designed in this study) tetM1338F 5'-TATCTGTATCACCGCTTCCG-3' and tetM1758R 5'-AATACACCGAGCAGGGATTT-3'.

Induction of fluoroquinolone resistance was performed similarly to the agar-based, singlestep induction method described by Bebear et al. (1999), except that selection occurred in microbroth dilution conditions. CLSI guidelines require determination of susceptibility at a strict 24–48 h incubation point, but by allowing incubation of the MIC plates a further 24–72h beyond the initial MIC determination, spontaneous colour change was observed for wells of 4 mg/L for levofloxacin. Sub-culture of these isolates then found that they now had an MIC of 8 mg/L. However, this phenomenon was only observed in isolates that already had preexisting gyrA QRDR mutations. For the purposes of this work, bacterial referred to as a bacterial strain is an identified and characterised subgroup of a given bacterial species, while a bacterial isolate is merely a single bacterial organism been identified in each patient sample but has not yet been fully purified and characterised.

2.1.2 Ethical Considerations

Work undertaken for the analysis of *M. hominis* genomes was classified as service evaluation and clinical investigation, and so was exempted from NHS Research Ethics Committee Review. Original ethical approval covering the reference strains included from Australia were approved by the Human Research Ethics Committee of Western Australian Department of Health, Women and Newborn Health Service (2056/EW).

The evaluation of UK and French Ureaplasma bacterial isolates for antimicrobial resistance was exempt from NHS Research Ethics Committee review, due to the investigation's role in clinical service evaluation. Cuban isolates were acquired in a study approved by the 'Pedro Kourí' Tropical Medicine Institute Ethical Board (approval CEI-IPK 33-12).

2.2 Ureaplasma spp. culture

Archived *Ureaplasma* strains investigated for tetracycline resistance were derived from clinical samples or isolates referred to Public Health England (PHE) reference laboratory for diagnostic investigation or antimicrobial susceptibility testing from 2003 to 2013 (Beeton et al. 2009a; Beeton et al. 2016a). Samples submitted were derived from a range of clinical specimens including neonatal, obstetric, and sexual health as well as invasive infections. Two were isolated from Havana, Cuba (Preval et al. 2022), two from France (Meygret et al. 2018); eight from the United Kingdom as well as the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC) serovar 9 prototype reference strain from Vancouver. Apart from the *Ureaplasma spp.* strains isolated in Havana, Cuba and Bordeaux, France, the remaining strains were archived from an unpublished UROGEN study (IRAS 251053; Spiller O.B. and Jones L.C.). Recovery of frozen archived isolates was performed via resuspension in Ureaplasma selective media purchased from Mycoplasma Experience Limited (Reigate, UK).

Recovery from frozen archives was performed by resuspension in Ureaplasma selective medium purchased from Mycoplasma Experience Limited (Reigate, UK). Plates were sealed with clear adhesive film in a humidified chamber and incubated at 37°C ovenight. Cultures and plates were checked daily, and growth recorded and confirmed utilizing qPCR methods detailed in previous studies (Beeton et al. 2016a; Preval et al. 2022). MIC analysis of isolates was conducted in accordance with CLSI guidelines (CLSI 2011) using the methodology outlined by Beeton et al. (2009b) previously in this section, with isolates meeting the tetracycline MIC threshold values of 2ug/mL or higher being chosen for sequencing.

Induction of tetracycline resistance via repeated challenge with sub-lethal concentration of tetracycline was induced as per the well-established methods of Evans and Taylor-Robinson (1978), with a concentrations of ranging from 0.125-1 mg/L tetracycline. Briefly, cultures of *Ureaplasma spp*. were grown as per normal MIC methodology, with strains growing at any concentration of tetracycline sub-cultured after 24 hours to a fresh MIC plate and repeatedly exposed to scaling levels of tetracycline until full resistance was observed to have developed.

For the subset of strains to be examined by whole genome sequencing, individual colonies were grown in 500mL Ureaplasma selective medium, pelleted at 13,000xg for 3h, resuspended in 400 μ L of sterile distilled water as the first step of DNA extraction using the Qiagen EZ1 Advanced XL automated extractor utilizing the EZ1 DSP Virus Kit as per manufacturer's instructions. DNA yields were between 1-8 ng/ μ L DNA (Qubit 4.0, Life Technologies).

2.2.1 Clinical Samples

Ureaplasma strains investigated were derived from clinical samples or isolates referred to Public Health England (PHE) reference laboratory for diagnostic investigation or antimicrobial susceptibility testing from 2003 to 2013 (Beeton et al. 2009a; Beeton et al. 2016a). Samples submitted were derived from a range of clinical specimens including neonatal, obstetric, and sexual health as well as invasive infections. Two were isolated from Havana, Cuba (Preval et al. 2022), two from France (Meygret et al. 2018); eight from the United Kingdom as well as the serovar 9 prototype reference strain from Vancouver. Apart from the *Ureaplasma spp.* strains isolated in Havana, Cuba and Bordeaux, France, the remaining strains were archived from previously published studies (Meygret et al. 2018; Preval et al. 2022), as well as from the UROGEN study (IRAS 251053; Spiller O.B. and Jones L.C. unpublished). Recovery of frozen archived isolates was performed via resuspension in Ureaplasma Experience Limited (Reigate, United Kingdom) selective media.

2.2.2 Ethics Considerations

The evaluation of UK and French bacterial isolates for antimicrobial resistance was exempt from NHS Research Ethics Committee review, due to the investigation's role in clinical service evaluation, apart from those arising from the UROGEN study (IRAS 251053; Spiller O.B. and Jones L.C.). Cuban isolates were acquired in a study approved by the Pedro Kourí Tropical Medicine Institute Ethical Board (approval CEI-IPK 33-12).

2.2.3 Whole genome sequencing and bioinformatic analysis.

For the subset of strains to be examined by whole genome sequencing, individual colonies were grown in 500mL Ureaplasma selective medium pelleted at 13,000xg for 3h, resuspended in 400 μ L of sterile distilled water as the first step of DNA extraction using the Qiagen EZ1 Advanced XL automated extractor utilizing the EZ1 DSP Virus Kit as per manufacturer's instructions. DNA yields were between 1-8 ng/ μ L DNA (Qubit 4.0, Life Technologies).

Full genomic sequencing of all extracted isolate DNA was kindly undertaken by Edward Portal, Kirsty Sands and Jordan Mattias as I was not able to access the sequencing laboratory at UHW during the Covid-19 lockdown. This was undertaken using a Nextera XT library preparation with V3 chemistry on an Illumina MiSeq platform. Bioinformatics analysis of genomes was comprised of 3 main processes:

- QC pipeline to validate & trim the raw sequence reads using FastQC and Trimgalore (Andrews 2010)
- a whole genome assembly and mapping utlizing Flash, SPAdes, BWA, pilon and quast; (Li and Durbin 2009; Magoč and Salzberg 2011; Bankevich et al. 2012; Gurevich et al. 2013; Walker et al. 2014)
- Whole genome annotation and profiling of genetic determinants using a combination of available software (using both fastq and de novo assembled reads): prokka, NCBI BLAST, kmerfinder, CARD, srst2, ARG-ANNOT and VFDB.

Assembled contigs were further analysed utilising Geneious sequence analysis software (BioMatters Itd. New Zealand) and aligned and assessed against a reference *tet*M sequence from *Enterococcus faecalis* (GenBank no. EFU09422) for the identification of genetic elements, point mutations and gene rearrangements via the Snippy and Roary programs (Page et al. 2015). Phylogenetic trees were generated using FastTree (Price et al. 2010) both via the Geneious Prime UI and via Linux-based command line.

2.3 Interventional Clinical Study

2.3.1 Samples and methods relating to the "Antibiotic Guardian Study".

Figure 6 shows indicates the sample collection, processing, and reporting pathways for the Antibiotic Guardian Study. The collection and testing of patient samples was conducted as part of an interventional clinical study, and so Health Research Authority (HRA) and Health and Care Research Wales (HCRW) ethical approval was obtained before the commencement of the study under IRAS project ID 269508. Patient samples were collected from Dewi Sant Hospital and Keir Hardie University Health Park in the Rhondda Cynon Taf and Merthyr Tydfil counties of South Wales, part of Cwm Taf Morgannwg University health board. Participants were symptomatic patients attending a sexual health clinic at either the Department of Integrated Sexual Health at Dewi Sant or Keir Hardy. Patients attending were asked to complete a self-triage form by sexual health staff detailing whether they had symptoms. A member of the clinical research team then reviewed a self-triage form and determined if the patient was symptomatic from their answers. Patients were not eligible to participate in the study if they did not meet any of the exclusion criteria (less than 16 years of age, were in attendance following sexual assault or were deemed to lack capacity to consent) and presented with any of the following symptoms:

- Dysuria (Painful urination)
- Urethral/Vaginal discharge (itchy/sore sensation, unusual colour, or smell)
- Rectal discharge (Mucous and/or purulent)
- Dyspareunia (painful intercourse)
- Pelvic pain (both acute and chronic)
- Epididymitis (Inflammation of epididymis/testicular tube)
- Post-coital bleeding
- Acute Vulval/Glans/Perianal pain.

Patients were given an opportunity to ask questions about the proposed study and were provided with clarification as necessary. If patients wished to participate in the study, written informed consent was gained by a member of the clinical research team trained in Good Clinical Practice (signed consent form). Although this did not occur, participants were able to withdraw from the study at any time – all data derived from their participation would have been removed in this event. Participants were then seen by a doctor specialising in Sexual Health and HIV, who took a full medical history and performed appropriate examination of patients as required. All participants underwent additional STI testing for Chlamydia, HIV, Syphilis, Hepatitis B, and Hepatitis following examination in addition to the testing undertaken as part of the clinical study. All participants with positive results were reviewed three weeks after treatment as per routine practice and were offered the opportunity to undergo a 'test of cure' via standard NHS testing – in practice, patients did not take up offers of 'test of cure' due to the pandemic restrictions and post-pandemic this continued.



Figure 2-2 – **Summary of clinical testing regime undertaken for the interventional clinical study.** Only symptomatic patients were part of the clinical study. The standard NHS treatment regime takes approximately two weeks, with immediate treatment given empirically and further informed by laboratory results as appropriate.

The samples used for this study were taken in line with symptoms and could be any number of the following:

- Heterosexual male symptomatic patients.
 - Leftover "waste" first-catch urine
 - Penile and/or urethral swab sample from routine testing
- Men having sex with Men (MSM) symptomatic patients.
 - Leftover "waste" urine sample from routine screening
 - o Oral swab
 - Rectal swab from routine testing
- Female symptomatic patients.
 - Leftover "waste" urine
 - o Vulvo-vaginal swab sample from routine testing
 - Pharyngeal swab

Swabs containing residual participant material were pseudo-anonymised by the direct clinical care team in clinic with a unique research number before being transferred for transport to the Cardiff University at UHW (University Hospital of Wales) for processing. Additional participant residual samples consisted of up to 3 swabs for each participant (endocervical or urethral, oral, and rectal – sample site identified by the extension S, F and R, added to the common unique research number for that participant, respectively) and/or waste urine (identified by the extension U) following standard NHS clinical sample provision. The transport of patient samples to UHW for processing was conducted same-day pre-Covid and next-day post-Covid, using UN3373 compliant transport containers to prevent the risk of sample contamination or exposure to any biohazards.

2.3.2 Sample Processing

Swab samples were suspended in 3ml of 0.85% saline solution and then separated into two 400µl archive samples and a 200µl sample for extraction. Urine samples were spun down and pelleted at 10,000rpm for 5 minutes before being resuspended in 3ml of 0.85% saline solution and separated into two 400ml archive samples and a 200ml sample for extraction. For the purposes of clinical validation agar plates and a microdilution broth culture all selective for mycoplasma and Ureaplasma were set up to act as secondary tests for both *Mycoplasma spp.* and *Ureaplasma spp.* as per previously established methodologies (Morris et al. 2020) and Mycoplasma MST test kits were inoculated as per manufacturer's instructions to act as a secondary validation for molecular detection of antimicrobial resistance. Sterile 1-microlitre bacterial loops were used to inoculate 1 x Mycoplasma selective agar (A7, BioMerieux) plate and 1 x Gonococcus selective agar (Oxoid, Basingstoke) plate, which were then transferred to the 5% CO₂ incubator to recover viable bacteria from resuspended swabs and/or urine. The detection of *Neisseria gonorrhoea* was also validated using agar-based culture. For each

sample determined by qPCR to be GC positive, sterile 1-microlitre bacterial loops were used to inoculate 1 x Gonococcus selective agar (Oxoid, Basingstoke) plates with a lawn of bacteria. MICs were then determined by the application of antibiotic-impregnated disks (MAST Group, Bootle) as per manufacturer's instructions. Disks were used to test for Ceftriaxone susceptibility (8mg/L) and two concentrations of Ciprofloxacin (1mg/L and 5ml/L) were used to test for fluoroquinolone susceptibility, all as per manufacturer's instructions and in line with current CDC guidelines (CDC 2023).

The molecular targets of this clinical study were *Mycoplasma hominis*, *Mycoplasma genitalium*, *Ureaplasma parvum*, *Ureaplasma urealyticum* and *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* (GC). DNA extraction was undertaken using 400µl of swab suspension with the Qiagen EZ1 Advanced XL automated extractor utilizing the EZ1 DSP virus kit as per the manufacturer's instructions to produce a 40µl DNA extraction for each sample. For each DNA extraction of a patient sample, BioRad Laboratories CFX96 Touch Real-Time PCR thermocycler and BioRad Maestro software were used to run the assays, along with SsoAdvanced[™] Universal Probes Supermix (Bio-Rad Laboratories) for hydrolysis probes and plated using 96-well plates and optical clear adhesive seals. The molecular targets of this analysis, their primers and probes are detailed in Table 2-2.

Probe	ROX	HEX	FAM	CY5	C5-5
GC Panel	М.	GC opa	GC por(A)	M.	E. coli
	hominis			genitalium	(Extraction control)
Ureaplasma spp.	М.	U.	U.	M.	tetM
Panel	hominis	parvum	urealyticum	genitalium	

 Table 2-1 - The panel of targets of both assays run on each sample.

SpeeDx assays were undertaken in 96-well amplification plates (including the inclusion of a no template control, wild type control and mutant control), as per manufacturer's guidelines. This included addition of a non-viable *E. coli* source to act as a measure of successfµl DNA extraction – for the purposes of this assay, the proprietary SpeeDx *E. coli* DNA was used. As at time of analysis no commercial assay for *M. hominis* existed for purchase or use, analysis of extracted samples for the presence of *M. hominis* was undertaken by utilizing a previously published *yid*(C) Taqman hydrolysis probe assay (Férandon et al. 2011). Furthermore, the use of these hydrolysis probes for all five targets (*M. hominis, M. genitalium, U. parvum, U. urealyticum* and GC) in a multiplex assay had been clinically validated in previous studies (Morris et al. 2020) before their use here. For each assay, genomic copy equivalents were determined against a 7-point standard curve of micro-diluted primer and probe targets as per manufacturer's instructions.

The total volume of each reaction was 20μ L, comprised of the following:

- 5µL of clinical sample suspended in 0.85% saline solution.
- 10µL SsoAdvanced[™] Universal Probes Supermix

- 0.25pmol/µL forward primer, 0.25 pmol/µL reverse primer, and 0.01 pmol/µL probes for each of the molecular targets of the assay panel.
 - For the GC Panel, this was composed of *M. hominis*, GC *opa*, GC *por*(A), *M. genitalium* and *E. coli* (extraction control).
 - For the *Ureaplasma spp*. panel, this was composed of *M. hominis*, *U. parvum*, *U. urealyticum*, *M. genitalium* and *tet*M
- Remainder volume was made up with molecular grade water.

Table 2-2 – Primers and	probes used in c	PCR multi	plex assay.

Target	Name	Sequence (5'-3')	Length (bp)	G+ C (%)	Tm (°C)	Amplico n size (bp)
U. parvum	UUP_FP	AAGGTCAAGGTATGGAAGATCCAA	24	41. 7	59.3	90
	UUP_RP	TTCCTGTTGCCCCTCAGTCT	20	55. 0	59.4	
	UP_HP	(FAM)- TCCACAAGCTCCAGCAGCAATTTG- (BHQ1)	24	50. 0	62.7	
U. urealyticum	UUP_FP	AAGGTCAAGGTATGGAAGATCCAA	24	41. 7	59.3	90
	UUP_RP	TTCCTGTTGCCCCTCAGTCT	20	55. 0	59.4	
	UU_HP	(HEX)- ACCACAAGCACCTGCTACGATTTGT TC-(BHQ1)	27	48. 1	65	
M. hominis	MH_FP	TCACTAAACCGGGTATTTTCTAACA A	26	34. 6	58.5	94
	MH_RP	TTGGCATATATTGCGATAGTGCTT	24	37. 5	57.6	
	MH_HP	(ROX)- CTACCAATAATTTTAATATCTGTCG GTATG-(BHQ2)	30	30. 0	59.9	
M. genitalium	mgpB_BnB_ FP	GAAGGTATGATAACAACGGTAGAG CTT	27	40. 7	61.9	88
	mgpB_BnB_ RP	CCATTTAAACCCCTTTGCACCGT	23	47. 8	60.6	

	mgpB_BnB_ HP	(CY5)- ACTTAGCAAAAATGGAAAACCCCT C-(BHQ3)	25	40. 0	59.7	
tetM	MH- tetM_FP	CCTGTTCCCTGTTTATCACGG	21	52. 4	58.6	137
	MH- tetM_RP	ACTCAATTTTGAAAACTTTTCCGCA	25	36. 5	59.1	
	MH- tetM_HP	(CY5.5)- TTTATTCATCAACACATCGAGGTCA G-(BHQ3)	26	38. 5	59.7	
N. gonorrhoea (por(A))	PorA-FP	CCGGAACTGGTTTCATCTGATTAC	24	48. 8	61	102
	PorA-RP	GTTTCAGCGGCAGCATTCA	19	52. 6	56.7	
	PorA-HP	(HEX)- TTCCAGCGTGAAAGTAGCAGG- (BHQ1)	21	52. 4	59.8	
N. gonorrhoea	GC opa-FP	TTGAAACACCGCCCGGAA	18	55. 6	59.8	68
(opa)						
	GC opa-RP	TTTCGGCTCCTTATTCGGTTTAA	23	39. 1	58.4	
	GC opa-HP	(HEX)- CCGCCCGGCAACATCAGTGA- (BHQ2)	20	55. 0	60.3	

Bio-Rad CFX96 cycling conditions were as follows: initial activation and denaturation 95 °C for 5 min, next 45 cycles of 95 °C for 15 s and 60 °C for 15s. Readings were acquired in between cycles on channels FAM, HEX, ROX, CY5 and CY5.5, with data produced analysed using Bio-Rad CFX Maestro software. For samples that were found to contain *M. genitalium* by the SpeeDx ResistancePlus[®] MG, five microliters of that sample's extract were subsequently tested using the SpeeDx MG+parC assay to determine the presence of fluoroquinolone resistance-mediating mutations. Likewise, if *N. gonorrhoeae* was detected by initial analysis, 5µl of sample extract was tested for the presence of fluoroquinolone resistance-mediating mutations. After all samples were fully analysed for pathogenic targets and their associated antimicrobial resistances, all detected pathogens and any corresponding antimicrobial resistances were recorded. On proceeding days, follow-up observations of the well plates and/or agar plates

were made, recorded and if bacterial growth was observed, samples were taken for archival purposes and tested in the same manner as swab suspensions (DNA extraction and qPCR analysis) for further validation of initial molecular diagnosis.

In line with ethical approval, there was no interaction between patients and researchers, with clinicians undertaking all aspects of patient interaction and sample collection. Patients were assigned unique research numbers as part of their clinic notes with their research proforma and consent form, by the senior clinician responsible for their care. These notes were not shared by the clinical team to me or any other researcher, and instead a sanitised and anonymous set of demographic information was recorded during the interview and shared with researchers approved by the ethics board to have access to this information.

This information was composed of:

- Gender
- Age
- Sample types taken.

After laboratory analysis, each research number was also assigned:

- Detection of pathogens. Each sample from an individual patient was recorded separately. In addition, as the detection of each target bacterium was conducted in parallel, this provided information on potential co-infections. Furthermore, as many of these pathogens can be commensal, a binary presence/absence determination was made using a gene copy number threshold (>1x10⁻²) generated from (Morris et al. 2020). Bacterial load was used as the threshold unit due to European treatment guidelines (Horner et al. 2018) acknowledging that controversial bacteria such as U. urealyticum should be treated if present at sufficiently high bacterial load. The target panel was:
 - Mycoplasma genitalium
 - Presence or absence of MG Azithromycin resistance
 - Mycoplasma hominis
 - Neisseria gonorrhoeae
 - Dual target detection of *opa* and *por*(A) was required for a positive detection.
 - Presence or absence of GC ciprofloxacin resistance
 - o Ureaplasma urealyticum
 - o Ureaplasma parvum
 - Non-specific presence of *tet*M

- If patient samples produced growth on appropriate agar culture plate for confirmation purposes
- Mycoplasma/Ureaplasma Broth Microdilution Titration Value (CCU)

2.3.3 Alterations to Clinical Study and Reporting

Due to the Coronavirus pandemic and subsequent restrictions on my ability to conduct this study, several alterations to the original research plan were made. The initial design of the study included the results of the rapid diagnostic test of GC, MG and MH being fed back to the clinical team on the same day as sample collection and reported back the next day. As it was no longer feasible for results to be reported back to patients due to the pandemic, results of the rapid diagnostic tests for GC, MG and MH were not made available to participants and were only fed back to the clinical research team in the pseudo-anonymised form of a unique study ID for data analysis. This change was incorporated into the original ethical permission as a major amendment. These results were not recorded in the patients notes but in a study database on secure, password protected encrypted NHS computers. Instead of the original plan of informing patients of their test results as per routine care by a qualified sexual health nurse and advised that they needed to attend for treatment. Appointments were then made for patients with positive NHS laboratory tests to be treated as per guidelines (Soni et al. 2019; Fifer et al. 2020) and routine practice.

Due to alterations made to the overall study in response to the pandemic, variations occurred in the dataset of this study between the data collected pre- and post-pandemic. To add to the statistical power of the study, data comparable between both between pre- and postlockdown was analysed via a two-sample t-test when possible. Data analysed separately was then compared to detect any observable differences in treatment outcomes before and after the pandemic.

2.3.4 Statistical Analysis of Clinical Study Primary Outcomes

The primary outcome measures of this study that were statistically analysed were:

- Incidence rates of the five target pathogens (*N. gonorrhoea, M. genitalium, M. hominis, U. ureaplasma* and *U. parvum*).
- Incidence rates of tetracycline resistance observed in *M. hominis*, ciprofloxacin resistance observed in *N. gonorrhoea* samples, and azithromycin resistance observed in *M. genitalium* samples.
- Disparities in pathogen incidence rates between genders
- Disparities in pathogen incidence rates between pre- and post-Covid time periods.

An analysis of the tetracycline resistance rates of *Ureaplasma spp.* was initially planned but could not be undertaken due to intractable issues with the non-specificity of the Ureaplasma *tet*M primers, as outlined later in this work. To assess the reliability of our study and the likelihood of detecting true effects, I initially conducted a power analysis using SPSS with a threshold power of 0.8 or higher. This calculation was repeated post-hoc when the sample

size was reduced due to pandemic restrictions. Statistical analysis was undertaken using either the Chi-square or Fisher's exact test for the comparison of categorical variables between demographic groups, with datasets tested in advance using the Kolmogorov– Smirnov test to assess parametric or non-parametric distribution for the most suitable test, and an independent samples t-test or Mann–Whitney U-test was used for comparing continuous variables with normal and non-normal distribution between demographic groups respectively. All statistical calculations were generated via use of SPSS (v29).

2.3.5 Growth of Isolates in Presence of Sex Hormones

As there is an observed link between the prevalence and bacterial load of *U. parvum* in female patients, as compared to *U. parvum* in men or *U. urealyticum* in women, I attempted to investigate potential mechanisms behind this variation in prevalence. The usage of sex hormones was based on the established relationship between Ureaplasma culture and sex hormone injections observed in rat models by Furr and Taylor-Robinson (Furr and Taylor-Robinson 1989; Taylor-Robinson and Furr 1990).

To investigate this phenomenon, three U. parvum strains (HPA5, ATCC-27815 and F2) and three U. urealyticum strains (HPA71, Vancouver and UUg1) were chosen to be analysed due to the availability of their fully sequenced genomes. Previous trial runs of this experiment suffered issues as ureaplasma strains grown overnight from frozen produced wildly disparate but uniformly low growth rates, so to standardize growth rates pre-experiment, the strains were grown for two days before the experiment. Each day, a sub-culture taken was taken from the highest positive culture dilution well (provided this was $\geq 1 \times 10^{-4}$ CCU) that demonstrated colour change in line with bacterial growth (from yellow to red), to prevent the recent thawing of the strains influencing bacterial growth during the 12 hours of monitored growth. Each of the six isolates were grown in ten sterile 1.5ml Eppendorf tubes each containing 1ml of Mycoplasma Experience Ureaplasma media (Reigate, UK), with each containing one of the ten concentrations of sex hormone (six concentrations of testosterone and four concentrations of beta-oestradiol) chosen for testing, for a total of sixty cultures. In addition to these test cultures, a 1ml vial of culture of each isolate was grown with no additional hormones as a negative control. There is (currently) no known growth-enhancing reagent for Ureaplasma and growth-restricting reagents would likely kill the culture mid- or pre-experiment, so it was not possible to add a positive control to the experiment.

Both testosterone and beta-oestradiol were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich and prepared as per manufacturer's instructions. The beta-oestradiol used was in the form of water-soluble cyclodextrin-encapsulated 17 β -oestradiol, while the testosterone used was at 1.0 mg/mL concentration in acetonitrile. Both reagents were dissolved in molecular grade water to produce the appropriate concentrations of stock solutions. Stock solutions were diluted in Mycoplasma Experience Ureaplasma media to achieve the necessary concentrations. This formulation of Ureaplasma selective media invariably contained hormones found in bovine serum extract (Naskar et al. 2016) as a necessary growth metabolite, but the same formulation of media was used to ensure minimal bias between the two cohorts of varying beta-oestradiol and testosterone concentrations.

Hormone concentrations were chosen to approximate detectable levels of beta-oestradiol and testosterone in blood across the different stages of the menstrual cycle, which is established to have effects on the pH, presence of hormone receptors and overall cytology of the urogenital tract (Robinson et al. 2013; Malik Aubead 2021). These values were based on reference ranges of both beta-oestradiol and testosterone in turn taken from recent clinical studies as appropriate for male and female patients (Tourgeman et al. 1999; Anckaert et al. 2021). For beta-oestradiol, a concentrations of Opg/ml were chosen as a negative control value, with further concentrations of 62.5pg/ml chosen to approximate patients on combined oral contraceptives and general oestradiol levels in males, 300pg/ml chosen to approximate the follicular phase of the menstrual cycle, and 1000pg/ml was chosen to approximate both the luteal and ovulatory phases due to significant overlap in the hormone levels of these two phases. For testosterone levels, concentration ranges are far broader and relate more to individual physiological variations, so a range of concentrations of 0, 0.5, 1, 2, 8 and 30 nmol/L were chosen to cover the total possible range of clinically relevant concentrations in men and women. There was no known reagent that was established to promote Ureaplasma growth at the time of the experiment, and as such it was not possible to use a positive control for growth. As such, optimal conditions established as conducive to good growth were used instead.

For each of the specified sex hormone concentrations, 1 ml of Ureaplasma broth media with the requisite hormone concentration was inoculated with 30µl of the prepared Ureaplasma culture. The mixture was briefly agitated to ensure a uniform distribution of bacterial cells across the 1 ml. Subsequently, 50µl samples were extracted at inoculation (0 hours) and every 2 hours post-inoculation for testing and archival purposes across 12 hours. From each of these samples, 5µl was then analysed using the qPCR assay detailed in section 2.3.2 to determine the initial quantity of bacterial cells. These values were in turn statistically analysed using GraphPad Prism software version 7 to assess changes in growth of statistical significance. Mann Whitney U-tests were conducted on each growth curve generated from each hormone concentration to ascertain if variations in the concentrations of hormone significantly altered growth curves from the negative control. In addition, Tukey Fence calculations were undertaken to confirm the appropriate usage of U-tests for the values generated. The generation time of isolates was calculated using the bacterial cell count at 0 hours and the final recorded value at 12 hours, input into the following equation: Doubling time = [Duration·ln(2)]/[In(Initial concentration/Final concentration)]. The relationship between doubling time and hormone concentration was interrogated via linear regression, with an R² value of >=0.2 used as an initial threshold for a significant relationship between the two variables.
3 Antimicrobial Guardian Study – An Interventional Clinical Study

3.1 Introduction

The management and treatment of sexually transmitted infections is of increasing importance to health care practitioners and providers, due to the growing rates of infections that are resistant to available treatment options, as well as the short- and long-term effects these pathogens can have on wider health. This can include chronic, painful conditions such as non-gonococcal urethritis in men (Beeton et al. 2019; Henkel 2021) and pelvic inflammatory disease in women (Darville 2021), infertility (Boujemaa et al. 2018) and even increased prevalence of urogenital cancers (Fiori et al. 2013; Garbas et al. 2021). According to NHS Wales, rates of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* have increased by 14% between 2018 and 2019 (PHW 2019) in both heterosexual men and MSM (Men having Sex with Men). Rates of *Mycoplasma genitalium* were not diagnosed until much more recently, and due to the pressures of the Covid-19 pandemic, Public Health Wales has not been able to publish data since 2019 at time of writing. As of 2019, BASHH guidelines estimated the prevalence of *M. genitalium* at 1-2% of the total population and between 4-38% of STI clinic attendees (Soni et al. 2019), demonstrating both a relatively high prevalence but also a lack of precision in our ability to monitor the prevalence of this pathogen.

STIs such as N. gonorrhoea and M. genitalium not only affect the short-term quality-of-life of patients but also the long-term outcomes in closely related areas such as fertility and obstetrics. M. genitalium has been noted by researchers to significantly increase the risk of pre-term birth and female infertility (Jensen et al. 2016; Ma et al. 2021), long-term cell damage that can lead to urogenital cancers (Tantengco et al. 2021a) as well as neonatal infections such as ophthalmia neonatorum (Vallely et al. 2018). STIs specifically have been identified internationally as pathogens of concern due to their rising rates of resistance to the remaining antibiotics available to treat them (WHO 2018,2019) with N. gonorrhoea and M. genitalium rapidly developing high rates of antimicrobial resistances. The Mycoplasma genitalium Antimicrobial Resistance Surveillance (MARS) pilot studies conducted from March 2019 to March 2020 (Fifer et al. 2021) showed a macrolide resistance rate of 69% across both studies, a rise in fluoroquinolone resistance from 9% to 11% and a rise in dual resistance from 5% to 10%. The current gonococcal resistance to antimicrobials surveillance programme (GRASP) report (UKHSA 2022) notes that ciprofloxacin resistance has increased from 44.3% to 46.9% from 2020 to 2021 and that penicillin resistance has increased from 9.6% to 14.1% across the same period. Furthermore, azithromycin has shown similar increases from 8.7% to 15.2%, and tetracycline resistance is so high in GC (75.2%) that it is not considered as a treatment option. Ceftriaxone resistance is incredibly low (0.07%), but there has been a substantial increase in the number of ceftriaxone-resistant cases referred to UKHSA, with 11 cases in 2022 as compared to none in 2020 and only 3 in 2021. Relating to the rise of antimicrobial resistance in Mollicutes pathogens, a key component of this study is the inclusion of *M. hominis* and *Ureaplasma* spp., pathogens which have generated concern as their proposed screening has been posited to contribute to the excessive treatment of STIs with unnecessary antibiotics, most prominently in commercially available tests with limited clinical oversight (Horner et al. 2018).

Another key factor in the treatment of STIs are the various barriers to treatment that can delay prompt and effective care. While treatment failures due to antibiotic resistance are the main topic of this work, there are other important factors that impact treatment outcomes such as potential reinfection from untreated partners and a lack of capacity for test of cure procedures (Ovens et al. 2020), which can create difficulties in the integration of AMR surveillance into pre-existing sexual health care services. Another aspect of AMR surveillance that presents issues is the ability to provide healthcare in a relevant timescale. The current time taken for an STI diagnosis provided by NHS Wales from initial consultation to the results being reported back to the patient can take up to two weeks (Blomquist et al. 2018). As a result, patients who present at a sexual health clinic could be left with painful and distressing symptoms (Raffe and Soni 2022), which in turn leads to clinicians regularly prescribing antibiotics using an initial empirical diagnosis until a laboratory diagnosis can be obtained. This can in turn act as a selective pressure for AMR in these pathogens, further reducing the effectiveness of these antibiotics (Guschin et al. 2015; Bottery et al. 2017; Boujemaa et al. 2018; Porse et al. 2020). Therefore, one objective of this chapter is to demonstrate the prevalence of these organisms as clinically relevant pathogens that can be observed in symptomatic patients, which can then be rapidly assessed for antimicrobial susceptibility in tandem with their detection.

Previously outlined reservations on the usage of these rapid assays and their contribution to the development of AMR (Jensen et al. 2016) are valid and considered in this work, this objective is significantly informed by the realities of sexual healthcare. Rapid diagnostic assays have already been widely proliferated across both sexual healthcare (Karellis et al. 2022). While pre-existing issues with their formulation and resistance thresholds drive a great deal of this aspect of my work (Beeton and Spiller 2017), ultimately it is my opinion that these types of diagnostic kits are an established tool that cannot be put back in Pandora's box, but must instead be improved and refined to mitigate and ultimately eliminate their substantial downsides. A second objective of this chapter is to analyse the accuracy, precision and specificity of these assays used and their subsequent suitability for clinical purposes. This part of my work is the most extensively altered from its original design due to the Covid pandemic impacting the clinical study component of the chapter. As such, it also includes an analysis on the variations between infection rates and AMR prevalence pre- and post-pandemic.

In summary, the primary questions this chapter sought to address were:

- What are the incidence rates of *M. hominis, U. ureaplasma* and *U. parvum* in the specified sexual health patient cohort, and how do these compare to the prevalence rate of two well-established sexual health pathogens *N. gonorrhoea* and *M. genitalium*?
- What is the frequency of antimicrobial resistance present in these target pathogens? This question focuses on those resistances most clinically relevant to my target pathogens tetracycline resistance in *M. hominis*, ciprofloxacin resistance in *N. gonorrhoea* and azithromycin resistance in *M. genitalium*.
- Can we observe disparities in pathogen incidence rates between genders, and between pre- and post-Covid time periods?
- Can we observe any changes in *Ureaplasma* growth when cultured in varied concentrations of sex hormones (beta-oestradiol and testosterone) that correspond to levels as they vary across hormonal cycles?

3.2 Results

3.2.1 Patient Demographics

In total 160 patients were successfully recruited to the study, with 79 patients recruited prepandemic and 81 patients recruited post-pandemic, Of the 160 patients there was a clear gender bias present in the cohort with 112 female patients and 48 male patients consenting for participation in the study. More specifically, 20 male patients and 61 female patients were recruited pre-pandemic, and 28 male patients and 51 female patients were recruited postpandemic. While this means there is an overall gender bias in the study cohort between male and female participants, the distribution of male and female patients was not significantly different before and after the pandemic, suggesting that this is a consistent gender disparity in clinic attendance. In total, *U. parvum* was present in 22.5% of patients, *M. hominis* was present in 11.9% of patients, *U. urealyticum* was present in 8.1% of patients, *N. gonorrhoea* was present in 4.4% of patients and *M. genitalium* was present in 2.5% of patients, with 41.25% of patients being found to carry any one or more of the study's target pathogens.

3.2.2 Analysis of Pathogen Incidence

Due to the pandemic requiring the study to reduce the sample size from 1000 patients to 160, the study was limited in the statistical power that was initially expected when this experiment was first designed. Nonetheless, Fisher's exact analysis found that both U. parvum and M. *hominis* were significantly more prevalent in female patients (p > 0.05). U. parvum was the most common pathogen detected in all cohorts (male, female, before pandemic and after pandemic) and was present in almost a quarter of all female patients tested in the study and had over twice the detection rate (as a percentage) in symptomatic female patients as the pathogen did in symptomatic male patients, suggesting a gender bias in U. parvum pathogenicity. A similar gender disparity was detected in *M. hominis*, which as the second most prevalent pathogen detected in female patients was three times more prevalent (12% versus 4%) in female patients than in male patients. In comparison, the other target pathogens (M. genitalium, U. urealyticum and N. gonorrhoea) were not significantly more prevalent in either gender, although only U. urealyticum had a lower prevalence in female patients over male patients, with other target pathogens being equal or higher in prevalence. This was also in line with female patients being found by t-test to be significantly more likely to carry one or more of the study's target pathogens (p > 0.05).

In comparison, it was surprising to find that there was no statistically significant difference in pathogen incidence before and after the pandemic overall, considering the legal restrictions on movement that were in place during the pandemic. One potential hypothesis for these observations could be that in both cohorts, transmission predominantly occurred between co-habiting sexual partners (which precludes a degree of promiscuity), and another might relate to dysbiosis caused by Covid leading to immunologically mediated symptoms. In their case, quantifying these theories would require access to detailed patient records unavailable as per ethical approval. In any event, the level rates pre- and post-pandemic are unusual considering the legal restrictions on meeting people outside of one's "bubble", but this does reply on the assumption that patients universally adhered to these restrictions, which cannot be assumed.



Figure 3-1 - The distribution of pathogens detected in 160 patients tested as part of the Antibiotic Guardian Study. Patients may have been tested via multiple sample types based on symptoms, with one or more positive detection leading to treatment.

As seen in Table 3-1, vaginal samples were determined by chi-squared test to be significantly more common in U. parvum, M. hominis, and negative samples. M. genitalium was not detected frequently enough to draw any inferences, but the significant prevalence of positive vaginal samples in U. parvum and M. hominis as compared to N. gonorrhoeae and U. urealyticum does make sense when considered in the context of acknowledged gender disparities in Ureaplasma infections (Horner et al. 2018). Nonetheless, this variance must also be considered in the context of the study's sampling bias, with a 2:1 female-to-male ratio. Another finding is that the initial bacterial count threshold of 1x10² was likely overly conservative. *M. genitalium* was detected at around the 1x10² threshold, but all other pathogens targeted had an average bacterial count of >1x10⁴. Once again, the small sample size of *M. genitalium* makes it difficult to infer aspects such as bacterial count, but when considering the other pathogenic targets in this study, it may be possible to adjust the threshold of positivity. This would have to be backed by analysis of asymptomatic patients, which would require further work. Both the in-house qPCR methodology outlined in this work and the commercial SpeeDx kits used for the detection of pathogens demonstrated a 100% concordance of results, with all samples tested for N. gonorrhoea and M. genitalium producing the same detection results with both assays used. Furthermore, while only 50% of samples that tested positive for GC via PCR subsequently produced viable agar cultures, 100% of all cultures successfully grown correlated with the initial qPCR results.

Target	M. genitalium				М	. hom	inis			N. go	onorrh	oeae			U. ur	ealytic	cum			U.	parvı	ım			Ν	egativ	e			
Sample Type	Oral	Rectal	Urethral	Vaginal	Urine	Oral	Rectal	Urethral	Vaginal	Urine	Oral	Rectal	Urethral	Vaginal	Urine	Oral	Rectal	Urethral	Vaginal	Urine	Oral	Rectal	Urethral	Vaginal	Urine	Oral	Rectal	Urethral	Vaginal	Urine
Samples Collected	0	0	0	3	1	0	0	0	12	2	2	0	0	4	1	0	1	0	8	4	4	0	0	27	5	10	2	0	63	33
Total Samples Collected			4					14					7					13					36					108		
Concordance (%)	-	-	-	100	100	-	-	-	100	100	50	-	-	50	0	-	100	-	100	100	100	-	-	100	100	-	-	-	-	-
Bacterial Count by Sample (Av.)	I	-	I	1x10 ²	1x10 ²	ı	-	T	8.42.x10 ⁴	4.5x10 ⁴	1.96x10 ⁴	-	-	3.40x10 ⁵	2.79x10 ⁴	ı	1.0x10 ²	ı	1.26x10 ⁵	·	1x10 ²	I	ı	1.43x10 ⁵	3.33x10 ⁵	-	1	1	-	-
Bacterial Copy by Species (Av.)			1x10 ²	2			e	5.46x1	04			1	.29x10	5			6	.3x10 ⁴				1	.59x1(D₂				-		

Table 3-1 - Clinical data by sample type collected during AGS clinical study.Multiple sample types could be collected from patients in line with presentingsymptoms.Bacterial count was calculated by gene copy count generated as part of RT-qPCR analysis.



Figure 3-2 – The distribution of pathogens detected in male and female patients, as well as before and after pandemic restrictions. All four categories show that *U. parvum* is the most common bacteria present. *M. hominis* is the second most prevalent pathogen overall and in women specifically, while *U. urealyticum* is the second most prevalent pathogen in male patients.

3.2.3 Detection of Resistance in Clinical Samples

Antimicrobial resistance in samples was relatively high, with three out of four (75%) M. genitalium samples testing positive for 23S-mediated azithromycin resistance and 42.9% of all N. gonorrhoea samples testing positive for S91F-mediated ciprofloxacin resistance. Tetracycline resistance in *M. hominis* was unable to be accurately quantified from initial qPCR analysis as of the 37 samples that tested positive for the presence of tetM, 14 had no target pathogens detected and thus carried *tet*M due to the presence of other tetracycline-resistant pathogens. I ultimately determined that tetracycline resistance in *M. hominis* specifically could not be accurately detected by initial testing of patient samples with the in-house assay, as the tetM primers and probes I used were not specific enough to both accurately detect the presence of tetM in M. hominis while also excluding the presence of tetM homologs contained in other commonly occurring endogenous bacterium in the same sample. Furthermore, due to the truncation of this aspect of my research due to the pandemic, there was no scope for a re-design of my Ureaplasma. tetM primer and probe set. However, after culture enrichment of Mycoplasma and Ureaplasma in selective medium, qPCR presence of tetM was specific only to tetracycline-resistant isolates and the background *tet*M signal was removed. Tetracycline resistance was detected in 75% of *M. hominis* isolates. Figure 3-4 shows an alignment of tetM genes from reference strains corresponding to each of the target pathogens of the clinical study, demonstrating the high level of homology between each gene, well above 90% for each pathogen. Furthermore, when antimicrobial susceptibility testing was conducted via culturebased methods, 100% of M. hominis, U. parvum and U. urealyticum shared concordance of antimicrobial susceptibility results, but only 50% of N. gonorrhoea was able to be cultured to verify the phenotypic ciprofloxacin resistance relative to the molecular detection methods.

3.2.4 Genomic Analysis of Fluoroquinolone-Resistant GC

In total, four patients were diagnosed with a GC infection with the in-house kit and confirmed by supplementary culture-based testing. An additional six patient samples tested with the in-house kit were found to test positive for one diagnostic probe (Opa OR por(A)) but could not be considered a positive result for GC due to the lack of concordance between the two gene targets. Furthermore, supplementary same-day analysis with SpeeDx confirmed these findings as negative results. Post-pandemic, a concordance of results between the in-house and SpeeDx kits was used to detect GC in patient samples as results were not reported back to clinicians for next-day treatment (which was part of the prepandemic study design), and all three samples positive for GC were identified concurrently with the in-house assay and the commercial SpeeDx assay. All three ciprofloxacin-resistant N. gonorrhoea samples being identified post-pandemic was considered notable in a clinical context, but likely due to the small sample size no statistically significant variances in resistance before and after the pandemic could be detected. The genomes of all three ciprofloxacin-resistant isolates detected jointly by the in-house assay and the SpeeDx commercial kit (AGS151, AGS 138, and AGS152) were analysed via disk diffusion using CDC thresholds of resistance and it was found that the Oxoid GC specific agar plate used was contaminated with Kingella dentrificans, a closely related bacterium that under initial observation appeared as N. gonorrhoea. Subsequent testing showed that the K. dentrificans genome sequenced contained neither of the opa or por(A) targets utilized by either

molecular assay which means it therefore could not have been detected by either assay. Ciprofloxacin-resistant *N. gonorrhoea* sampled from patient AGS138 was found to contain the expected S19F point mutation that was both detected by the assay and is established to confer clindamycin resistance in *N. gonorrhoea*, as shown in Figure 3-3.



Figure 3-3 – An alignment of the variation between gyr(A) QRDR regions present in two *N. gonorrhoea* genomes. Pictures A and B show both bacteria sampled from patients AGS138, AGS151 and AGS152 on Oxoid agar plates, with antibiotic diffusion disks containing ciprofloxacin. AGS138 demonstrates a 20mm diameter zone of inhibition surrounding a Cip 5 disk, while AGS152 demonstrates a 55mm diameter zone with the same Cip 5 disk, demonstrating a significantly lower resistance to ciprofloxacin. AGS151 contains a ciprofloxacin-susceptible bacterium (zone diameter <20mm) now known to be *K. dentrificans*.



Figure 3-4 – **An alignment of tetM genes from common urogenital microflora and target pathogens of the study.** Species, reference strain designation, and percentage similarity is indicated in the blue labels, relative to the HPA23 strain of *M. hominis* labelled in black. Point mutations are indicated in yellow lines present in the green identity bar and as black dashes relative to each gene in the alignment.

3.2.5 Growth of *Ureaplasma spp*. in the Presence of Sex Hormones

Given that *U. parvum* has been observed to have a much greater propensity to be isolated from female patients (Redelinghuys et al. 2014) and that previous mouse model experiments indicate that female mice can only be colonised with Ureaplasma strains following pre-treatment with oestrogen (Furr and Taylor-Robinson 1989), experiments were designed to see if there was a direct effect of oestrogen or testosterone on the growth of *Ureaplasma parvum* and/or *Ureaplasma urealyticum*. growth. Full growth curve data can be found at Appendix Table 8-8 and Table 8-9, and is summarised and discussed here.

As cultures were sub-cultured each day for 48 hours in advance of the experiment (as per the methods described in section 2.2.1), bacterial growth was consistently observed to be exponential for the entire 12 hours of growth of both *U. parvum* and *U. urealyticum*, as shown by Appendix Figures 8-2 through 8-5. Final bacterial growth values of *U. parvum* were consistently higher than that of *U. urealyticum* when grown in the presence of beta-oestradiol, in line both with previous culture of these strains and the wider literature (Furr and Taylor-Robinson 1989; Taylor-Robinson and Furr 1990). In comparison, *U. urealyticum* cultured in testosterone consistently grew to final bacterial counts an order of magnitude higher than comparable cultures grown in beta-oestradiol. There was no statistical significance found in the variance of testosterone levels, but the broad observation of testosterone as a growth agent for *U. urealyticum* may relate to its acknowledged role in non-gonococcal urethritis (Horner et al. 2018).

Variation in growth rates was further investigated via Mann-Whitney U-Test, comparing each hormone concentration to its relevant negative control to detect any statistically significant increase and/or decrease in growth rate. Statistical analysis found no statistically significant variation in any of the hormone concentrations from the negative control cultures lacking in sex hormone. Furthermore, the p-values of these growth curves were incredibly high, with only two data points demonstrating a p-value <0.10. It should be noted that both "near-fails" were for the *U. parvum* isolate F2 when grown in the presence of testosterone, although which may indicate an avenue for further investigation. Nonetheless it is difficult to determine a causal link due my inability to repeat the experiment again due to pandemic-related time constraints.

When the relationship between doubling time and hormone concentration was examined via linear regression, *U. parvum* isolate F2 once again demonstrated interesting data, with an R² value of 0.273, signifying hormone concentration contributed to 27.3% of the variance in doubling time. As these concentrations relate to specific points of the menstrual cycle, it is notable that the doubling times of both these cultures was significantly lower in the concentrations relating to the luteal and ovulatory phase, which form the "latter half" of the menstrual cycle. *U. urealyticum* isolate UUg1 demonstrated an even stronger regression R² value of 0.796, but this is tempered by poor growth of the isolate overall, suggesting the results observed may likely be a statistical outlier I was unable to repeat due to pandemic-related time constraints.

Ultimately, there was no discernible variation of growth that correlated with any of the specific concentrations of either beta-oestradiol or testosterone that were tested, but broad

trends relating to hormone/pathogen concentrations were observed. *U. parvum* grew to consistently higher final bacterial counts in the presence of beta-oestradiol than *U. urealyticum*, and *U. urealyticum* grew to consistently higher final bacterial counts in the presence of testosterone. The lack of statistical significance between hormone concentrations makes it difficult to ascribe a mechanism for this variation, but nonetheless provides a starting point for further work. Likewise, the relatively high relationship between hormone levels and doubling time in some *U. parvum* isolates cultured in beta-oestradiol provides some evidence for a link between U. parvum growth and variations ion hormone levels during the menstrual cycle that could form the basis further investigation.

Table 3-2 – Doubling times for *Ureaplasma parvum* and *Ureaplasma urealyticum* isolates cultured in sex hormone. Datapoints found to be significantly correlate with hormone concentration are written in **bold**. Datapoints that are suspected to be outliers are written in *italics*.

(a)	Doubling Time (mins)								
	L	J. parvun	n	U. urealyticum					
Concentration	HPA5	ATCC-	F2	HPA71	Vancouver	UUg1			
		27815							
0	110.6	176.4	189.0	269.7	176.4	330.0			
62.5pg/ml	115.6	129.7	79.2	79.1	129.7	373.0			
300pg/ml	136.2	97.3	109.6	220.4	97.3	172.5			
1000pg/ml	121.3	129.3	82.0	164.5	128.3	95.2			
R ² value	0.092	0.110	0.273	0.016	0.120	0.796			

(b)	Doubling Time (mins)									
		U. parvun	ו	U. urealyticum						
Concentration	HPA5	ATCC-	F2	HPA71	Vancouver	UUg1				
		27815								
0	56.5	100.2	114.2	56.5	100.2	114.2				
0.5nmol/L	110.3	97.7	229.0	110.3	97.7	229.0				
1nmol/L	111.2	191.6	77.6	111.2	191.6	77.6				
2nmol/L	69.5	139.1	88.3	69.5	139.1	88.3				
8nmol/L	106.8	134.4	103.5	106.8	134.4	103.5				
30nmol/L	76.8	87.0	172.4	76.8	87.0	172.4				
R ² value	0.022	0.188	0.075	0.022	0.188	0.075				

3.3 Discussion

U. parvum was the most prevalent urogenital bacterium detected, present in both 11% of males and 23% of females, followed by *M. hominis* being detected in 8% of males and 7% of females. 86.1% and 89.5% of samples of *U. parvum* and *M. hominis* respectively were found in female patients, showing a clear bias towards being isolated in female patients and in tandem with the selection criteria of symptomatic patients further demonstrates a potential link between these bacteria and pathogenicity. This is further emphasized by the higher incidence rate of these pathogens than *N. gonorrhoea* or *M. genitalium*, while presenting with the same spectrum of symptoms. However, this must be considered in the context of the cohort, as 112 female patients and 48 male patients creates an almost 3-to-1 ratio between female and male patients and a clear bias in the sampling. This was not entirely unexpected, as there is a known bias towards female attendance of STI clinics (Tanton et al. 2018), although the severity seen in this dataset was surprising.

A key finding was the strong bias of *U. parvum* present in female patients, over twice as often as in male patients. *U. parvum* has long been established as a pathogen in neonatal medicine, with studies demonstrating its link to chorioamnionitis (Knox et al. 2010; Sweeney et al. 2017a; Sprong et al. 2020), premature birth (Motomura et al. 2020) and spontaneous abortion (Oliveira et al. 2020), yet studies assessing its role in symptomatic women that have fed into official guidelines have cited the lack of evidence of its pathogenicity as a reason why it should not be screened as a sexual pathogen (Horner et al. 2018). This is counterbalanced by the fact that the official guidance stating the "non-pathogen" status of urogenital ureaplasma is tempered by the possibility that it could be the causal bacterium if at high enough levels in non-gonococcal urethritis patients (Jensen et al. 2016), complicating matters.

The work described in this chapter seeks to answer the call for more data and evidence, with a focus on patients presenting with specific symptoms, as a major source of doubt as to the pathogenicity of *U. parvum* has been its ubiquity as a commensal in the urogenital tract of asymptomatic patients (Ikonomidis et al. 2016; Beeton and Spiller 2017; Viscardi and Waites 2017). This has meant that meta-analysis has identified previous studies as suffering from an inability to control for the presence of other infections and/or conditions (Jonduo et al. 2022) such as the common pathogenic causes of bacterial vaginosis (Frølund et al. 2019; Rittenschober-Böhm et al. 2019). Therefore, a key focus of this work was the observation of abnormally high levels of urogenital mycoplasmas in symptomatic patients while being able to exclude confounding conditions such as BV and *Candida*. Likewise, *M. hominis* had a far higher incidence in female patients (12%) than male patients (4%), once again suggesting a sex-based component to its pathogenicity. *M. hominis* has also been implicated in adverse neonatal outcomes (Ansari et al. 2021), as well as being extensively investigated for its role in infertility (Huang et al. 2016; Boujemaa et al. 2018; Wang et al. 2019; Paira et al. 2021), so an area of further work might be investigating the reasons for this disparity.

Several demographic factors relating to the observed disparity in incidence across the sexes have been implicated as contributing factors towards the incidence of these diseases (Siles-Guerrero et al. 2020), but the factors that were available for study were limited by ethical and practical considerations to age and biological sex. One major component that I was not able

to examine was sexual partners, as the limitations on patient data made this infeasible to track and confirm in practice. Understanding the relationship between STI pathogenicity and the influence of sexual dynamics is a major component in not only the obvious contributions to the spread of an STI (Wihlfahrt et al. 2023), but also a key component in understanding the duration of infectiousness and overall infection timespans (Cina et al. 2019)

These factors could be able to provide the body of evidence required to firmly establish the pathogenicity of mollicutes such as *M. hominis* and *Ureaplasma spp*. Hormonal levels are a well-known factor in the development of pathogenic STIs, with the first works describing the link between hormonal injections and the growth of Ureaplasma in rat models dating back over twenty years (Furr and Taylor-Robinson 1989; Taylor-Robinson and Furr 1990). While there is a body of evidence on the links between hormonal levels and the promotion of bacteria-cell adhesion in infection of the urinary tract and reproductive tract in animal models (Kemp et al. 2014; Pavlidis et al. 2020; Tantengco et al. 2022), there is far less work that describes the direct effect of hormonal levels on the growth of Ureaplasma. While it is hard to theorise on the reasons why research was not carried out, it is likely due to both the disparate ranges of hormonal concentrations that can occur in the human body, along with the difficult nature of culturing Ureaplasma in what could easily be non-optimal conditions caused by the presence of these hormones.

The wide range of concentrations that were tested to ascertain a primary effect were further exacerbated by the relatively slow growth of Ureaplasma, with U. parvum and U. urealyticum demonstrating 60-90 minute doubling times under laboratory conditions (Stemler et al. 1987), making the detection of growth in real-time unfeasible in many circumstances. Other aspects of Ureaplasma culture such as its fastidious culture requirements have been described earlier in this work, and only added to the difficulty in testing any hormone-related hypothesis. As such, a key part of analysing the primary effects of hormone concentration on Ureaplasma growth was to develop a methodology that was able to accurately and repeatably test whether such a primary effect occurred in vitro. If such an effect could be observed, it would have helped explain the variable nature of Ureaplasma spp. pathogenicity that has made widescale healthcare surveillance difficult to implement. Due to time constraints (relating once again to pandemic restrictions and the subsequent limitation on in vitro work), the methodology used in this study was not able to be refined and developed based on the initial findings outlined here. Nonetheless, the broad trend for U. parvum to grow more readily in the presence of beta-oestradiol and the likewise trend for U. urealyticum to grow more readily in the presence of testosterone provides some information that might form the basis of further investigations into the underlying mechanisms of these trends.

As an avenue of research, secondary mechanisms for the pathogenicity of *Ureaplasma spp.* have been investigated in previous works, with meta-analyses (Sweeney et al. 2017a) describing the current understanding of *Ureaplasma* spp. pathogenicity and how the main virulence factors considered currently relate to the avoidance of host immune systems. Multiple banded antigens (MBA) are well-established to aid in the avoidance of immune system recognition (Aboklaish et al. 2016; Sweeney et al. 2017b; Yang et al. 2020a) and it was established as early as 1984 that Ureaplasma was capable of synthesizing Immunoglobulin A

(IgA) Protease as a defence mechanism (Kilian et al. 1984). Less work has been done on the links between sex hormones and Ureaplasma infections, with works investigating the effects of Ureaplasma spp. on female patients strongly focusing on the impact the species can have on pregnancy and neonatal outcomes (Knox et al. 2010; Payne et al. 2016; Beeton and Spiller 2017; Sweeney et al. 2017b). As such, broader comparisons of sex bias are not as available in the literature, demonstrating a gap of knowledge in our understanding. Cytokines are a family of signalling proteins that form a key component of a healthy immune system by helping regulate the cell signalling systems of the immune system (Kany et al. 2019), and are in turn regulated by the secretion of oestradiol and progesterone (Bereshchenko et al. 2018). The levels of these cytokines have been observed to vary across pre-menopausal female patients with U. urealyticum and M. genitalium infections when compared to control groups (Garza et al. 2021), in turn effecting the composition of *Lactobacillus* colonies in the patient microbiome. The confounding presence of microbiomes is regularly cited as a confounding factor in the analysis of urogenital *Mollicutes* pathogenicity, with the observed links between these bacterium and bacterial vaginosis (Frølund et al. 2019; Rittenschober-Böhm et al. 2019; Vodstrcil et al. 2021) and/or Trichomonas vaginalis (Fürnkranz et al. 2018; Dessì et al. 2019) being two such factors that complicate efforts to narrow down the precise mechanisms that cause the variable pathogenicity of these bacterium.

Mollicutes such as M. genitalium, M. hominis and U. spp. are still extremely difficult to culture within an NHS diagnostics lab (Soni et al. 2019) and require specialized training that many laboratories may not be able to access. Therefore, while molecular tests for STIs such as M. genitalium are recommended for all patients who present with relevant symptoms, such tests are conducted by special request only (Soni et al. 2019) and so in practice many STIs can be missed or simply unviable to consistently achieve in sexual health practice. Modern molecular testing kits such as the SpeeDx kits used in this work are available, but even clinically validated kits usable in a healthcare setting can present significant financial problems. A study by Huntington et al. (2018) demonstrated that multiplex qPCR testing provided many benefits to patient outcomes that could contribute to lowering the overall cost of NHS STI care provision but was counterbalanced by significant increases in the up-front cost of implementing and providing these services. While it is acknowledged that the implementation of such molecular assays carries benefits, an aversion to funding the significant costs in implementation is by far the most common reason for the lack of provision currently available (Wi et al. 2019; Footman et al. 2021). Nonetheless, current gold standards in culture-based diagnosis are known to be too slow, insufficiently comprehensive, and prone to overly subjective interpretations (Trotter et al. 2019) and NAATs such as multiplex qPCR-based analysis, while expensive, can overcome these persistent difficulties (Raffe and Soni 2022). Therefore, it is acknowledged by official bodies that more evidence is needed (Horner et al. 2018), to better define the longterm benefits of NAATs as a diagnostic tool for sexual health pathogens of growing importance and the substantial financial costs of implementing these assays in healthcare settings.

Of the two molecular methods used for the detection of target pathogens, the in-house molecular method demonstrated a 100% concordance with both the commercial SpeeDx ResistancePlus[®] MG and SpeeDx MG+parC assays and the traditional culture-based methods

commonly used in a laboratory setting, demonstrating the reliability of these assays to produce trustworthy results. The culture-based confirmation of ciprofloxacin resistance in *N. gonorrhoea* could only be tested on 50% of the patient isolates with the commercial SpeeDx ResistancePlus[®] GC, because of the variable nature of growing *N. gonorrhoea* from patient samples. Additionally, though the percentage of *N. gonorrhoea* found to be clindamycin resistant was high (42.86%), the sample size of four out of seven instances of *N. gonorrhoea* makes it impossible to make inferences of statistical significance.

The necessity to grow *M. hominis* in selective media to ensure the accuracy of the detection of tetracycline resistance was an additional burden that could add an additional 12-24 hours to a diagnostic turnaround in the context of rapid diagnostics, but a two-day turnaround is still far shorter than the two-week turnaround that is expected of current NHS services. Tetracycline resistance mediating genes such as *tet*M share high levels of homology not just within species but also between species, as shown in Figure 3-4. A high level of homology can be accounted for in molecular assays such as the SpeeDx MG+parC assays that detect resistance-mediating point mutations, but this would require assay optimisation beyond the scope of this work's timescale.

In conclusion, I have demonstrated the both the reliability and speed of the molecular detection of the four urogenital mollicute pathogens chosen as the focus of this work, along with determining the incidence rates of relevant resistances to tetracycline, ciprofloxacin, and azithromycin. Furthermore, Figure 3-3 demonstrates the reliability of these methods for the detection and resistance profiling of *N. gonorrhoea*, as compared to traditional culture-based methods. Resistance rates were high for all relevant pathogens surveyed. Furthermore, a high degree of accuracy was demonstrated by the molecular methods when compared to traditional culture-based methods. This was apparent when these methods were used to detect both antimicrobial resistances and more broadly to ascertain the presence of these pathogens. This confirms the need for further surveillance to achieve optimal treatment outcomes, and to help control the development of antimicrobial resistances in these bacteria. Furthermore, the presence of these pathogens in symptomatic patients further suggests that while they are present only as commensals in much of the adult population, there are factors that lead to their pathogenicity in symptomatic patients that are worthy of further investigation.

4 Polymorphism Analysis of Quinolone Resistance Determining Mechanism-Mediated Resistance of Fluroquinolones in *Mycoplasma hominis*

4.1 Introduction

M. hominis as a species is naturally resistant to 14- and 15-membered ring macrolides (Krausse and Schubert 2010), due to a conserved point mutation in its 23S rRNA region (Pereyre et al. 2002). Furthermore, as a mollicute, M. hominis is structurally resistant to betalactams and cephalosporins. The remaining therapeutics for treatment are 16-membered ring macrolides, tetracyclines, and fluoroquinolones, the last of which is the family to which ciprofloxacin, levofloxacin, and moxifloxacin belong. Fluoroquinolones target the type II topoisomerases that facilitate alterations in chromosomal supercoiling necessary for transcription and DNA replication. By binding to these topoisomerases, they render the topoisomerases unable to disassociate from the DNA molecule so it cannot reform, creating wide-scale nucleotide breaks and ultimately cell death. While effective therapeutics for M. hominis, they can be associated with a variety of adverse side effects. These include tenonitis, tendon rupture, potential prolonged QT intervals, and, rarely, cardiac arrhythmia (Thai et al. 2021). This means that application of this treatment needs to be highly targeted and account for issues such as drug resistance. The mechanism for fluoroquinolone resistance in M. hominis has been established as arising from Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms (SNPs) in the Quinolone Resistance Determining Region (QRDR) of the topoisomerase genes, as best characterized for *E. coli* but also reported for *M. hominis* (Bebear et al. 1997; Bébéar et al. 1998; Van Der Putten et al. 2019). By altering the protein conformation of the resulting topoisomerases, they become immune to the disruptive effect of fluoroquinolones. As this mutation can arise with a single-point mutation, it can occur spontaneously in clinical isolates regardless of lineage, and therefore I analysed the entire gyrA, gyrB, parC, and parE genes (including the QRDR) of 72 different sequenced strains to determine the genomic mechanisms that conferred phenotypic antibiotic resistance to fluoroquinolones in these strains. I further examined fluoroquinolone-susceptible strains carrying QRDR mutations in the gyrA gene (but no concurrent parC gene) to determine if they were able to spontaneously gain a parC mutation after prolonged incubation with higher concentrations of levofloxacin. I also

investigated the prevalence of non-resistance polymorphisms in these key genes for *M. hominis,* to ensure they did not obfuscate my genomics-based analysis.

The main questions this chapter seeks to address are:

- What are the levels of genomic variation between *M. hominis* isolates, considering both total frequencies of SNPs and non-synonymous SNPs in particular?
- What are the levels of fluoroquinolone resistance in this cohort of *M. hominis* isolates, and what is the level of genomic variation we can observe in the genes that mediate fluoroquinolone resistance, as compared to total levels of genomic variation?
- When fluoroquinolone resistance is induced in *M. hominis* via exposure to sub-lethal levels of fluoroquinolone antibiotics, how does the genomic architecture of the mediating topoisomerase IV genes change, and can this be linked to resistance phenotypes?
- Does the development of resistance occur spontaneously, or is it in some way linked to geographic and/or genomic clades?

4.2 Results

4.2.1 Genomic Analysis

One limitation of this aspect of my work is that not all the genomes analysed here were able to be matched with a viable bacterial isolate. As such, any bacterial genome that could not have its genotype matched to a corresponding phenotype (via MIC) was excluded. Nonetheless, a total of 72 *M. hominis* isolate genomes were analysed across a wide range of geographic locations. 12 were isolated from Havana, Cuba; seven from Pančevo, Serbia; 31 from various locations in England, five from Perth, Australia; and 14 from Pontypridd, Wales. These were analysed as well as the ATCC prototype reference strains from France and the USA. Reference strain ATCC 33131 (Sprott strain) was also examined as a prototype strain. Table 4-1 lists the variations in SNP frequency between all isolates, both for all SNPs present and for just functional/non-synonymous SNPs. Of the four genes analysed, *gyrA* contained the highest number of SNPs of any of the four genes, with between 25 to 97 SNPs present in any one isolate relative to ATCC 23114. When non-synonymous SNPs were examined, *parC* contained the highest levels of variation with five to 10 amino acid polymorphisms in any one isolate relative to ATCC 23114.

4.2.2 Antimicrobial Resistance Testing

Of the 72 isolates that were initially analysed, three demonstrated phenotypic resistance to fluroquinolones (levofloxacin MIC > 2 mg/L and moxifloxacin MIC > 0.5 mg/L): U006, MH10-09, and MH15-03. All other isolates demonstrated conventional susceptibility to fluoroquinolones, and these three isolates were found to have non-synonymous mutations in both the *gyr*A and *par*C genes (Figure 4-2). However, full gene analysis also identified two isolates, DF28 and S019M, that carried the same *gyr*A mutation observed in U006 and MH15-3 (S153L; E. coli numbering S83L). They presented as susceptible to levofloxacin with MICs of 0.5 mg/L, although they both had an intermediate moxifloxacin MIC of 0.25 mg/L.



Figure 4-1 - Minimum inhibitory concentration for M. hominis isolates for levofloxacin and moxifloxacin. Internationally agreed thresholds for resistance are shown as dotted lines and isolates above the line are resistant to the respective fluoroquinolones. Isolates with QRDR *gyr*A-only mutations are shown (S019M as red circles and DF28 as blue circles), and MICs for these isolates following one step induction of resistance, resulting in an additional QRDR *par*C mutation, are shown as coloured squares (S019M2R as red squares and DF282R as blue squares).

4.2.3 Spontaneous Induction of Antimicrobial Resistance

Prolonged incubation of DF28 and S019M with levofloxacin resulted in spontaneous induction of resistance (MIC 4 or 8 mg/L for moxifloxacin and levofloxacin, respectively; Figure 2) within 24–48 h later, which was not observed for other isolates. Resequencing of these induced resistant isolates (named DF282R and S019M2R respectively) found induction of the same parC mutation as observed for MH10-9 S91I (S81I E. coli numbering; Figure 4-2). While the gyrA SNP of MH10-09 was observed to be shifted 12 bases downstream relative to the QRDR mutations present in other isolates, no significant difference in MICs were detected between these three isolates. It is interesting to note that while S019M and DF28 shared the observed gyrA mutation with MH15-3 and U006, the induced parC mutation aligned with that observed for MH10-9. Furthermore, U006 additionally contained an K144R mutation proposed as a source of fluoroquinolone resistance in a previous report (Zhang et al. 2019), but this polymorphism can be observed in 28 other isolates without elevated MICs in the genome cohort and therefore is clearly a non-resistance polymorphism. There can be a risk of incorrectly correlating observed genotypes with observed phenotypes, either by using an improper reference strain or automatically assuming a previously observed phenotype must automatically correlate with the genotype observed with the original observation. Regarding parC QRDR mutations, this appears to be the dominant determinant for levofloxacin and moxifloxacin resistance as only those strains carrying either S91I (E. coli numbering S81I) or E95K or V (E. coli numbering E85K or V) were phenotypically resistant. The gyr) mutation S153L is only capable of mediating an intermediate moxifloxacin MIC = 0.25 mg/L when present alone (Figure 4-1). A full breakdown of point mutations can be found at Appendices A1-A4.

4.2.4 Phylogenetic Variation of Resistant and Susceptible Isolates

As demonstrated by Figure 4-3, phylogenetic variance between resistant isolates varied significantly. DF28 and DF282R did not cluster together with S019M and S019M2R even though both pairs of isolates were a product of spontaneous resistance induction. The naturally occurring resistant isolates (MH10-09, MH15-03 and U006) were spread throughout the phylogenetic tree, indicating a low chance of resistance being shared along a subgroup or to represent clonal expansion. A full MLST-based phylogenetic analysis was not possible as the sequence quality of some of the 74 isolates was not sufficient, but an incomplete MLST-based phylogenetic analysis was undertaken and the resultant phylogenetic tree can be found at Appendix Figure 8-1. A more detailed list of (Non-)Synonymous SNPs can be found at Appendix Table 8-7.

Table 4-1 - A summary of the ranges of SNP frequencies observed across the topoisomerase genes
of each of the seventy-four isolates analysed.

Gene	Total SNPs	Non-Synonymous SNPs
gyrA	25-98	2-6
gyrA QRDR	0-4	0-1
gyrB	1-34	0-3
gyrB QRDR	0-2	0
parC	3-63	5-10
parC QRDR	0-4	0-1
parE	14-62	1-6
parE QRDR	0-4	0

	50	60	70	80
	528,776	528,786	528,796	528,806
ATCC 23114 - gvrA - ORDR	ATCACCCACATG	GAGATTC ^İ TCA	GTATATĠAAG	CTATGGT
		QRDR		
Variants: DF28		T — <mark>-</mark>		
Variants: DF282R		T <mark></mark> _		
Variants: MH10-09			G 🗕	
Variants: MH15-03		T <mark></mark>		
Variants: S019M				
Variants: S019M2R				
Variants: U006		Т —		

	50	60	70	80
	635,973	635,963	635,953	635,943
ATCC 23114 - parC - QRDR	ATCACCCTCATGG	AGATAGTT <mark>C</mark> AA	TATA <mark>C</mark> GAAG	ATTAGT
		QRDR		
Variants: DF28				
Variants: DF282R			A —	
Variants: MH10-09			T	
Variants: MH15-03		Т		
Variants: S019M				
Variants: S019M2R			A —	
Variants: U006		Т		

Figure 4-2 - The single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) of *gyrA* and *parC* genes found in the QRDR regions of all strains analysed. Orange lines represent functional or nonsynonymous mutations. No functional mutations were found in the QRDR regions of *gyrB* or *parE*.



Figure 4-3 - A phylogenetic tree of 72 isolates analysed, with two induced resistant strains linked by arrows. Phylogenetic tree was constructed via concatenations of all four topoisomerase genes (*gyrA*, *gyrB*, *parC* and *parE*. The outgroup used was *Mycoplasma pneumoniae* M129, listed on the tree under its accession number (NC000912) and marked with a red circle. Naturally occurring resistant strains are identified by arrowheads. Induced mutant resistant strains are identified by curved arrows from parent to daughter strain.

4.3 Discussion

The most prominent finding of this work was that while a single mutation in the qyrA QRDR was found associated with susceptible fluoroquinolone MICs, resistance was found to require an additional *parC* QRDR mutation. This is not a definitive claim however, as no isolates with an isolated parC QRDR mutation were identified. As such, I could only observe isolates with the pre-existing *gyrA* QRDR mutation spontaneously developed induced resistance in my work. Resistance against levofloxacin and moxifloxacin was examined, despite the fact these are rarely used to treat sexually transmitted infections (ciprofloxacin or ofloxacin being more frequently prescribed). This is as the only available internationally agreed thresholds for fluoroquinolone resistance determination (CLSI 2011) are using levofloxacin and moxifloxacin. However, MICs for ciprofloxacin are usually the same or slightly higher than those observed for levofloxacin. In our study, of the 72 isolates that underwent AMR testing, only 4% of isolates were identified as being resistant to fluoroquinolones. While this appears much lower than the >90% observed in Chinese studies that specifically investigated fluoroquinolone resistance rates (Zhang et al. 2019), this is consistent with those observed in a recent multi-national study on patients undergoing infertility investigation and symptomatic sexual health patients in the UK, France, and Serbia in 2019 that found resistance in only 2 out of 85 *M. hominis* isolates (Boostrom et al. 2021). Furthermore, a study examining 1000 sexual health patients in Wales identified 100 M. hominis isolates with no fluoroquinolone resistance (Morris et al. 2020). This cohort contained samples from a variety of geographical regions, which included all previously available, archived fluoroquinolone-resistant isolates, but were chosen because they had associated whole genome sequences, and so is not representative of a complete clinically relevant data set.

Of the three resistant isolates and two inducible isolates, there was a consistent modification of S153L of the QRDR section of *gyr*A, with MH10-09 being the exception having a E157G mutation. While not entirely uniform, the narrow band of mutation positions provides a starting point for further analysis regarding the functional effects of a mutation in this region. Mutations in the *par*C genes of these isolates were more varied, with S91I mutations observed in U006 and MH15-03, but a E95V mutation observed in MH10-09. This was further supported by the observation of variable resistance observed in S019M and DF28, which contained the exact same set of SNPs in the QRDR section of its *gyr*A region but had an E95K mutation, rather than an E95V mutation, in its *par*C gene. The earliest investigation of induced fluoroquinolone resistance in *M. hominis* through multi-step repeated challenge of isolates with ciprofloxacin, norfloxacin, pefloxacin, and ofloxacin, by Bebear et al., only reported *gyr*A QRDR mutations (Bebear et al. 1999). However, study did not have the ability to additionally amplify and examine the *par*C gene for the same resistant isolates to see if corresponding mutations were present for that gene as well. These historical studies relied on Sanger sequencing of amplicons using primers designed against conserved regions from other bacteria, while a modern analysis such as the one I have conducted has the benefit of access to long sequence contigs from high-depth next generation whole genome sequencing.

Similar examples of co-mutations contributing to a variance of antimicrobial resistances have been observed in previous studies of *M. hominis*. Observations specifically regarding the gyrase genes in other human mollicutes have been made before (Beeton et al. 2009a; Guo et al. 2019; Yang et al. 2020b), but the variance of resistance and its corresponding regulation is, to our knowledge, a novel observation made here. More broadly, other mutations have been implicated as the source for fluoroquinolone resistance such as *par*C K144R mutation (Zhang et al. 2019), which was found in resistant strain U006, but also in 28 susceptible strains. Zhang and colleagues also reported A154T *par*C mutation as a potential resistance marker; I did not find any A154T mutations, in either the susceptible or resistant strains, which does not preclude its lack of function but determine that it is not a sole determinant of fluoroquinolone resistance. Many other polymorphisms were identified but the putative *par*E mutation A463S was not found in any susceptible or resistant isolate.

One observation that can be made is the significant heterogeneity in the reference genomes that are conventionally used for *Mycoplasma hominis*. Of the 72 isolates used, two reference strains were included, ATCC 23114 and Sprott. Although reference strains, both exhibited incredibly high levels of heterogeneity relative to each other, which further exemplifies the unusually high polymorphism prevalence of this species. Nonetheless, ATCC 23114 is an established reference genome and therefore a touchstone for comparisons between works. More broadly, QRDR-mediated resistance is a common occurrence in a variety of similar pathogens and similar amino acid changes are conserved across multiple species (which is the basis for determining the E. coli numbering equivalents). QRDR-mediated mutations have been observed in *Streptococcus spp.* (Varon et al. 1999) and *Enterococcus faecalis* (Esfahani et al. 2020), both of which has been suggested as a putative source of the original

gyrase/topoisomerase complex via non-specific horizontal gene transfer (Oliveira et al. 2017; Citti et al. 2018). The seemingly non-specific nature of horizontal gene transfer implies there may be a relationship between antimicrobial resistance development and co-infections. However, this mechanism was not supported by our study despite the high inter-isolate variability, as the topoisomerase and gyrase genes are still much more closely related to each other than to out-groups by phylogeny analysis.

As demonstrated in Figure 4-3, the genetic diversity of *M. hominis* is incredibly high. Multilocus sequence typing schemes developed for *M. hominis* have previously reported that identical sequence types are only found when isolated from the same patients at multiple timepoints (Boujemaa et al. 2018). The highest degree of variation found was present in the gyrA gene (the lowest having 25 and the highest having 97 SNPs relative to ATCC 23144), What is notable from a phylogenetic standpoint is the distinct lack of interrelation between the resistant isolates, beyond the interrelatedness of induced resistance-linked isolates. This not only reiterates the highly variable nature of *M. hominis* as an organism, but also the variable nature of the resistance-determining polymorphisms I observed in resistant isolates. Antimicrobial resistance in *M. hominis* conferred via in vitro selection pressure is well documented (Bebear et al. 1999). However, the finding that pleiotropy observed between gyrA and parC does not seem to correlate with any sort of genomic interrelatedness means that the ability of *M. hominis* to develop fluoroquinolone resistance so rapidly could itself be considered a mechanism of resistance in tandem with the QRDR polymorphisms themselves. The ability for previously susceptible variants of *M. hominis* to develop clinically relevant levels of resistance to fluoroquinolones demonstrates the need to expand our surveillance methodologies to include the capacity for identifying these potentially resistant variants before treatment is undertaken, to prevent resistance developing against one of the few therapeutics that clinicians have left to combat this pathogen.

5 Conjugative Element Analysis of tetM in Mycoplasma hominis

5.1 Introduction

Treatment options for Mycoplasma hominis are limited as the lack of a typical bacterial cell wall renders drugs such as beta-lactams (e.g. penicillin) ineffective, and the nucleotide scavenging of *M. hominis* excludes antifolates and trimethoprim (Waites et al. 2005). *M.* hominis is inherently resistant to rifampin and macrolides due to amino acid substitutions in the beta-subunit of their RNA polymerase complexes and sequence polymorphisms in their 23S rRNA gene, respectively (Pereyre et al. 2002). The remaining effective therapeutics include lincosamides, ketolides, tetracyclines and fluoroquinolones, which inhibit the protein synthesis mechanisms or DNA replication of the bacteria (Nguyen et al. 2014). Resistance to tetracycline-based antibiotics is mediated in *M. hominis* via tetM, which encodes for Tetracycline resistance proteins that produce a non-covalent modification of the host ribosome (Connell et al. 2003), rendering tetracyclines ineffective as a treatment. The Tn916 transposon structure that carries tetM has been reported by Roberts and Kenny (1987) to be able to be conveyed by horizontal gene transfer from *Enterococcus faecalis*, a phenomenon not exclusive to M. hominis (Poyart et al. 1995). While these studies underpin our understanding of the mobility of the Tn916 transposon, they pre-date the modern molecular techniques now available to study this mechanism of resistance, and as such require further investigation to better understand the underlying mechanisms of transposon-mediated resistance in this pathogen.

To identify possible mechanisms of *tet*M horizontal gene transfer, I undertook an investigation of archived *M. hominis* strains submitted to Public Health England (PHE) between 2005 and 2015 which were kindly made available to me by PHE. As part of this work, antibiotic susceptibility testing (AST) was performed to assess the antibiotic resistance rates amongst these isolates, the genome sequencing of these isolates and the genomic interrogation of subsequent data was also undertaken to analyse the underlying mechanisms of resistance observed and bioinformatic interrogation, to fully characterise the variability in the *tetM*-containing ICE.

In summary, the primary questions this chapter sought to address were:

- What are the incidence rates of samples submitted to PHE, and specifically what are the levels of tetracycline resistance in these strains of *Mycoplasma hominis*?
- What is the genomic mechanism of tetracycline resistance within these *M. hominis* isolates, and does any genomic variation in the Tn*916* transposon lead to a linked variation of tetracycline resistance?
- What is the mechanism for the development of tetracycline resistance in *M. hominis*?
 Does the Tn*916* transposon retain mobility between bacteria, or is the genetic element non-mobile and instead transmitted through clonal inheritance?
- Does *tet*M-mediated tetracycline resistance in *M. hominis* extend to novel variations
 of the tetracycline-family antibiotics such as tigecycline? Would the usage of such a
 variant still be effective as a treatment for these strains?

5.2 Results

5.2.1 Reference culture and PCR review

From 2011 to 2015, 4.7-6.7% of samples submitted to PHE for investigation of *M. hominis* infection were found to be positive for MH. The type of clinical specimens submitted for these archived positive strains are shown in Table 5-1.

Table 5-1 - Sample numbers per year, detailing detection of *M. hominis* **by PCR and culture and associated antimicrobial resistance.** Prior to July 2010 culture positive samples were recorded and post-July 2010 samples submitted for M. hominis investigation tested by molecular diagnostics were included. The one resistant isolate found in 2015 was a dual-resistant isolate.

Year	Culture Positive	PCR Positive,	PCR	PCR	Total	Total MH	Tetracycline	Moxifloxacin
	(Including referred	Culture	Negative	Positive	Samples	Detected (%	Posistant	Resistant
	isolates)	Negative				total)	Resistant	Samples
							Isolates	
2005	9	Ν/Δ	N/A	N/A	N/A	g	1	0
2005	5		,,,	1,77	,,,	5	-	U
2006	11	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	11	3	0
2007	3	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	3	0	0
2008	8	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	8	0	0
2009	15	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	15	0	0
2010	16	N/A	94	0	94	16	1	1
2011	8	1	174	3	177	9 (5.0%)	0	0
2012	9	1	200	10	210	10 (4.7%)	1	0
2013	15	0	233	15	248	15 (6.0%)	3	0
2014	7	3	185	10	195	10 (5.1%)	0	0
2015	12	2	196	14	210	14 (6.7%)	1 tet ^r	⁸ /moxi [®]
Total	113	7	1082	52	1134	120	0	0

5.2.2 Antibiotic susceptibility testing evaluation on recovered viable isolates

A total of 96 of 120 archived isolates originating from 81 separate patients were successfully revived from frozen archival isolates. These were investigated in parallel for growth on inoculated plates containing a final concentration of either 2 mg/L Levofloxacin, 0.5 mg/L Moxifloxacin, 0.5 mg/L Clindamycin or 8 mg/L Tetracycline, representing the CLSI resistance breakpoints (CLSI 2011). No isolates were resistant to clindamycin. One isolate (MH10-9) from 2010 showed resistance to two separate fluoroquinolones (MIC= 8 mg/L for moxifloxacin and 16 mg/L for levofloxacin), and an additional isolate (MH15-3) from 2015 showed multi-drug resistance to both fluoroquinolones tested (MIC= 16 mg/L for moxifloxacin and 32 mg/L for levofloxacin) as well as tetracycline (MIC=16 mg/L). In total, 12/81 (14.8%) showed resistance to tetracycline distributed across the 10-year period (Table 5-1).

5.2.3 Mechanisms of antimicrobial resistance

PCR screening of all isolates identified the presence of the *tet*M resistance gene only in the 12 tetracycline-resistant isolates that grew in the presence of 8 mg/L of tetracycline, later confirmed by whole genome sequence analysis. Figure 5-1 outlines the gene composition of the ICE regions within these isolates. All ICE regions uniformly showed insertion at the 3' end of the *rum*(A) gene and ended at the hypothetical protein (relative to the reference strain Sprott, accession number NZ_CP011538). Five groups (Group I to V) were observed, characterised by genetic composition between all ICE regions.

Based on observation, five groups were devised for the isolates based on their *tn*916 transposon homology. Group I contained the six largest ICE regions (PL5, Sprott, MH13-7, MH10-4, MH06-11, MH12-9, and MH10-15) with only PL5 containing a full set of uninterrupted genes and thus the full-length ICE. Other isolates in Group I had mutations resulting in premature stop codons that truncated ORF16 (Sprott and MH06-11), ORF15 (MH10-15) or the serine recombinase gene (MH12-9 or MH06-11), precluding the mobility functions of the ICE.

Group II Integrated Conjugative Elements (ICE) had lost 4 ORFs preceding the serine recombinase and a further truncation of the multidrug ABC transporter ATP-binding protein in isolates MH06-12 and MH08-5 and truncation of ORF17 and ORF15 in MH06-12. This commonality in Tn916 truncation can be observed as a branch on the phylogenetic tree in Figure 4-3.

Group III contained the three reference isolates with different isolation dates originally collected from a single Australian patient (AH3) (Payne et al. 2016), as well as MH06-1, all of which had lost 7 ORFs from the 3' end including the serine recombinase relative to group I. Due to premature ORF termination by mutation, all three AH3 isolates also had a disrupted Tn*916* integrase, while MH06-1 retained a full integrase ORF but also a premature stop codon in the multidrug ABC transporter ATP-binding protein.

Group IV had lost all non- Tn*916*ORFs from Group I, apart from the serine recombinase, but the Tn*916*excisase and integrase were lost, thus displaying an 80% heterology of ORF7 genomic content relative to the other groups.

Group V consisted solely of MH05-14, which had lost all ORFs between the *tet*M gene and the insertion point at ORF MHOMSp_RS02665, as well as having truncating point mutations in both ORF15 and ORF16, resulting in the loss of all genes that could facilitate transfer to another genome. All *tet*M-positive strains analysed retained resistance to tetracycline irrespective of the composition of the ICE.



Figure 5-1 - Alignment of ICE elements carrying the *tet***M gene**. Genes were aligned relative to their insertion at the 3' end of the *rum*(A) gene. Open reading frames for PL5 reference gene consist of *rum*(A); *tn*916 conjugation genes (green) ORF17, ORF16, ORF15, ORF14, ORF13; *tet*M resistance gene (pink); Tn*916* regulation genes (blue, or grey at 80% homology) ORF9, ORF7; Tn*916* excisase and integrase genes (red); accessory transporter genes from ICESpy2905 (accession number FR691055; yellow) which also includes the serine recombinase (red) at the end of the mobile genetic element. MH06-1 was absent from previous diagrams as it did not have phenotypic fluoroquinolone resistance.

5.2.4 Sequence veracity and genetic drift

The ICE analysis demonstrated a high frequency of truncation in the ORFs of ICE element genes mediated by SNPs, and as such the veracity and repeatability of my genomic sequencing methodology was investigated to ensure these stop codons were stable and not a result of aggregated sequencing errors. The resistant isolate MH06-12 was independently cultured in triplicate and the three sequences generated from each of these three separate cultures showed no sequence variation within the ICE, and only 2 SNPs external to the ICE on the contig were found (a G to T transition synonymous mutation located 21.9 kb 5' and an additional T added to a poly-T intergenic stretch 22 kb 3' of the ICE element), demonstrating high reproducibility of the SNPs identified within the ICE between isolates.

The sequence variation from Australian antenatal screening isolates (AH-3) taken at 20-, 28and 36-weeks' gestation from the same patient were additionally analysed to further assess sequence veracity but also determine the level of genetic drift in this region of the genome. No SNPs were observed within the ICE and 5 SNPs were observed within the entire 114,794 bp contig containing *tet*M: A31,843G altering Ile642 in the exodeoxyribonuclease V subunit alpha (20 week isolate) to Val642 (28 and 36 week isolates); C53,551A truncates a hypothetical open reading frame position 181 of 284aa hypothetical protein (36 week isolate); variation in an intergenic poly-T region from 19 T and 21 T (28 week), 20 T (36 week); and T114,552C resulting in synonymous codon polymorphism for hypothetical protein MHOMSp_RS02740. This indicates that the rate of genetic drift for these isolates over 16 weeks was very low and negligible with regards to the ICE region of the contig.

5.2.5 Anecdotal evidence for ICE Mobility

The earliest description of the *tet*M-carrying ICE in *M. hominis* (Calcutt and Foecking 2015) suggested the absence of the Tn*916* conjugation ORFs 18-24 (which include the Ftsk translocase, ArdA superfamily protein and Cro/Cl family initiation replicator ORF) potentially resulted in lack of essential elements and therefore *tet*M gene mobility. This suggestion was supported by the lack of homology between the ICE found in *M. hominis* and any other bacteria in the genomic database, barring a single group B Streptococcus isolate (GB00555, accession number NZ_ALTN01000021) that retained ORFs 18-24. In order to explore the veracity of this suggestion, a genomic analysis of the major surface protein (variable adherence antigen or VAA) type for all *tet*M carrying ICE and other UK and Australian *M*.

hominis isolates was undertaken in line with a methodology used in an earlier study (Brown et al. 2014), to determine if *tet*M was restricted to a single VAA type (Table 5-2; Listed as coloured circles in 5). A more intensive examination of ICE(+) strain clustering compared to ICE(-) strains was performed by neighbour-joining tree constructions of concatenated multilocus sequence typing loci (Figure 5-3) using previously defined gene targets (Jironkin et al. 2016).



Figure 5-2 - **Nucleotide alignments for the contigs containing the** *tet***M** gene showing SNP **locations.** These SNPs were identified when sequencing the same strain (MH06-12) three independent times (A) and three independent isolations (AH3-20wk, AH3-28wk and AH3-36wk) of *M. hominis* from the same patient at 20-, 28- and 36-weeks' gestation (B).

 Table 5-2 - Variable Adherence-associated Antigen (VAA) typing for given strains. Strains detailed

 in bold contain *tetM*.

VAA	Total No. of	No. of <i>tet</i> M	No. of <i>tet</i> M	Strain Identifiers			
Category	Strains	positive strains	negative strains				
1	11	5	6	MH13-7, MH05-14, AH3-20, AH3-28,			
				AH3-36 , MH05-1, MH05-2, MH08-14,			
				MH09-14, MH12-6, MH15-9			
2	12	11	1	MH06-1, MH06-12, MH12-9, MH15-3,			
				MH06-11, MH10-4, MH10-15, MH13-			
				4, MH08-5, PL5, Sprott , AH58-bl			
4a	1	0	1	MH05-13			
4b	2	1	1	MH13-5, MH13-14			
Novel	1	0	1	MH10-9 (modules I, II, II', IV, V, VI)			
Total	27	17	10	-			


Figure 5-3 - Phylogenetic analysis of MLST genes. Phylogenetic analysis was conducted for strains with *tet*M (light blue box) relative to strains without (white box). Listed are the typing of major surface antigen (VAA) is shown next to each isolate with the VAA type (blue circle = type 1, red circle = type 2, green circle = type 4 or 4b (due to 1 or 2 copies of module III, respectively), yellow circle = novel VAA type), the total number of ICE genes (excluding *tet*M) and then the conserved SNP variation as per previous identifications in the literature (Mardassi et al. 2012), indicated as the last entry per line for type "A", "B" and sub-variant "B2".

ICE-carrying isolates spanned three separate VAA types, suggesting potential to move between lineages or loss from specific lineages due to selection pressures. Most notably the three strains lacking the serine recombinase were present in two different VAA types (MH05-14 and AH3, VAA-1; MH06-1, VAA-2). Group IV (retaining serine recombinase, but missing Tn*916*excisase and integrase) were also present in two different VAA types (MH15-3 and MH13-4, VAA-2; MH13-5, VAA-4b). While most ICE (+) isolates coincided with VAA-2, there was enough distribution across the different VAA types to suggest genomic mobility or sufficient selection pressures to select against the ICE: the ICE element distributed across the entire tree co-locating to each other rather than to ICE (-) VAA-2 isolates or to ICE (+) isolates of alternative VAA types. Early branching of fluoroquinolones and tetracycline resistant MH15-3 was noted suggesting dual resistance may have arisen early in the strain's evolution.

Mardassi *et al.* (2012) noted the existence of *tet*M sequence types based on conserved SNPs within the resistance gene at nt positions 593, G789A, T807C, C819A, G825A and G831A. 6/13 of the *tetM* genes analysed here match the proposed sequence type (type A *tet*M) by these authors (Figure 5-4) and while phylogenetic analysis of the isolated *tet*M gene confirmed that they clustered separately from type B *tet*M, they did not aggregate to a single VAA type; however all but one (MH13-5) were found in the top half of the MLST phylogenetic tree (Figure 5-5). Within the *tet*M genes lacking these conserved SNPs (type B *tet*M), a subtype with the conserved single SNP at nt position C839T (type B *tet*M) all clustered together on the gene phylogenetic tree (Figure 5-5), while all type B2 *tet*M containing strains collocated to the top half of the MLST phylogenetic tree (Figure 5-5), while all type B2 *tet*M containing strains collocated to the top half of the MLST phylogenetic tree, it he bottom half of the MLST phylogenetic tree, with type B *tet*M distributed equally across the tree. Identical grouping of strains from the same patient (i.e., AH3-20, 28 and 36) was noted. Overall, no defined lineage or common ancestry was observed between the isolates analysed here, accounting for the homology of *tet*M-positive strains relative to the *tet*M-negative strains.



Figure 5-4 - Alignment of *tet*M genes showing conserved SNP variants. A threshold of >0.2 prevalence was used for *tet*M-type A (06-11, 06-12, 08-5, 12-9, 13-4 and 13-5) relative to the remainder that represent *tet*M-type B. Grey dashes indicate non-synonymous single nucleotide polymorphisms – tetM function was retained across all isolates.



Figure 5-5 - Neighbour-joining phylogenetic analysis of the entire *tet***M gene between strains.** Those with conserved SNPs distinguishing between *tet*M-type A and *tet*M-type B cluster separately, but no co-clustering of VAA type was seen.

5.2.6 Alternative therapies for tetracycline and multi-resistant strains

Agar-based resistance screening identified 12 tetracycline-resistant strains and 2 fluoroquinolone-resistant strains (one strain had combined resistance). Antimicrobial resistant testing on these 13 strains and 17 susceptible isolates was performed and their susceptibility was separated by *tet*M carriage as per Figure 5-6. The CLSI resistance breakpoints are shown as dotted lines, and the fluoroquinolone isolates (MH10-9 and MH15-3) are indicated on the levofloxacin and moxifloxacin graphs. Isolate MH15-3 was only susceptible to clindamycin. To examine alternative therapeutics, MIC values were also determined for these isolates against tigecycline, a third generation (glycyl)tetracycline to determine if *tet*M mediated an elevated MIC for this antimicrobial. No difference in MIC was observed for isolates with or without *tet*M. Furthermore, despite *M. hominis* inherent resistance to 14- and 15-membered macrolides, susceptibility to josamycin (a 16-membered ring macrolide commonly used to treat infections in France, Italy, Spain, and Russia) was also examined. The MIC for josamycin was 0.25 +/- 0.14 mg/L irrespective of *tet*M presence (as anticipated), demonstrating that the therapeutic options beyond clindamycin are available (i.e., josamycin and tigecycline) for multi-resistant *M. hominis* strains such as MH15-3.



Figure 5-6 - Antimicrobial susceptibility testing for 40 isolates. Data is of 13 *tet*M-carrying and 27 randomly selected susceptible controls) for antibiotics with CLSI-defined resistance thresholds, along with for glycyl-tetracycline tigecycline and macrolide josamycin. No breakpoints have been assigned for these latter two antimicrobials at time of writing, so a more detailed range of breakpoints were tested instead of the usual two-fold dilutions seen in the preceding four antibiotics.

5.3 Discussion

Lincosamide, tetracycline and fluoroquinolone susceptibility testing of recovered isolates from 2005-2015 (67% of the total received) showed tetracycline resistance was the most common (12/81; 14.8%) followed by fluoroquinolone (2/81; 2.4%). One isolate present in the cohort (MH15-3) was resistant to both tetracycline and fluoroquinolones, leaving only clindamycin as the hypothetical therapeutic option for this strain. It is difficult to compare resistance rates across countries as CLSI international guidelines were only published in 2011 (CLSI 2011) and few contemporary studies were completed prior to this. Reports of tetracycline resistance in the international literature range from 0-58%, fluoroquinolone resistance from 0-94% and clindamycin resistance from 0-30%, ultimately making a geographical comparison impossible to make with any statistical weight. A greater and more prescient difficulty arises from the use of the range of commercial assays available, the majority of which do not conform to the CLSI thresholds for resistance breakpoints or utilise antimicrobials (e.g., ciprofloxacin and ofloxacin) with no current breakpoint determined. This is a problem that has previously been highlighted for susceptibility testing in Ureaplasma spp., (Beeton and Spiller 2017) and while these lyophilised commercial assays are convenient for screening, very few reports confirm resistance by determining the underlying mechanisms of resistance and as such are of limited relevancy to a clinically-focused analysis of antimicrobial resistance and its detection. It was found that all tetracycline resistance was mediated by the resistance gene tetM, and did not find any isolates with tetM that were tetracyclinesusceptible as has been reported for rare *M. hominis* strains elsewhere (Meygret et al. 2018).

When MLST schemes for *M. hominis* were being first developed, inter-strain diversity was unusually high – to the point where each strain was presumed to have a unique ST unless it was isolated from the same patient (Jironkin et al. 2016). It was based on this observation that the source of failed lung transplants caused by *M. hominis* infection in a clinical cohort were able to be traced back to the original asymptomatic donor (Sampath et al. 2017) whom had right and left lobes transplanted into different recipients – both of which failed due to *M. hominis* infection.

More recent MLST schemes have extended to including surface antigens vaa, p120', p60, Imp1 and Imp3 to segregate isolates isolated from individuals with infertility from isolates from patients with gynaecological infections (Boujemaa et al. 2018) but these enhanced

MLSTs still show wide varieties of individual ST assignments. One would therefore expect SNP acquisition rate to be high, but when the rate of change was calculated in an isolate that was grown, sequenced, and analysed in triplicate, comparison of the 115kb ICE contig showed only two SNPs – one variation of a single T in an intergenic poly-T region and one synonymous mutation in an open reading frame. Therefore, short differences in passage history in vitro do not seem to result in significant sequence variation. Moreover, the changes in sequence from three isolates each obtained 16 weeks apart from another via an antenatal screening also only showed five SNPs over 112kb, two in intergenic mono-polynucleotide stretches and three additional SNPs. Comparison of the five longest contigs between the AH3 isolates collected at 20 weeks' and 36 weeks' gestation covered 537,152nt and showed 18 genomic variations accounting for approximately 76 SNPs per 700 kb genome per year, which would not account for the wide diversity in MLST profiles observed between individual isolates. Therefore, as it is more likely that the high diversity observed in these isolates has been produced by sporadic high genetic alteration caused by antimicrobial exposure akin to how fluoroquinolones are known to induce SOS-mediated rapid genomic mutation (Escudero et al. 2015), immune pressure or adaptation during the initial infection of a patient following transmission (Bottery et al. 2017).

The first observation I was able to make when undertaking an analysis of ICE regions of *tet*M positive strains was the degree of gene content disparity between isolates. Isolates ranged from having ICE regions consistent with the reference Sprott strain to having highly truncated regions, with almost all the isolates (except 13-7) containing SNP-mediated truncation of at least one ORF. Surprisingly, the reference strain Sprott was observed to contain a SNP in ORF16 leading to a truncation. PL5, the only other reference strain available did not have any truncations and had the same ICE gene contingent as originally reported for Sprott. The overall lack of homology between tetM positive and negative strains indicates a non-clonal method of *tet*M acquisition, with horizontal gene transfer (HGT) being the most likely avenue. Meygret et al. reported the presence of other mycoplasma-specific ICEs (MICE) in *M. hominis* (Meygret et al. 2019) although the essential consensus sequence SSLSDFDKTPTPKLDSKVINEYN is missing from the tetM carrying ICEs of all the isolates available for analysis and furthermore were not present anywhere in the rest of the genome for any of the *tetM* positive isolates. Meygret et al. also reported that there were no antimicrobial

resistance genes associated with these reported MICE, which further conflicts with the observed presence of *tet*M-mediated tetracycline resistance. In related research, minitransposons have been used, albeit artificially, to deliver tetracycline resistance genes (Rideau et al. 2019). This is further backed by the frequent occurrence of HGT that occurs in mollicutes and prokaryotes in general (Johnson and Grossman 2015) and the phenomenon's ability to confer antimicrobial resistance (Bottery et al. 2017) as well as the presence of genes in the ICE region of *M. hominis* such as the aforementioned serine recombinase and Tn*916* integrase, and including ArdA, a known facilitator of gene mobility (Melkina et al. 2016).

Integrases are a mechanism for horizontal gene transfer, whereby this family of genes can regulate not just the insertion but also the excision of gene cassettes (Escudero et al. 2015). Integrases are suspected to originate from genomic insertions by bacteriophage (She et al. 2004) and they are a common facilitator of genetic adaptation and evolution in a wide range of pathogens (Engelstädter et al. 2016). In particular, the integrase in the *tet*M ICE region detailed here is part of Tn*916*, a categorised transposon cassette, but notably lacks ORFs 18-24 (but notably retains critical VirB4 and transmembrane segregation mediating ORFs), which have been found to mediate the conjugation of the transposon. Wright & Grossman (2016) noted the presence of tetracyclines stimulated the expression of these ORFs, which encoded for the self-excision of Tn*916*. Genetic drift in sub-inhibitory levels of tetracycline could explain the loss of these genes, as well as genetic damage during or after insertion.

The other main component of the ICE region previous reported by Calcutt and Foecking (Calcutt and Foecking 2015) is a serine recombinase common to the ICESp2905 (originally described as a *tet*(O)- and *erm*(Tr)-carrying ICE) identified in *Streptococcus pyogenes*, but identified as a common ancestor to ICEs across streptococci (Giovanetti et al. 2012). Serine recombinase elements in streptococci mediate the expected site-specific insertion into the 3' end of the *rum*(A) gene observed in *M. hominis* here, consistent with most mobile genetic elements targeting specific hotspots of bacterial genomes (Ambroset et al. 2016). The main difference between the Tn916 transposon in *M. hominis* and other pathogens is the usage of Opal codon, which instead is well-established to encode for Tryptophan in mycoplasma (Yamao et al. 1985). This is vitally important within the context of a transposon, as it may explain the lack of mobility seen in mycoplasma tn916 transposons as compared to similar transposons observed in *E. coli* (Babakhani and Oloomi 2018) or *Enterococcus faecalis* (León-

Sampedro et al. 2019). The mobility of tn916 also explains dual-resistant isolates such as MH15-3, which as elaborated upon previously, most likely gained fluoroquinolone resistance through the independent mechanism of stress-mediated point mutations.

Still focusing on MH15-3, the isolate harboured inherent resistance to both 14 and 15membered macrolides as shown in our antimicrobial resistance susceptibility analysis and in addition to resistance to levofloxacin, moxifloxacin, and tetracycline, but could be inhibited by josamycin (a 16-membered macrolide) and tigecycline (a third generation (glycyl)tetracycline). In fact, indistinguishable MICs for tigecycline were observed between *tet*M-positive and -negative isolates (Figure 6). There are issues with the practical application of both these drugs. Currently there is no published guidance in the British National Formulary for dosage and approved use of josamycin in the UK, while it is routinely used in other countries such as France (Kayem et al. 2018) or Russia (Guschin et al. 2015). Tigecycline is available for use in a UK clinical setting, but currently can only be administered IV in a hospital (Ingram et al. 2016). sharply limiting its utility.

Even when pathogens are susceptible to a wider range of tetracyclines, this is with the provision that their well-known chelating properties prevent their administration to pregnant women and neonates (Sánchez et al. 2004; Pöyhönen et al. 2017) two of the demographics often identified for treatment of *M. hominis* infections. While neonatal, pregnancy and sexual health samples accounted for 50/115 of the isolates investigated (Appendix Table 8-1) there were a significant number of surgical complication (four wound drains, four wound swabs, two surgical wounds, one heart valve and four tissue samples) and invasive infection (two knee aspirates, three pleural fluids, two peritoneal fluids, one ascitic fluid, five blood cultures, seven CSFs and two cerebral samples) where IV therapeutics would be possible as part of standard care. Furthermore, while tetracyclines are known to cause these sorts of harsh sideeffects, the dosage required to arrest growth is lower than many other pathogens that are routinely treated with these drugs. The tigecycline threshold for resistance in *Escherichia coli* is 8mg/L (Babaei and Haeili 2021), well under the 2mg/L seen in the least-susceptible isolates tested, with Acinetobacter baumannii showing 92% susceptibility when assessed with this same threshold of resistance (Jo and Ko 2021). The presence of some resistance and the issues with administering the drug does mean I would not recommend it as a first-line treatment, but especially in cases of surgical complication it could be a valuable tool when used in

104

tandem with AMR testing. Considering these invasive infections and especially considering the risk of multi-drug resistant isolates such as MH15-3 that can be derived from an adult blood culture, it is imperative to further our understanding of the mechanisms behind the development of AMR and continue surveillance to monitor AMR prevalence. When also considering the resistance documented in this chapter and other studies more generally, provision of up-to-date guidance from NICE/British National Formulary on use of antibiotics for invasive *M. hominis* infection would be beneficial for neonatal patients and those invasive infection, including those with post-operative infection and for immunocompromised patients. Improved resistance testing services, studies, and surveillance on resistance for *M. hominis* would be beneficial.

6 Mechanisms of *tet*M mediated Tetracycline Resistance in *Ureaplasma spp.*

6.1 Introduction

The difficulty in developing clinically viable detection methods complicates our ability to diagnose and study Ureaplasma and as such its relevance as a pathogen is debated, but there is evidence to link it with nongonococcal urethritis and infertility (Beeton et al. 2019), along with further links to pre-term labour and chronic lung disease of prematurity in neonates (Waites et al. 2009). The structural refinement of Ureaplasma also renders Ureaplasma spp. immune to many forms of treatment, such as the lack of a cell wall rendering beta-lactams and glycopeptides ineffective (Beeton et al. 2016a). Of the remaining antimicrobials available for treatment, the main classes of antibiotic that are effective against Ureaplasma are tetracyclines (Meygret et al. 2018), along with fluoroquinolones and macrolides (Zhao et al. 2020). While effective at treating susceptible variants of *Ureaplasma* spp., tetracyclines have a harsh set of side-effects including chelating properties that can contraindicate their use in children (Pöyhönen et al. 2017) that can lead to the discolouration of bone and teeth (Sánchez et al. 2004; Judge et al. 2018). Due to both the growing frequency of resistance in these bacteria and the discretion required when utilizing what treatments remain, there is a growing need to understand the mechanisms and regulation of tetracycline resistance in these pathogens.

Tetracycline normally produces a bacteriostatic effect in Ureaplasma by binding reversibly to the 30S subunit of bacterial ribosomes, blocking the binding of tRNA and preventing protein synthesis, leading to cell death (Sheykhsaran et al. 2019). Tetracycline resistance is mediated in *Ureaplasma spp.* by the *tet*M gene, which functions by altering the conformation site of the 30S such that tetracyclines cannot bind to the 30S subunit, ensuring continued protein synthesis (Ahmadi 2021; Dumke 2021). In *Ureaplasma* spp., *tet*M mediated tetracycline resistance is in turn mediated via the Tn*916* transposon. The transposon functions as a mobile genetic element that independently mediates its replication and transmission between host genomes (Speer et al. 1992; Wright and Grossman 2016). Transposons are a well-known mechanism of virulence factors that can confer antimicrobial resistance to a variety of antimicrobials (Speer et al. 1992; Chopra and Roberts 2001; Rideau et al. 2019; Durrant et al. 2020), and the Tn916 transposon and its close relatives have been determined to function as both species-specific and/or cross-species mediators of resistance in a variety of pathogenic bacteria (Santoro et al. 2014; Wright and Grossman 2016; Lunde et al. 2021).

In this chapter the mechanisms of tetracycline resistance were interrogated and characterised in thirteen resistant strains containing the *tet*M gene, with 11 of these demonstrating *tet*M-mediated resistance. Two susceptible isolates contained non-functional tetM genes, with one of these isolates being induced into resistance via culture in sub-lethal concentrations of tetracycline. This interrogation focused on the Tn*916* transposon present in all thirteen isolates, an Integrated Conjugated Element (ICE) region that contained a *tet*M accessory gene. The ancillary transposon genes surrounding the *tet*M genes in these regions were further characterised, as well as how they relate to the occurrence of *tet*M-mediated tetracycline resistance observed in these isolates.

6.2 Results

6.2.1 Analysis and Detection of tetM

The 13 *Ureaplasma* spp. isolates (eight *U. urealyticum* and five *U. parvum*) outlined in Appendix Table 8-2 were confirmed to contain the *tet*M gene via PCR screening and full genomic sequencing, as well as 11 of the 13 isolates growing in the presence of >2mg/L tetracycline. Isolate DF28U was an outlier amongst the resistant isolates as it demonstrated an MIC of 128mg/l, two-fold higher than HPA71 and HPA111, and 64-fold higher than the other resistant isolates. A mechanism behind this abnormally high level of resistance could not be determined, but it is worth noting that all isolates with MICs above 2mg/L were derived from two cohorts of Welsh isolates, suggesting a potential geographic link. Significantly, DF145 and HPA71 did not meet the MIC breakpoint of 2mg/L despite PCR and genomic sequencing confirming the presence of a Tn*916* transposon with a *tet*M accessory gene. As such, both isolates were repeatedly challenged with sublethal concentrations of tetracycline to induce resistance, with HPA71 displaying full tetracycline resistance after 5-8 consecutive passages (repeated twice), while DF145 remained susceptible for up to 20 consecutive challenges.

The original sequence of HPA71 showed that the *tet*M gene present carried an Adenine insertion at nucleotide 814 of the gene that led to a frameshift (CAG -> TAG) nonsense mutation and premature truncation of the *tet*M gene with subsequent a loss of function and thus full susceptibility to tetracyclines. Resequencing of HPA71 following post-challenge induction of tetracycline resistance found that the extra adenine in the poly-A stretch had been lost resulting in restoration of the correct translation frame. In contrast, the original sequence of DF145 showed a deletion of a guanine nucleotide at nucleotide 1231 of the tetM accessory gene, leading to upstream frameshift mutations that truncated the gene with a TAG stop codon at amino acid 411. As resistance in DF145 could not be induced, this isolate was not re-sequenced.

Table 6-1 - Summary of 13 Ureaplasma isolates analysed in this chapter. HPA71 has two entries in this table as MIC values were initially 1 (fully susceptible) pre-selection but were 64 (resistant) post-selection when cultured in sublethal-conditions. Serovars marked with an asterisk have not been conclusively serotyped at time of writing and so all potential serovars of their species are listed.

Isolate Name	Species	Serovar	Tetracycline MICs (mg/l)
HPA71 (pre-challenge)	U. urealyticum	4/12/13*	1
HPA71 (post-challenge)			64
HPA111	U. urealyticum	4/12/13*	64
France UUg1	U. urealyticum	4/12/13*	2
Vancouver	U. urealyticum	9	2
France UUa	U. urealyticum	2/5/8*	2
DF034	U. urealyticum	4/12/13*	2
DF471	U. urealyticum	4/12/13*	16
DF314	U. urealyticum	4/12/13*	16
DF145	U. parvum	6	2
HPA23	U. parvum	6	64
Cuba 681	U. parvum	1	2
Cuba 211	U. parvum	3	2
DF28U	U. parvum	3	128

6.2.2 Genomic variation of Tn916 and surrounding genomic regions in *U. urealyticum* In the eight *U. urealyticum* isolates the full Tn916 complement was maintained, with negligible levels of genomic variation observed between isolate transposons, notwithstanding the shared variation between the reference *E. faecalis* and *U. urealyticum tet*M genes. Excluding the Vancouver reference strain, all seven other *U. urealyticum* isolates demonstrated an elevated level of homology both upstream and downstream of Tn916 demonstrated in Figure 6-1 suggesting a precise and consistent insertion point.

Regarding genomic content immediately up- and downstream of the Tn*916* transposon, UUg1 and Vancouver demonstrated genomic heterogenicity from the other six *Ureaplasma urealyticum* isolates. UUg1 contained a much shorter length of DNA due to the deletion of a length of genome containing an S8 family peptidase and ATP-binding protein. Another notable variation shown in Figure 6-1 is the insertion of a highly irregular 8bp length of DNA (TGAACTGG) after amino acid 157 of the ORF, leading to a frameshift mutation at amino acid 177 causing a TAG stop codon to truncate the gene.

Uncharacteristically for a reference strain, the genome of Vancouver was markedly different in composition from the other seven isolates seen in Figure 6-1, with a highly heterologous DNA composition upstream of Tn916 as well as the downstream inversion of a 30.4kbp length of DNA including the DEAH/DEAD box helicase, a gene vital for regulation of nucleotide topology in the host cell. The heterogenicity of Vancouver when compared to isolates of the same species across different geographic locations and serovars is unusual for a reference strain and calls into question the usage of Vancouver as a reference for future genomic analysis.



Figure 6-1 – **An alignment of the Tn916 transposon of all eight** *Ureaplasma urealyticum* **isolates.** Section (**a**) is an alignment of isolates mapped against the *tet*M gene of a reference strain of Enterococcus faecalis DS16 (Accession no. EFU09422). Asterisks indicate the position of a stop codon leading to a gene truncation. Section (**b**)



Figure 6-2 – **Insertion sites for the Tn916 transposon in** *U. urealyticum*. Aligned relative to the common *tet*M gene, the DEAH/DEAD box helicase is marked in red, and the common insertion site is marked with purple arrows, demonstrating the inversion of genomic content present in the Vancouver reference strain.



Figure 6-3 – **Alignment of Tn916 and downstream genomes of** *U. urealyticum* **isolates.** Genes are marked in orange, with homologous regions marked in purple for the Tn916 transposon, and blue for the section of genome between the transposon and the DEAH/DEAD box helicase gene. Black-grey lines indicate BLAST identity percentage, as per the figure legend.

6.2.3 Genomic variation of Tn916 and surrounding genomic regions in *U. parvum* In comparison, four of the five *U. parvum* isolates (Cuba 211, Cuba 681, HPA23 and DF145) demonstrated severe but homologous genomic recombination, with the full deletion of all conjugative transfer ORFs across all four Tn916 elements while simultaneously maintaining a common complement of core host genes upstream of the truncated transposon composed of ser(S), fts(H), hpc, uvr(A) and three conserved core hypothetical coding regions as seen in Figure 5 7, once again suggesting a common insertion point for Tn916. The variation between the four isolates negligible, with only 1 to 4 nucleotide variations between any of the four U. parvum isolates.

Regarding genomic content immediately up- and downstream of the Tn916 transposon, U. parvum demonstrated high levels of genomic heterogenicity between each other indicating a common insertion site. This excludes DF28, which appears to have inserted itself into a completely different section of the genome (see REF). There were no notable gene truncations present in any of the five U. parvum isolates, with point mutations leading to truncations in the hypothetical coding regions of DF145 and the ORF15 and ORF14 regions of DF28U.

It is well-established that within mycoplasmas as a clade, UGA ("Opal") does not function as a stop codon and instead codes for tryptophan, potentially affecting the coding regions of a transposon as it moves between clades with disparate coding structures (Neyrolles et al. 1996). To interrogate the possibility of "hidden" read-through mutations accrued when the Tn*916* transposon moved between species, the entire Tn*916* transposon from *Enterococcus faecalis* reference strain DS16 was analysed to compare its coding regions when using the standard bacterial and mycoplasma amino acid code. This analysis seen showed that when converting from a typical bacterial coding structure to a mycoplasma coding structure, readthrough mutations are present in ORF 14 and 13, as well as ORF 7 and 8. While the exact effects of these mutations are unknown, it is likely that these read-through mutations could drive compensatory gene mutations to truncate these ORFs.



Figure 6-4 - An alignment of five *Ureaplasma parvum* **isolates.** The tetM accessory gene is labelled in black, with truncation labelled in grey. All conjugative transfer genes normally upstream of the *tetM* accessory genes in Tn916 are absent in all but DF28U, which contains the full complement of ORFs but also a truncation at ORF 14, marked with an asterisk.

6.2.4 Analysis of Potential Gene Insertion Sites

Using the first sequenced human Ureaplasma isolate (ATCC 700970) as a reference, tetM cassette insertion was mapped by locating the position of the first 5' conserved homologous gene as seen in Figure 6-5. All U. parvum isolates, except DF28U, aligned to genes encoding for ser(S) and an ATP-binding cassette protein, while DF28U was located at a completely novel insertion site in the genome approximately 260,000 bp away. The *TetM* insertion sites for all U. urealyticum isolates were also conserved at a site 380,000 bp away from the conserved U. parvum insertion site. DF28U by comparison was found inserted in a completely different location in the genome as shown in ref. Furthermore, the Tn916 composition of DF28U differed from this similarity by retaining the full complement of conjugative transfer genes missing from the other four isolates required for the function of the Tn916 transposon, implying a recent insertion. ORF 14 contained a stop codon at amino acid 162 of the gene, which notably is the only genomic mutation present in any of the genes in the Tn916 transposon, which suggests that further movement of the transposon could be abrogated. This indicates that apart from DF28U, both insertion events occurred independently in separate ancestral strains and have evolved independently between species. However, the significant variance in the gene order observed for the Vancouver strain that was isolated by Denys K Ford in Vancouver in 1967 (Ford 1967), relative to the other U. urealyticum isolates indicates significant local recombination and remodelling within the Vancouver insertion site.



Figure 6-5 – **Insertion sites for the Tn916 transposon in** *U. parvum & U. Urealyticum*. Only DF28U has a different insertion site when compared with the other four parvum isolates, which all have the same insertion site and are flanked by the same regulatory genes. All *U. urealyticum* isolates have the same insertion site, accounting for the severe recombination present in Vancouver.

6.3 Discussion

In this chapter, it was demonstrated that all thirteen isolates sequenced contained the *tetM*-tetracycline resistance gene, associated with components of the Tn*916* transposon, a known mediator of tetracycline resistance in multiple species of pathogenic bacterium. The composition of the Tn*916* transposon, while varied between species and isolates, broadly follows the common structure identified in previous works, which allows us to extrapolate which aspects of the transposon have been rendered inactive over subsequent generations. More specifically, the novel findings of this work are evidence to suggest that the insertion of tn916 into the Ureaplasma genome is mediated by horizontal gene transfer that is then clonally inherited by subsequent isolates. Furthermore, this work provides evidence that the insertion site is based on gene targets rather than specific locations in the Ureaplasma genome due to asymmetrical codon functions between conventional bacteria and mycoplasmas.

In *U. urealyticum* the Tn*916* transposon is mostly intact, with the variation between isolates being restricted to the contig length of DF034 and more broadly the truncation of genes across the transposon. A common truncation is caused by mutation to avoid read-through between ORF 15 and ORF 14 which exists in all 8 isolates. This truncation is expected, as multiple other works have also observed variance within ORF 15 within Tn*916* (Santoro et al. 2014; Sirichoat et al. 2020) and other highly similar transposons (Ciric et al. 2011). UUg1 contained an 8bp nucleotide insertion in ORF 14 which led to a downstream truncation of the gene, but notably this insertion did not lead to a frameshift mutation downstream of ORF 14 which meant that the accessory *tetM* gene present still retained its function as a resistance-encoding gene, suggesting some sort of robust genomic structuring existing in the transposon.

Higher levels of genomic variance could be observed in the genomic regions flanking the transposon, with transposon insertion sites varying slightly between isolates around the transposon but sharing the same broad location target downstream of the same DEAH/DEAD box helicase gene. There was greater insert organisation variation in the Vancouver strain, which is unfortunate for a dedicated reference strain for serovar 9. The DEAH/DEAD box helicase downstream of the Tn916 transposon in all seven other isolates was inverted relative to the Vancouver strain. However, *U. urealyticum* contains two copies of this gene, which suggests that this gene was carried by a larger ICE (as it is often required as an accessory gene) that had acquired the Tn916 element prior to inserting into an ancestral *U. urealyticum* isolate. It is also notable that the Vancouver strain carries the MBA specific for serovar 9, and the remaining isolates all carry the MBA that is common to serovars 4, 12 and 13, suggesting independent evolutionary divergence post-acquisition of a common *U. urealyticum* ancestor. As none of the *U. parvum* isolates demonstrate this Tn916 co-located DEAH/DEAD box helicase it lends further evidence to suggest that *U. parvum* and *U. urealyticum* acquired *tetM* after separating into two separate species.

This variation is surprising due to how established Vancouver is as a reference strain (Lin and Kass 1980), but equally as its discovery precedes molecular methods this could suggest more modern and representative reference strains should be used to assess genomic variability within cohorts of isolates. This significant divergence is especially relevant as Vancouver is the

agreed reference strain for *U. urealyticum* susceptibility testing quality control (CLSI 2011). While Vancouver still contains a fully functional *tetM* gene its overall genomic composition immediately surrounding the gene is significantly different, which could very well hamper the use of Vancouver as a reference strain in genomic analysis. However, other *tetM*-positive serovar 9 isolates would be needed to confirm this. For general genotyping and resistance profiling, the Serovar 3 reference strain Seattle (ATCC 27815) would be an adequate substitute, as would most other reference strains currently available on open platforms.

Comparison between *U. parvum* isolates found that four of the five isolates (excepting DF28U) were very similar, and contained the same deletion of all ORFs upstream of *tetM* and its leader peptide as seen in Figure 6-4 as well as the same complement of genes immediately upstream of *tetM* (*ser*(S), *fts*(H), *uvr*(A) and hypothetical protein coding regions). This identical deletion and gene complement is mirrored by the common transposon insertion site shared by all four isolates, flanked by a ser(S) gene and a gene coding for an ATP-binding cassette protein. Furthermore, no truncations exist in any genes of these four isolates, although as the neighbouring genes are important for the regulation of genomic regulation and metabolic homeostasis, it is worth noting that truncations may regularly occur that damage or frameshift these genes and that due to their deleterious effect cannot be detected by culture. What is surprising, is that the absence of ORFs 13-24 (the entire conjugative gene cassette in Figure 16) indicating no possibility of mobility of this remnant of Tn916 – is found in three separate serovars of U. parvum. This calls into question the previous assertion from the previous chapter for *M. hominis* that variation of VAA between *tetM*-positive strains with a lack of ORFs 18-24 still substantiated that the serine recombinase was mediating movement between strains. However, the previous tetM for M. hominis is part of a composite ICE with a different transposase responsible for directed insertion into the rum(A) gene. For U. parvum, given the absence of cis- or trans- conjugation gene cassette presence is that the serovar determining MBA region is capable of independent mobility by some yet undetermined mechanism.

DF28U was observed to have a variety of unique characteristics when compared to the other four parvum isolates studied in this analysis. It demonstrated the full complement of ORFs 13-24 (i.e., an intact Tn916 transposon), albeit with a point mutation at amino acid 491 of ORF 14 (TCA -> TAA) that truncated the gene. This observation of a truncation at a conjugative transfer gene is significant as it offers an explanation to why Tn916 may become "fixed" in *Mollicutes* genomes once acquired. Mycoplasmas as a clade are well-established to undergo elevated levels of genomic adaptation via horizontal gene transfer, antigenic variation, and genomic recombination (Zimmerman et al. 2011; Aboklaish et al. 2016; Oliveira et al. 2017; Waites et al. 2022). As such, my observation of the rapid truncation of ORF 14 is unsurprising. Another feature of note observed in DF28U is the significantly different insertion site it demonstrated, flanked by hypothetical protein coding regions 264kbp away from the insertion site of the other four parvum isolates, in a genome 751kbp in length.

This variation in insertion site is tempered by the commonality of neighbouring genes – across four of the five different insertion sites (excluding DF28U), only five genes make up the flanking neighbour genes. Aspects of tRNA function are well-established to be regulated by

the virulence factor genes encoding for ATP-binding cassette domain-containing protein (Davidson et al. 2008) *ser*(S) (Vincent et al. 1995) and *phe*(T) (Ibba et al. 1994), while *pol*(C) is known to function as a 3' - 5' endonuclease (Barnes et al. 1994). The DUF1410 domain-containing proteins and the hypothetical protein coding regions flanking DF28U are the only genes of unknown function, but the DUF1410 genes are a common gene structure across many species of Ureaplasma (Yang et al. 2020a) and associated with the *mba* genes, another virulence factor due to its function as a medium for antigenic variation (Aboklaish et al. 2016; Sweeney et al. 2017b). This means that while the physical region of insertion varies between isolates and species, the function of the genes targeted by the Tn*916* transposase share commonalities in DNA regulation and replication, of high importance to a self-regulating and thus self-replicating mobile genetic element.

Regarding the *tet*M gene specifically, a significant observation was the variability in reversibility of function loss between HPA71 and DF145. Both isolates contained frameshift mutations in their *tet*M coding regions that led to a premature truncation of the protein. However, only HPA71 demonstrated a rescue reversion to tetracycline resistance, while DF145 failed to revert even after a significant repeated exposure to sub-inhibitory tetracycline levels. When we look at the exact mechanisms of truncation in each gene, HPA71 contained an adenine insertion in a poly(A) tract such that AAG became AAA G at amino acid codon 262 that led to a stop codon at amino acid 272 truncating the gene, while DF145 contained a guanosine insertion in a poly(G) tract such that GGA -> GGG A at amino acid codon 392 truncating the gene with a stop codon at amino acid 441. In the context of a gene 1921bp long with 640 codons, both truncations occur early in the synthesis of the gene product, resulting in tetracycline susceptibility.

Overall, this work demonstrates the existence of significant variation in the Tn916 transposon gene structures between U. parvum and U. urealyticum. Apart from DF28U, Ureaplasma parvum exhibited far higher levels of recombination than U. urealyticum, which contained the full suite of Tn916 genes, albeit with truncations that might preclude the motility of the transposon. In comparison, U. parvum exhibited complete loss of all conjugative transfer genes upstream of the tetM accessory gene in four of the five isolates, with only DF28U retaining these ORFs. Both species interrogated contained exceptions that differed from the consensus alignments of their Tn916 transposon and lacked a recombinase-directed insertion site into the wider genome, as well as smaller-scale recombination such as point mutations and gene truncations. This high degree of variance makes it hard to describe species-level differences but is consistent with the genomic data we have on Ureaplasma and Mycoplasmas more generally, due to the elevated level of genomic variation observed in these bacteria (Zimmerman et al. 2013; Oliveira et al. 2017; Rideau et al. 2019; Hakim et al. 2021). Although the transposon insertion point is inconsistent between species, consistency is always seen in the genes which neighbour the point of insertion. This suggests that the transposon opportunistically inserts near genes that carry a specific function that can facilitate the replication and further transmission of additional transposons.

Another mechanism of insertion to consider is the variance of genetic code between conventional bacterial genomes and Mycoplasmas. The usage of the 'opal' codon (TGA) as

tryptophan in mycoplasma differs from its usage as a stop codon in other prokaryotes. Mobility genes utilizing an Opal codon as a stop codon would not function in Mycoplasmas, as they would suffer from read-through mutations and invariably incur loss-of function. Within the context of a mobile genetic element that can move between these clades, this offers a potential reason the mobile genetic element is able to move into Mycoplasma, but not move out. In the case of Tn916, the transposon observed in *Enterococcus faecalis* suffers from two readthrough mutations in the conjugative transfer ORFs 14 and 13 contained upstream of *tet*M, which would certainly preclude further generation and transmission of the transposon as a mobile genetic element. An interesting finding is the alteration in coding regions immediately surrounding the tetM gene and its leader peptide. While tetM as the gene is not truncated, the CDS of its leader peptide was elongated by an additional 30bp. While this attenuation loop does not encode for a gene and is merely a regulatory structure, the alteration of this structure could have a yet-unknown effect on the regulation and expression of the *tet*M gene. The disruption of *tet*M expression may in turn influence the fitness costs usually incurred by tetM expression, but until the full effects of these ORF alterations are understood with further work, it is difficult to describe how this relates to the species-specific costs of Tn916 between species.

One main area in which this work could be explored further is via an expanded sample size. With five *U. parvum* and eight *U. urealyticum* samples, it is difficult to determine how significant the anomalous isolates (DF28U and Vancouver) are, although this is less applicable with *U. urealyticum* and more so with *U. parvum*. In addition, attempts to induce the transmission of a Tn916 transposon from *Enterococcus faecalis* to either *Ureaplasma* species had been attempted several times and were unsuccessful, and as such was not able to be reported here. An ability to observe the transmission of Tn916 in "real time" would be of immense importance to understanding the effects of variant genetic codes and the effects on *tet*M gene expression, but it is likely to be a significant experimental undertaking.

The increase in tetracycline resistance across several STIs (Beeton and Spiller 2017; Jiang et al. 2017; Truong et al. 2022) is of immense concern for academics and clinicians due to the sharply decreasing set of tools left to treat these infections. As such, utilizing our knowledge of shared mechanisms between these adaptations is important to improve our chances of overcoming these developments in antimicrobial resistance and retain our ability to treat these common infections.

7 General Discussion

In this study, I utilized a variety of methods to assess the antimicrobial resistance of urogenital Mollicutes, interrogating both their clinical incidence and the genomic mechanisms underlying the development of resistance in these pathogens. The study of mycoplasmas as sexually transmitted diseases and more broadly as pathogens has been hampered by the lack of accurate and reliable tools for their detection and analysis. However, commercially available, and clinically validated molecular tests are available that can facilitate the rapid detection of these bacteria while simultaneously assessing levels of antimicrobial resistance in these bacteria. In other medical areas such as fertility and the management of posttransplant infection, mycoplasma such as M. hominis and U. urealyticum are acknowledged and surveyed pathogens, but there has been a reluctance to share this view in the field of sexual health. The accurate detection of these pathogens in symptomatic patients complements the established body of evidence linking these pathogens to symptomatic disease and heavily suggests the need for further surveillance of these pathogens. This study also expands on pre-existing knowledge on the mechanisms of resistance in these pathogens, noting their similarities to mechanisms of resistance shared with other sexual health pathogens such as *N. gonorrhoea*. This work also further compared the incidence rates of *N*. gonorrhoea.

The genomic analysis contained in this work focused on the mechanisms of tetracycline and fluoroquinolone resistance common to these pathogens. Specifically, *tet*M-mediated tetracycline resistance was studied in both *M. hominis* and *Ureaplasma* spp. to further elucidate the conjugative transfer of Tn916 theorized to facilitate the propagation of tetracycline resistance in closely related bacteria. Additionally, *gyrA/parC*-mediated fluoroquinolone resistance was studied in *M. hominis*, with the identification of an intermediate mutant strain that elucidates the link between the two gyrase genes in the mediation of resistance and contributes to the development of the improved surveillance assays required to rapidly and accurately detect and therefore treat these pathogens. Returning to the overarching hypothesis, this work has identified methods that can rapidly and effectively detect antimicrobial resistance and its genomic mechanisms. This has been achieved using modern molecular methods that have studied the link between mycoplasmas and symptoms of disease with both established links with mycoplasma infections, as well as symptoms not yet associated clinically with mycoplasma infections such as *M hominis*.

7.1 Fluoroquinolone resistance in *M. hominis*

The first set of findings outlined is that 14.8% of *M. hominis* samples tested positive for tetracycline resistance and 2.4% tested positive for fluoroquinolone resistance – while useful as an absolute survey of resistance in archival isolates, it not straightforward to quantify the relative meaning of this incidence due to range of resistances reported in the literature. These wide ranges in resistance appear to relate to geographical regions – in Bordeaux, France, *M. hominis* fluoroquinolone resistance rates were at a comparable 1.6% - 2.7% in 183 isolates tested by Meygret et al. (2018), far lower than the likewise comparable rates of tetracycline resistance in the same cohort at 14.7% of isolates. This concordance of results is despite the

significant variation in sample size, providing evidence of the effectiveness of the molecular techniques that were shared between the two studies. Nonetheless, as we consider wider geographical ranges for comparison, resistance rates vary significantly. A recent study conducted in Zhejiang, China by Yang et al. (2020b) found sharply higher rates of resistance with 84.62% of *M. hominis* samples showing resistance to both levofloxacin and moxifloxacin while another study conducted in Franceville, Gambon found that 100% of all *M. hominis* isolates tested were resistant to azithromycin (Lendamba et al. 2022). Although these studies had relatively low sample sizes (9 and 13 isolates respectively), previous observations demonstrate that we can make confident comparisons between these different sample sizes. While these rates are significantly different, this does make sense in line with different health systems providing significantly different antibiotic regimen, specifically the over-reliance and over-prescription of particular kinds of (more) affordable antibiotics and their subsequent selective effect for resistance (Pokharel et al. 2019).

Due to the fastidious nature of *M. hominis*, molecular assays such as the ones used in this work will be required to develop standardized clinical surveillance systems and this work demonstrates both the feasibility of doing so and the deeper understanding of antimicrobial resistance development that can be gained from this. Examples of this are the finding that comutations in *gyrA* and *parC* produce significantly higher levels of resistance (MICs) in *M. hominis* than singular mutations in *gyrA* alone, and that intermediate strains induced into full resistance only demonstrate the complementary *parC* mutation when subjected to sublethal concentrations of fluoroquinolones. This is especially interesting as *M. genitalium* displays a purely *parC* mediated resistance (Bodiyabadu et al. 2021), showing variation in resistance mechanism even between two mycoplasma occupying similar environmental niches as urogenital pathogens. Looking further afield, work on *H. pylori* demonstrating the absence of *parC* and *parE* genes observed in *M. hominis* (Rhie et al. 2020) and another study by Ostrer et al. (2019) demonstrates that these mutations can be used as the sole predictors of fluoroquinolone resistance in *Acinetobacter baumannii, Escherichia coli, Staphylococcus aureus*, but not *Klebsiella pneumonias* or *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*.

As such, understanding the epistatic relationship between these two genes helps develop precise methods of assessing resistance. The observation of a *gyrA* mutant/*parC* wild type isolate being induced into full resistance upon exposure to fluoroquinolones also emphasize the need for the careful interpretation intermediate or inconclusive results that are often produced by molecular assays. The further work that could be conducted in this area would most likely be in exploring regulatory relationship between *gyrA* and *parC* as they relate to the mediation of fluoroquinolone resistance in *M. hominis*, and potentially identifying additional partial mutant isolates that could confirm the findings here.

7.2 tetM-mediated tetracycline resistance in M. hominis

The resistance mechanism of tetracycline resistance in *M. hominis* are also an area which I investigated, to expand upon pre-existing observations and theories. The underlying question the work sought to interrogate surrounded the mobility of the Tn916 transposon, which in turn carries the resistance mediating *tet*M gene. While the mobility of Tn916 itself is well-established (Mardassi et al. 2012; Santoro et al. 2014; Sirichoat et al. 2020; Lunde et al. 2021),

the source of the transposon and aspects of the genomic insertion into the *M. hominis* genome were not fully understood, which this work sought to explore.

Within *M. hominis*, five approximate groups were observed of gradually shorter length, as genes encoding for the transport and incision of the transposon became truncated and lost, suggesting that the rate of recombination that occurs once the ICE inserts itself into the host genome is relatively rapid. This is in line with previous observations of *M. hominis*, which has been observed to undergo rapid recombination in other areas of the genome such as the incorporation of other transposons (Rideau et al. 2019), the modulation of virulence genes that are used to form multi-locus sequence typing schemes (Boujemaa et al. 2018) and the aforementioned spontaneous mutations that facilitate fluoroquinolone resistance in *M. hominis*.

The malleability observed in *M. hominis* is so extensive that one recent study even found variants able to reorganise their metabolic pathways to facilitate and prioritise the metabolization of deoxyribonucleosides (particularly thymidine) over arginine or ribonucleosides (Fisunov et al. 2022). The recombination that we can observe in *M. hominis* is coupled with a lack of random point mutations that was observed in my own work when MH-12 was isolated in triplicate, suggesting that the recombination that we do observe in M. *hominis* is genetically mediated in response to environmental pressures. Furthermore, there was no observed correlation between the presence of *tet*M, which provides evidence that the Tn916 transposon we observe in these isolates was not a historical insertion that was then propagated through clonal inheritance, but a mobile element that regularly inserts itself into *M. hominis* in response to selection pressures. This has been theorized to function whereby ICEs insert themselves into sections of genome of lower genomic regulation (Citti et al. 2020), creating "genomic islands" of highly conserved genes vital to cellular function flanked by ICEs, either intact or eroded by recombination. While this does not entirely disagree with the common conception of mycoplasmas as having a minimal genome (Grosjean et al. 2014; Danchin and Fang 2016), it does emphasize the dynamic nature by which these pathogens are able to adapt to environmental challenges (Antczak et al. 2019; Dordet-Frisoni et al. 2019).

Developing antibiotic resistance to last-resort antibiotics is a topic of growing concern, with the tools available to clinicians for treatment becoming more sharply limited as pathogens adapt faster than new treatments can be developed. As such, this section of my work examined resistance not only to current tetracyclines in use for *M. hominis* but also newer antimicrobial variants such as glycylcyclines, which are currently limited to tigecycline. Tigecycline was shown to be fully effective at preventing growth of the resistant isolates due to interacting with the ribosomal complex in a different orientation than conventional tetracyclines, as well as also interacting with the helix H34 subunit of the 30S ribosomal subunit as well as the A site (Olson et al. 2006). This alternative form of interaction means that it subverts both the efflux pumps encoded by resistance genes such as tet(A) and tet(B) (Kumar and Varela 2012) and the conformational changes to the 30S subunit encoded by *tet*M. The only effective mechanism for resistance to tigecycline that has been identified is the *tet*(X) family of genes, which encode for a protein that hydroxylates Tigecycline at Carbon 11a to produce 11a-Hydroxytigecycline, a far less effective antimicrobial that can be expelled

from the cell via efflux pump (Moore et al. 2005). While *tet*(X) has not been observed in any *Mollicutes* species, it is carried by a plasmid that occurs in common bacteria such as *E. coli* and therefore could jump species (Sun et al. 2019), although this is purely speculative. The other prominent mechanism of resistance currently understood is via structural changes in the 16S region of the rRNA structure, induced via point mutation after repeated or otherwise sublethal challenge (Gerrits et al. 2002). Neither mechanism has been observed in a *Mollicutes* pathogen at time of writing, but potentially both the *tet*(X) family of genes and 16S point mutations are worth investigating to see if either could be artificially introduced to *M. hominis in vitro*.

7.3 *tet*M-mediated tetracycline resistance in Ureaplasma spp.

In contrast to *M. hominis*, the investigation of *tet*M in *Ureaplasma. spp.* was more complex in practice for several reasons. The prominent reason was due to the relative dearth of information on the clade, as the two species of urogenital Ureaplasma (U. parvum and U. urealyticum) were not formally categorized until 2002 (Robertson et al. 2002). As such, the culture-based knowledge that underpinned aspects of my work on *M. hominis* was not as developed. The wealth of reference strains that were available for my investigations into M. hominis were not mirrored in either species of Ureaplasma due to the pandemic making it difficult to acquire additional strains from academics seconded to Covid research. Nonetheless, this was not a significant issue as inter-species comparisons were in of themselves a significant topic of investigation, but studies into species-specific mechanisms might require additional work to build a cohort of isolates for analysis. Of the 13 isolate genomes available for analysis, all contained the same mechanism of resistance – a Tn916 transposon of varying composition containing a tetM gene. This concurred with previous studies into the composition of *tet*M-mediated resistance in other pathogens such as oral streptococci and E. coli (Poyart et al. 1995; Lunde et al. 2021). In U. urealyticum, the transposon was shown to be mostly intact across each of the eight genomes analysed, with minimal variations between each of the ORFs. One isolate (UUg1) contained an 8bp insertion that truncated its ORF 14, but even this did not create a frameshift mutation in any other gene up- or downstream of the ORF.

UUg1 and the reference strain Vancouver significantly diverged in terms of surrounding genomic structures. While they shared a common proximity to a 30.4kbp sequence of DNA, in the case of both UUg1 and Vancouver there was a full deletion of the genomic content between Tn916 and the common length of DNA. Vancouver contained the even more severe recombination of said length of DNA being inverted. This is especially unusual as the 30.4kbp length of DNA contained the DEAD/DEAH box helicase, a gene vital for the regulation and function of the bacterial genome. As discussed in the results chapter, Vancouver demonstrates a uniquely high level, of heterology that calls into question its value as a reference strain. The strain was identified before in-depth genomic analysis was available (Robertson and Stemke 1979) and before the designation of *U. parvum* and *U. urealyticum* as species, so to some degree this is not surprising. Nonetheless, its usage as a reference genome could not be recommended until more in-depth analysis of its genome was conducted. This is due to these, and many other irregularities contained in its genome and is relative to the other *U. urealyticum* genomes available for research.

Another interesting finding was the inability of two isolated strains (HPA71 and DF145U) to grow in the presence of tetracycline as expected, and the subsequent induction of resistance in HPA71 but not DF145. Both isolates presented as positive carriers of the tetM gene via qPCR analysis and were found to carry a tetM but differed in the composition of their respective tetM genes. DF145U carried a deletion at nucleotide 1231 that caused a frameshift mutation and subsequent loss-of-function that could not be rectified by repeated challenge, while HPA71 carried a similar frameshift mutation at 814, but this was due to an additional adenine that was lost after exposure to tetracyclines, resulting in a gain-of-function mutation that conferred resistance. Variations in phenotype due to mutations undetected by qPCR could complicate the usage of qPCR and other NAATs as a diagnostic tool, as if either of these isolates were detected in a clinical setting this could constitute a false positive. In practice, the usage of such a test precludes the existence of a second- or last-line treatment that could be administered instead, and therefore such false positives could be accounted for. This observation could also suggest that the expression of *tet*M is regulated by genomic machinery to avoid the fitness costs that *tet*M is known to impose on carriers (Dunai et al. 2019; Koonin et al. 2020).

Additionally, I observed that the *tet*M gene and surrounding transposon was present in a different insertion site in one *U. parvum* isolate, DF28U. In this isolate, the *tet*M gene was located approximately 260kbp downstream of the insertion site of the other four *tet*M transposons, indicating that it had been inserted into the genome in a separate event to the other four, which may have concurrently gained the *tet*M gene via insertion at the same site or inherited the gene via clonal expansion. The surrounding transposon present in DF28U carried the full complement of conjugative genes, with a truncation present in ORF 14 as explanation for the transposon's inability to move from the genome. I theorize that the isolates that demonstrates a common insertion site likely gained resistance from clonal inheritance, but DF28U demonstrates a capacity for *U. parvum* to gain resistance from environmental sources of *tet*M.

The ability for *U. parvum* to rapidly develop tetracycline resistance (Beeton et al. 2016a) is another factor in why regular antimicrobial surveillance is required for this pathogen, as this work shows that *U. parvum* can gain resistance rapidly via horizontal gene transfer, conserve this resistance mechanism through clonal inheritance and then modulate this resistance in line with selection pressures and fitness costs. The phenomenon of poly(A) tract mutations mediating "transient silencing" has been observed to occur in other species of bacteria with similar mechanisms of resistance, such as tet(K)-mediated tetracycline resistance in *Staphylococcus aureus* (Kime et al. 2019). Furthermore, it has been noted more broadly that plasmids and ICEs can themselves carry genes that act to silence xenogeneic genes (Navarre 2016; Duan et al. 2021), which in turn mediates the insertion's integration into the wider genome. This relates back to the mediation of fluoroquinolone resistance I observed in *M. hominis*, whereby specific and/or complementary point mutations were required for MIC levels denoting resistance, emphasizing the need for in-depth whole-genome sequencing of these pathogens to fully understand the mechanisms of resistance and the molecular targets of antimicrobial surveillance assays.

7.4 Clinical Interventional Study

The final set of results I presented in this work relates to a clinical study undertaken in collaboration with the Cwm Taf Morgannwg NHS Health Board, analysing the presence and antimicrobial susceptibility of urogenital *Mollicutes*. This part of my research was the most affected by the Covid-19 pandemic, with secondary aspects of the analysis such as patient surveys and follow-up analyses unavailable due to the pandemic and its subsequent restrictions. Nonetheless, 81 patients were recruited pre-pandemic (20 male patients and 61 female patients) and 79 patients were recruited post-pandemic (28 male patients and 51 female patients). By combining these two cohorts (where appropriate), I was able to ensure that my inferences were able to carry a degree of statistical relevance.

Of the 160 patients, *U. parvum* had the highest prevalence amongst patients at 22.5%, followed by *M hominis* at 11.25%, *U. urealyticum* at 8.1%, *N. gonorrhoea* at 4.38% and *M. genitalium* at 2.5%. A meta-analysis conducted to look at the epidemiology of *M. hominis*, *M. genitalium* and *Ureaplasma urealyticum* in Iran (Moridi et al. 2020) found higher levels of *U. parvum* than *U. urealyticum* but similarly lower levels of *M. hominis*. In addition, Moridi and colleagues noted that *U. urealyticum* had a higher prevalence than *U. parvum* or *M. hominis* in infertile men and women. Another study in Shenyang, China (Shao et al. 2021) looked at the prevalence of *U. parvum* and *M. hominis* in suspected UTIs and found 37.5% of patients carrying U. parvum, 2% carrying *M. hominis* and 7.6% carrying both as a co-infection. While I did not find a statistically significant relationship between any combination of co-infection, Shao and their colleagues observed seasonal trends in co-infection and altered resistance profiles, demonstrating the benefit of analysing these pathogens as a cohort.

Looking at the wider body of works on this topic, I found significantly more works analysing these pathogens in single sex cohorts. This is likely due to the wider acceptance of these bacteria having a role in gynaecological and obstetric complications focusing research efforts towards studying these bacteria in female patients. Furthermore, I observed a significantly higher prevalence of U. parvum and M. hominis in female patients, suggesting a sex-based component to pathogenicity. The relationship between sex and pathogenicity is not entirely understood but well-established through observational studies, with U. parvum acknowledged to be far more likely to produce symptoms in female patients (Ma et al. 2021) and the role of U. urealyticum in male NGU acknowledged even by the otherwise-dismissive European guidelines on its treatment (Jensen et al. 2016). This could suggest that U. parvum is an opportunistic pathogen in women and a commensal in men, with the inverse true for U. urealyticum. If so, I would hypothesize such a variance would be underpinned by aspects of biochemistry and cytology not yet understood. This was briefly investigated via differing concentrations of hormone levels, but culturing both U. parvum and U. urealyticum in varying levels of both beta-oestradiol and testosterone did not produce any observably consistent differences in growth. As previously described, the mechanisms of pathogenicity are likely secondary in nature and relate to hormone-mediated signalling mechanisms such as cytokines (Bereshchenko et al. 2018; Garza et al. 2021) and the interactions.

Examining the usage of real-time, quantitative PCR for the analysis of patient samples, the inhouse qPCR assay and accompanying methodology demonstrated a 100% concordance with both the SpeeDx commercial molecular assay and the standardized NHS culture methods for the detection of all urogenital mollicute pathogens, with only the detection of N. gonorrhoea suffering from issues with culture failures and the presence of contaminants. It should be noted that the in-house molecular assay had a 100% concurrence with the commercial assay, demonstrating the increased species-specificity of molecular methods. The successful concordance of pathogen detection is tempered with the failure of the assay to accurately determine species-specific tetracycline resistance, due to the ubiquity of *tet*M as a resistance gene and insufficient specificity of that aspect of the assay. This emphasizes the need for culture-based methods to provide confirmatory results and one of the major barriers to the implementation of molecular assays such as this one – the time and cost required to develop and implement such assays. Another barrier is developing the skills required to interpret the results of an assay within the context of a patient's treatment (Messacar et al. 2017; Hu et al. 2019), absent from many online postal self-sampling (OPSS) STI services available. Nonetheless, it has been demonstrated that these methods are a rapid and accurate means to detect these pathogens and their resistance profiles. Furthermore, I have provided evidence of relatively high levels of resistance in N. gonorrhoea, M. genitalium and M. *hominis,* emphasizing the need for further incidence and AST surveillance.

7.5 Summary

In this study I examined the levels of antimicrobial resistance and its genomic mechanisms in urogenital mollicutes, to determine whether they could be rapidly and effectively identified using modern molecular methods through the link between mycoplasmas and symptoms of disease, utilizing both established links with mycoplasma infections and symptoms not yet associated clinically with mycoplasma infections such as *Mycoplasma hominis*. In summary:

Tetracycline resistance was found in 12 out of the 81 *Mycoplasma hominis* isolates acquired from PHE (14.8%), uniformly mediated by *tet*M, and carried in a Tn*916* transposon. Genomic analysis of these isolates showed high levels of recombination of the Tn916 genes surrounding *tet*M, confirmed by supplementary testing of isolates grown in parallel. Furthermore, isolates carrying this transposon did not demonstrate common ancestry, suggesting that the transposon was not inherited clonally, but regular became fixed in strains via horizontal gene transfer. This transposon was also shown to confer resistance to tetracycline, but not josamycin or tigecycline, providing alternative means of treatment for these strains.

Mycoplasma hominis was observed to carry fluoroquinolone resistance in 4.1% of the 72 isolates analysed, mediated by linked point mutations in the *gyr*A and *par*C topoisomerase IV genes. SNP frequencies were highest amongst *gyr*A genes and varied broadly between isolates, but non-synonymous mutations were drastically lower. As observed with tetracycline resistance, fluoroquinolone-resistant strains were shown to lack common lineage, suggesting the most likely source of resistance was spontaneous mutation induced by short-term selection pressures. Additionally, isolates carrying *gyr*A mutations but not the corresponding *par*C mutations were observed to lack the resistance phenotype. When the

resistance phenotype was induced via repeated challenge, the resulting strains developed the *parC* mutations seen in other resistant isolates, suggesting a causal link between these two mutations.

13 Ureaplasma spp. isolates found to be resistant to tetracycline were also observed to carry a Tn916 transposon of varying composition, with resistance mediated by the transposon's accessory *tet*M gene. The transposons present in *U. urealyticum* were found to be mostly intact, with mutations confined to SNPs such as a poly(A) mutation present in HPA71 that truncated the *tet*M gene until repeated challenge induced a gain-of-function mutation. In comparison, four out of five *U. parvum* isolates were found to have undergone significantly more recombination, including the full deletion of all genes upstream from *tet*M and a truncation in the *tet*M gene of DF145 that could not be rescued by repeated challenge. DF28U was an outlier in that it contained a fully conserved Tn916 transposon comparable to U. urealyticum with point mutations at ORF 14, suggesting a mechanism for the transposon's loss of horizontal transmission.

In total, 160 patients were recruited as part of an interventional clinical study - 81 prepandemic (20 male patients and 61 female patients) and 79 post-pandemic (28 male patients and 51 female patients). Of the 160 patients, 36 (22.5%) carried U. parvum, 13 (8.1%) carried U. urealyticum, 17 (11.25%) carried M. hominis (MH), 7 (4.38%) carried GC and 4 (2.5%) patients caried MG. No significant difference in the incidence of any pathogen was found before and after pandemic restrictions. After AST, three out of four cases (75%) of MG were found to be azithromycin resistant, three of the seven cases of GC (41.7%) were found to be ciprofloxacin resistant, and seven out of nineteen MH (37%) were determined to be tetracycline resistant. 100% concordance was observed between the in-house qPCR assay, the commercial SpeeDx kit and traditional culture-based detection, all of which were able to be used in parallel pre-pandemic. Likewise, 100% concordance was observed between molecular AST and culture AST for M. hominis, U. parvum and U. urealyticum, but a concordance of only 50% concordance was observed for *N. gonorrhoea*. This disparity was interrogated by supplementary qPCR testing and genomic sequency and found to be a contaminant and further emphasized the role of molecular testing to supplement and enhance traditional, culture-based methods.

7.6 Future Work & Recommendations

The findings presented in this study have offered insight into a series of mechanisms that mediate antimicrobial resistance in urogenital mycoplasmas. However, there are a series of questions that are still unanswered that require further experiments to elucidate.

Firstly, much of the work here has been focused on the Tn916 transposon that mediates tetracycline resistance in *Mycoplasma hominis* and *Ureaplasma spp*. While isolate-specific and species-specific differences were observed, there was a common structure observed in both studies that suggest the occurrence of horizontal gene transfer in both. Nonetheless, the next obvious investigation would be to observe the movement of the Tn916 transposon and its associated *tet*M gene from a donor to a host genome, and in doing so elucidate the precise mechanism of transfer.

Another potential avenue of investigation could be to further our understanding of tetracycline resistance in *M. genitalium*. Isolates demonstrating resistance have been recently described (Le Roy et al. 2021) but there has been some difficulty in pinning down the mechanisms of resistance (Chua et al. 2022) and this area of research may help us understand why doxycycline has such a poor rate of cure (Jensen et al. 2022).

The second obvious avenue for further work is in the clinical aspect of this work. While a cohort of 160 patients is far lower than the original target of 1000 patients, the sample size was nonetheless large enough to draw some inferences on the correlations between demographics and urogenital mycoplasmas. Furthermore, the disruption caused by the pandemic meant that a full cost-efficiency analysis was not possible. As such, the next step in understanding the benefits of rapid diagnostics in a clinical sexual health setting would be to expand the study conducted here with a larger cohort of participants, and ideally more demographic data. Once these associations have been better characterized, we could move to target those demographics most at-risk with better tailored treatments to produce better patient outcomes.

8 Bibliography

Aboklaish, A. F., Ahmed, S., McAllister, D., Cassell, G., Zheng, X. T. and Spiller, O. B. 2016. Differential recognition of the multiple banded antigen isoforms across Ureaplasma parvum and Ureaplasma urealyticum species by monoclonal antibodies. *Journal of Microbiological Methods* 127, pp. 13-19. doi: 10.1016/j.mimet.2016.05.015

Ahmadi, M. H. 2021. Resistance to tetracyclines among clinical isolates of Mycoplasma hominis and Ureaplasma species: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy* 76(4), pp. 865-875. doi: 10.1093/jac/dkaa538

Ambroset, C. et al. 2016. New insights into the classification and integration specificity of streptococcus integrative conjugative elements through extensive genome exploration. *Frontiers in Microbiology* 6(JAN), pp. 1483-1483. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2015.01483

Amorim, A. T. et al. 2017. Co-infection of sexually transmitted pathogens and Human Papillomavirus in cervical samples of women of Brazil. *BMC Infectious Diseases* 17(1), doi: 10.1186/s12879-017-2835-5

Anckaert, E. et al. 2021. Extensive monitoring of the natural menstrual cycle using the serum biomarkers estradiol, luteinizing hormone and progesterone. *Practical Laboratory Medicine* 25, p. e00211. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plabm.2021.e00211</u>

Ansari, N. S., Asztalos, E. and Rolnitsky, A. 2021. Mycoplasma hominis meningitis in an extremely preterm newborn: a case report. *BMC Pediatrics* 21(1), doi: 10.1186/s12887-021-02532-3

Antczak, M., Michaelis, M. and Wass, M. N. 2019. Environmental conditions shape the nature of a minimal bacterial genome. *Nature Communications* 10(1), pp. 1-13. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-10837-2

Archer, M., Dogra, N. and Kyprianou, N. 2020. Inflammation as a Driver of Prostate Cancer Metastasis and Therapeutic Resistance. *Cancers* 12(10), p. 2984. doi: 10.3390/cancers12102984

Armengol Álvarez, L., Van De Sijpe, G., Desmet, S., Metsemakers, W.-J., Spriet, I., Allegaert, K. and Rozenski, J. 2022. Ways to Improve Insights into Clindamycin Pharmacology and Pharmacokinetics Tailored to Practice. *Antibiotics* 11(5), p. 701. doi: 10.3390/antibiotics11050701

Arsic, B., Barber, J., Čikoš, A., Mladenovic, M., Stankovic, N. and Novak, P. 2018. 16membered macrolide antibiotics: a review. *International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents* 51(3), pp. 283-298. doi: 10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2017.05.020 Askari, P., Namaei, M. H., Ghazvini, K. and Hosseini, M. 2021. In vitro and in vivo toxicity and antibacterial efficacy of melittin against clinical extensively drug-resistant bacteria. *BMC Pharmacology and Toxicology* 22(1), doi: 10.1186/s40360-021-00503-z

Babaei, S. and Haeili, M. 2021. Evaluating the performance characteristics of different antimicrobial susceptibility testing methodologies for testing susceptibility of gram-negative bacteria to tigecycline. *BMC Infectious Diseases* 21(1), p. 709. doi: 10.1186/s12879-021-06338-7

Babakhani, S. and Oloomi, M. 2018. Transposons: the agents of antibiotic resistance in bacteria. *Journal of Basic Microbiology* 58(11), pp. 905-917. doi: 10.1002/jobm.201800204

Barnes, M. H., Tarantino, P. M., Spacciapoli, P., Brown, N. C., Yu, H. and Dybvig, K. 1994. DNA polymerase III of Mycoplasma pulmonis: isolation and characterization of the enzyme and its structural gene, polC. *Molecular Microbiology* 13(5), pp. 843-854. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.1994.tb00476.x

Beale, M. A. and Lukehart, S. A. 2020. Archaeogenetics: What Can Ancient Genomes Tell Us about the Origin of Syphilis? *Current Biology* 30(19), pp. R1092-R1095. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2020.08.022

Bebear, C. C. M., Bové, J. M., Bebear, C. C. M. and Renaudin, J. 1997. Characterization of Mycoplasma hominis mutations involved in resistance to fluoroquinolones. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* 41(2), pp. 269-273. doi: 10.1128/aac.41.2.269

Bébéar, C. M., Renaudin, H., Charron, A., Bové, J. M., Bébéar, C. and Renaudin, J. 1998. Alterations in topoisomerase IV and DNA gyrase in quinolone-resistant mutants of Mycoplasma hominis obtained in vitro. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* 42(9), pp. 2304-2311. doi: 10.1128/aac.42.9.2304

Bebear, C. M., Renaudin, J., Charron, A., Renaudin, H., de Barbeyrac, B., Schaeverbeke, T. and Bebear, C. 1999. Mutations in the gyrA, parC, and parE genes associated with fluoroquinolone resistance in clinical isolates of Mycoplasma hominis. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* 43(4), pp. 954-956. doi: 10.1128/AAC.43.4.954

Beeton, M. L., Chalker, V. J., Jones, L. C., Maxwell, N. C. and Spiller, O. B. 2016a. Antibiotic resistance among clinical Ureaplasma isolates recovered from neonates in England and Wales between 2007 and 2013. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* 60(1), pp. 52-56. doi: 10.1128/AAC.00889-15

Beeton, M. L., Chalker, V. J., Kotecha, S. and Spiller, O. B. 2009a. Comparison of full gyrA, gyrB, parC and parE gene sequences between all Ureaplasma parvum and Ureaplasma urealyticum serovars to separate true fluoroquinolone antibiotic resistance mutations from
non-resistance polymorphism. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy* 64(3), pp. 529-538. doi: 10.1093/jac/dkp218

Beeton, M. L., Chalker, V. J., Maxwell, N. C., Kotecha, S. and Spiller, O. B. 2009b. Concurrent Titration and Determination of Antibiotic Resistance in Ureaplasma Species with Identification of Novel Point Mutations in Genes Associated with Resistance. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* 53(5), pp. 2020-2027. doi: 10.1128/aac.01349-08

Beeton, M. L., Maxwell, N. C., Chalker, V. J., Brown, R. J., Aboklaish, A. F. and Spiller, O. B. 2016b. Isolation of separate ureaplasma species from endotracheal secretions of twin patients. *Pediatrics* 138(2), doi: 10.1542/peds.2016-0565

Beeton, M. L., Payne, M. S. and Jones, L. 2019. The Role of Ureaplasma spp. in the Development of Nongonococcal Urethritis and Infertility among Men. doi: 10.1128/CMR

Beeton, M. L. and Spiller, O. B. 2017. Antibiotic resistance among Ureaplasma spp. isolates: Cause for concern? *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy* 72(2), pp. 330-337. doi: 10.1093/jac/dkw425

Bereshchenko, O., Bruscoli, S. and Riccardi, C. 2018. Glucocorticoids, sex hormones, and immunity. *Frontiers in immunology* 9, p. 1332.

Berger, J. M., Gamblin, S. J., Harrison, S. C. and Wang, J. C. 1996. Structure and mechanism of DNA topoisomerase II. *Nature* 379(6562), pp. 225-232. doi: 10.1038/379225a0

Berglund, F. et al. 2020. Comprehensive screening of genomic and metagenomic data reveals a large diversity of tetracycline resistance genes. *Microbial Genomics* 6(11), pp. 1-14. doi: 10.1099/mgen.0.000455

Biernat-Sudolska, M. g., Bilska-Wilkosz, A., Rojek-Zakrzewska, D., Zawiliñska, B. and Kosz-Vnenchak, M. 2017. Evaluation of Urease Activity by the Human Ureaplasma Species. *Folia Biologica (Kraków)* 65(3), doi: 10.3409/fb65_3.143

Birger, R., Saunders, J., Estcourt, C., Sutton, A. J., Mercer, C. H., Roberts, T. and White, P. J. 2017. Should we screen for the sexually-transmitted infection Mycoplasma genitalium? Evidence synthesis using a transmission-dynamic model. *Scientific Reports* 7(1), doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-16302-8

Birkenmeyer, R. D., Kroll, S. J., Lewis, C., Stern, K. F. and Zurenko, G. E. 1984. Synthesis and antimicrobial activity of clindamycin analogs: pirlimycin, a potent antibacterial agent. *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry* 27(2), pp. 216-223.

Bishr, A. S., Abdelaziz, S. M., Yahia, I. S., Yassien, M. A., Hassouna, N. A. and Aboshanab, K. M. 2021. Association of Macrolide Resistance Genotypes and Synergistic Antibiotic

Combinations for Combating Macrolide-Resistant MRSA Recovered from Hospitalized Patients. *Biology* 10(7), p. 624. doi: 10.3390/biology10070624

Blomquist, P. B. et al. 2018. Sera selected from national STI surveillance system shows Chlamydia trachomatis PgP3 antibody correlates with time since infection and number of previous infections. *PLoS ONE* 13(12), p. e0208652. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0208652

Blumenthal, K. G., Lu, N., Zhang, Y., Li, Y., Walensky, R. P. and Choi, H. K. 2018. Risk of meticillin resistant Staphylococcus aureus and Clostridium difficile in patients with a documented penicillin allergy: population based matched cohort study. *BMJ*, p. k2400. doi: 10.1136/bmj.k2400

Bodiyabadu, K. et al. 2021. Detection of parC gene mutations associated with quinolone resistance in Mycoplasma genitalium: evaluation of a multiplex real-time PCR assay. *Journal of Medical Microbiology* 70(3), doi: 10.1099/jmm.0.001257

Boostrom, I. et al. 2021. Evaluation of the MYCOPLASMA IST3 urogenital mycoplasma assay in an international multicentre trial. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy* 76(12), pp. 3175-3182. doi: 10.1093/jac/dkab320

Borghi, A. A. and Palma, M. S. A. 2014. Tetracycline: Production, waste treatment and environmental impact assessment. *Brazilian Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*. Faculdade de Ciencias Farmaceuticas (Biblioteca).

Bottery, M. J., Wood, A. J. and Brockhurst, M. A. 2017. Adaptive modulation of antibiotic resistance through intragenomic coevolution. *Nature Ecology and Evolution* 1(9), pp. 1364-1369. doi: 10.1038/s41559-017-0242-3

Boujemaa, S., Ben Allaya, A., Mlik, B., Mardassi, H. and Ben Abdelmoumen Mardassi, B. 2018. Phylogenetics of Mycoplasma hominis clinical strains associated with gynecological infections or infertility as disclosed by an expanded multilocus sequence typing scheme. *Scientific Reports* 8(1), pp. 1-10. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-33260-x

Braam, J. F., Van Marm, S., Severs, T. T., Belousov, Y., Mahoney, W. and Kusters, J. G. 2018. Sensitive and specific assay for the simultaneous detection of Mycoplasma genitalium and macrolide resistance-associated mutations. *European Journal of Clinical Microbiology & Infectious Diseases* 37(11), pp. 2137-2144. doi: 10.1007/s10096-018-3350-3

Bradshaw, C. S., Jensen, J. S. and Waites, K. B. 2017. New Horizons in Mycoplasma genitalium Treatment. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases The Journal of Infectious Diseases* **®** 216(2), pp. 13-16. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jix132

Brightman, C. 2019. Plague and anthrax: diagnosis and management. *Trends in Urology & Men's Health* 10(3), pp. 27-30. doi: 10.1002/tre.697

Brown, R. J., Chalker, V. J. and Spiller, O. B. 2014. Mycoplasma hominis Variable Adherence-Associated Antigen: A Major Adhesin and Highly Variable Surface Membrane Protein. *Advances in Microbiology* 04(11), pp. 736-746. doi: 10.4236/aim.2014.411080

Buckler, R. A., Peahota, M. M. and Gallagher, J. C. 2017. Beta-Lactams and Tetracyclines. *Side Effects of Drugs Annual*. Elsevier B.V.

Burgos, M. I., Fernández, R. A., Celej, M. S., Rossi, L. I., Fidelio, G. D. and Dassie, S. A. 2011. Binding of the highly toxic tetracycline derivative, anhydrotetracycline, to bovine serum albumin. *Biological and Pharmaceutical Bulletin*, doi: 10.1248/bpb.34.1301

Burgos, R. and Totten, P. A. 2014. Characterization of the Operon Encoding the Holliday Junction Helicase RuvAB from Mycoplasma genitalium and Its Role in mgpB and mgpC Gene Variation. *Journal of Bacteriology* 196(8), pp. 1608-1618. doi: 10.1128/jb.01385-13

Calcutt, M. J. and Foecking, M. F. 2015. An excision-competent and exogenous mosaic transposon harbors the tetM gene in multiple Mycoplasma hominis lineages. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*.

Cardot Martin, E., Dolidon, S., Lesprit, P., Vasse, M. and Pereyre, S. 2021. A strain uncoloured by Gram staining in a pleural fluid. *Clinical microbiology and infection : the official publication of the European Society of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases* 28, doi: 10.1016/j.cmi.2021.08.010

Carneiro, F. P. et al. 2020. Cervical Cytology of Samples with Ureaplasma urealyticum, Ureaplasma parvum, Chlamydia trachomatis, Trichomonas vaginalis, Mycoplasma hominis, and Neisseria gonorrhoeae Detected by Multiplex PCR. *BioMed Research International* 2020, p. 7045217. doi: 10.1155/2020/7045217

CDC. 2023. Disk Diffusion Testing - Gonorrhea - STD Information from CDC.

Chalker, V. J. et al. 2021. Tetracycline Resistance Mediated by tetM has Variable Integrative Conjugative Element Composition in Mycoplasma hominis Strains Isolated in the United Kingdom from 2005 to 2015. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* 65(4), doi: 10.1128/aac.02513-20

Chang, S. Y. et al. 2022. Mycoplasma hominis infections in solid organ transplant recipients: Clinical characteristics, treatment outcomes, and comparison of phenotypic and genotypic susceptibility profiles. *Transplant Infectious Disease* 24(3), doi: 10.1111/tid.13822

Che, G., Liu, F., Chang, L., Lai, S., Teng, J. and Yang, Q. 2022. Mycoplasma hominis Meningitis Diagnosed by Metagenomic Next-Generation Sequencing in a Preterm Newborn: a Case Report and Literature Review. *Laboratory Medicine*, doi: 10.1093/labmed/lmac078 Chen, Y., Huang, Z., Fang, X., Li, W., Yang, B. and Zhang, W. 2020. Diagnosis and treatment of mycoplasmal septic arthritis: a systematic review. *International Orthopaedics*. Springer.

Chernov, V. M. et al. 2018. Antimicrobial resistance in mollicutes: known and newly emerging mechanisms. *FEMS Microbiology Letters* 365(18), doi: 10.1093/femsle/fny185

Chopra, I. and Roberts, M. 2001. Tetracycline Antibiotics: Mode of Action, Applications, Molecular Biology, and Epidemiology of Bacterial Resistance. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews* 65(2), pp. 232-260. doi: 10.1128/mmbr.65.2.232-260.2001

Chow, E. P. F. et al. 2020. An open-label, parallel-group, randomised controlled trial of antiseptic mouthwash versus antibiotics for oropharyngeal gonorrhoea treatment (OMEGA2). *Scientific Reports* 10(1), doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-76184-1

Chua, T.-P. et al. 2022. Impact of 16S rRNA single nucleotide polymorphisms on Mycoplasma genitalium organism load with doxycycline treatment. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* 66(5), pp. e00243-00222.

Chukwudi, C. U. 2016. rRNA binding sites and the molecular mechanism of action of the tetracyclines. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*. American Society for Microbiology.

Chukwudi, C. U. and Good, L. 2019. Doxycycline inhibits pre-rRNA processing and mature rRNA formation in E. coli. *Journal of Antibiotics* 72(4), pp. 225-236. doi: 10.1038/s41429-019-0149-0

Cina, M., Baumann, L., Egli-Gany, D., Halbeisen, F. S., Ali, H., Scott, P. and Low, N. 2019. Mycoplasma genitalium incidence, persistence, concordance between partners and progression: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sexually Transmitted Infections* 95(5), pp. 328-335. doi: 10.1136/sextrans-2018-053823

Ciric, L., Mullany, P. and Roberts, A. P. 2011. Antibiotic and antiseptic resistance genes are linked on a novel mobile genetic element: Tn6087. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy* 66(10), pp. 2235-2239. doi: 10.1093/jac/dkr311

Citti, C., Baranowski, E., Dordet-Frisoni, E., Faucher, M. and Nouvel, L.-X. 2020. Genomic Islands in Mycoplasmas. *Genes* 11(8), p. 836. doi: 10.3390/genes11080836

Citti, C., Dordet-Frisoni, E., Nouvel, L. X., Kuo, C. H. and Baranowski, E. 2018. Horizontal gene transfers in mycoplasmas (Mollicutes). *Current Issues in Molecular Biology* 29, pp. 3-22. doi: 10.21775/cimb.029.003

Citti, C., Nouvel, L. X. and Baranowski, E. 2010. Phase and antigenic variation in mycoplasmas. *Future Microbiology*.

CLSI. 2011. M43-A Methods for Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing for Human Mycoplasmas; Approved Guideline. *CLSI*.

Connell, S. R., Tracz, D. M., Nierhaus, K. H. and Taylor, D. E. 2003. Ribosomal Protection Proteins and Their Mechanism of Tetracycline Resistance. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*. American Society for Microbiology Journals.

Cornelisse, V. J. et al. 2017. Increased Detection of Pharyngeal and Rectal Gonorrhea in Men Who Have Sex With Men After Transition From Culture To Nucleic Acid Amplification Testing. *Sexually transmitted diseases*. 44(2), pp. 114-117. doi: 10.1097/olq.00000000000553

Cousin, S., Whittington, W. L. H. and Roberts, M. C. 2003. Acquired Macrolide Resistance Genes in Pathogenic Neisseria spp. Isolated between 1940 and 1987. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* 47(12), pp. 3877-3880. doi: 10.1128/aac.47.12.3877-3880.2003

Cox, C., McKenna, J. P., Watt, A. P. and Coyle, P. V. 2016. Ureaplasma parvum and Mycoplasma genitalium are found to be significantly associated with microscopy-confirmed urethritis in a routine genitourinary medicine setting. *International Journal of STD and AIDS* 27(10), pp. 861-867. doi: 10.1177/0956462415597620

Dalhoff, A. 2012. Global Fluoroquinolone Resistance Epidemiology and Implicitons for Clinical Use. *Interdisciplinary Perspectives on Infectious Diseases* 2012, pp. 1-37. doi: 10.1155/2012/976273

Danchin, A. and Fang, G. 2016. Unknown unknowns: essential genes in quest for function. *Microbial Biotechnology* 9(5), pp. 530-540. doi: 10.1111/1751-7915.12384

Darville, T. 2021. Pelvic Inflammatory Disease Due to Neisseria gonorrhoeae and Chlamydia trachomatis: Immune Evasion Mechanisms and Pathogenic Disease Pathways. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases* 224(Supplement_2), pp. S39-S46. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiab031

Davidson, A. L., Dassa, E., Orelle, C. and Chen, J. 2008. Structure, Function, and Evolution of Bacterial ATP-Binding Cassette Systems. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews* 72(2), pp. 317-364. doi: 10.1128/mmbr.00031-07

Deguchi, T., Kikuchi, M., Yasuda, M. and Ito, S. 2016. Multidrug-Resistant Mycoplasma genitalium is Increasing. *Clinical Infectious Diseases* 62(3), pp. 405-406. doi: 10.1093/cid/civ898

Dehon, P. M. and Mcgowin, C. L. 2017. The Immunopathogenesis of Mycoplasma genitalium Infections in Women: A Narrative Review. *Sexually Transmitted Diseases* 44(7), pp. 428-432. doi: 10.1097/olq.00000000000021

Deo, P. et al. 2018. Outer membrane vesicles from Neisseria gonorrhoeae target PorB to mitochondria and induce apoptosis. *PLOS Pathogens* 14(3), p. e1006945. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1006945

Derbie, A., Mekonnen, D., Woldeamanuel, Y. and Abebe, T. 2020. Azithromycin resistant gonococci: a literature review. *Antimicrobial Resistance & Infection Control* 9(1), doi: 10.1186/s13756-020-00805-7

Dessì, D., Margarita, V., Cocco, A. R., Marongiu, A., Fiori, P. L. and Rappelli, P. 2019. Trichomonas vaginalis and Mycoplasma hominis: new tales of two old friends. *Parasitology* 146(9), pp. 1150-1155. doi: 10.1017/s0031182018002135

di Cerbo, A., Pezzuto, F., Guidetti, G., Canello, S. and Corsi, L. 2019. Tetracyclines: Insights and Updates of their Use in Human and Animal Pathology and their Potential Toxicity. *The Open Biochemistry Journal* 13(1), pp. 1-12. doi: 10.2174/1874091x01913010001

Dillard, J. P. and Seifert, H. S. 2001. A variable genetic island specific for Neisseria gonorrhoeae is involved in providing DNA for natural transformation and is found more often in disseminated infection isolates. *Molecular Microbiology* 41(1), pp. 263-277. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.2001.02520.x

Dönhöfer, A., Franckenberg, S., Wickles, S., Berninghausen, O., Beckmann, R. and Wilson, D. N. 2012. Structural basis for TetM-mediated tetracycline resistance. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 109(42), pp. 16900-16905. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1208037109

Dordet-Frisoni, E., Faucher, M., Sagné, E., Baranowski, E., Tardy, F., Nouvel, L. X. and Citti, C. 2019. Mycoplasma Chromosomal Transfer: A Distributive, Conjugative Process Creating an Infinite Variety of Mosaic Genomes. *Frontiers in Microbiology* 10, pp. 2441-2441. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2019.02441

Duan, B., Ding, P., Navarre, W. W., Liu, J. and Xia, B. 2021. Xenogeneic Silencing and Bacterial Genome Evolution: Mechanisms for DNA Recognition Imply Multifaceted Roles of Xenogeneic Silencers. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* 38(10), pp. 4135-4148. doi: 10.1093/molbev/msab136

Dumke, R. 2021. Antimicrobial resistance in clinical isolates of Ureaplasma spp. from samples in Germany. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* 65(5), pp. e02342-02320. doi: 10.1128/AAC.02342-20

Dunai, A. et al. 2019. Rapid decline of bacterial drug-resistance in an antibiotic-free environment through phenotypic reversion. *eLife* 8, doi: 10.7554/eLife.47088

Durrant, M. G., Li, M. M., Siranosian, B. A., Montgomery, S. B. and Bhatt, A. S. 2020. A Bioinformatic Analysis of Integrative Mobile Genetic Elements Highlights Their Role in Bacterial Adaptation. *Cell Host and Microbe* 27(1), pp. 140-153.e149. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2019.10.022

Durukan, D. et al. 2020. Doxycycline and Sitafloxacin Combination Therapy for Treating Highly Resistant Mycoplasma genitalium. *Emerging Infectious Diseases* 26(8), pp. 1870-1874. doi: 10.3201/eid2608.191806

EMA. 2019. Disabling and potentially permanent side effects lead to suspension or restrictions of quinolone of fluoroquinolone antibiotics. *European Medicines Association*,

Engelstädter, J., Harms, K. and Johnsen, P. J. 2016. The evolutionary dynamics of integrons in changing environments. *ISME Journal* 10(6), pp. 1296-1307. doi: 10.1038/ismej.2015.222

Escudero, J. A., Loot, C., Nivina, A. and Mazel, D. 2015. The Integron: Adaptation On Demand. *Microbiology Spectrum* 3(2), doi: 10.1128/microbiolspec.mdna3-0019-2014

Esfahani, S., Ahmadrajabi, R., Mollaei, H. and Saffari, F. 2020. Co-incidence of type II topoisomerase mutations and efflux expression in high fluoroquinolone resistant Enterococcus faecalis isolated from urinary tract infections. *Infection and Drug Resistance* 13, pp. 553-559. doi: 10.2147/IDR.S237299

Evans, R. T. and Taylor-Robinson, D. 1978. The incidence of tetracycline-resistant strains of Ureaplasma urealyticum. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy* 4(1), pp. 57-63. doi: 10.1093/jac/4.1.57

Ezelarab, H. A. A., Abbas, S. H., Hassan, H. A. and Abuo-Rahma, G. E.-D. A. 2018. Recent updates of fluoroquinolones as antibacterial agents. *Archiv der Pharmazie* 351(9), p. 1800141. doi: 10.1002/ardp.201800141

Falk, L. and Jensen, J. S. 2016. Successful outcome of macrolide-resistant Mycoplasma genitalium urethritis after spectinomycin treatment: a case report. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy* 72(2), pp. 624-625. doi: 10.1093/jac/dkw405

Faris, R., Andersen, S. E., McCullough, A., Gourronc, F., Klingelhutz, A. J. and Weber, M. M. 2019. Chlamydia trachomatis serovars drive differential production of proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines depending on the type of cell infected. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology* 9, p. 399.

Férandon, C., Peuchant, O., Janis, C., Benard, A., Renaudin, H., Pereyre, S. and Bébéar, C. 2011. Development of a real-time PCR targeting the yidC gene for the detection of Mycoplasma hominis and comparison with quantitative culture. *Clinical Microbiology and Infection* 17(2), pp. 155-159. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-0691.2010.03217.x

Fifer, H. et al. 2021. Frequency and Correlates of Mycoplasma genitalium Antimicrobial Resistance Mutations and Their Association With Treatment Outcomes: Findings From a National Sentinel Surveillance Pilot in England. *Sexually Transmitted Diseases* 48(12), pp. 951-954. doi: 10.1097/olq.00000000001493

Fifer, H., Saunders, J., Soni, S., Sadiq, S. T. and Fitzgerald, M. 2020. British Association for Sexual Health and HIV national guideline for the management of infection with Neisseria gonorrhoeae (2018). *International Journal of STD & AIDS* 31(1), pp. 4-15. doi: 10.1177/0956462419886775

File, T. M., Alexander, E., Goldberg, L., Das, A. F., Sandrock, C., Paukner, S. and Moran, G. J. 2021. Lefamulin efficacy and safety in a pooled phase 3 clinical trial population with community-acquired bacterial pneumonia and common clinical comorbidities. *BMC Pulmonary Medicine* 21(1), doi: 10.1186/s12890-021-01472-z

Fiori, P. L., Diaz, N., Cocco, A. R., Rappelli, P. and Dessì, D. 2013. Association of Trichomonas vaginalis with its symbiont Mycoplasma hominis synergistically upregulates the in vitro proinflammatory response of human monocytes. *Sexually Transmitted Infections* 89(6), pp. 449-454. doi: 10.1136/sextrans-2012-051006

Fisunov, G. Y. et al. 2022. Thymidine utilisation pathway is a novel phenotypic switch of Mycoplasma hominis. *Journal of Medical Microbiology* 71(1), doi: 10.1099/jmm.0.001468

Footman, A., Dagama, D., Smith, C. H. and Van Der Pol, B. 2021. A Systematic Review of New Approaches to Sexually Transmitted Infection Screening Framed in the Capability, Opportunity, Motivation, and Behavior Model of Implementation Science. *Sex Transm Dis* 48(8s), pp. S58-s65. doi: 10.1097/olq.00000000001461

Ford, D. K. 1967. Relationships between mycoplasma and the etiology of nongonococcal urethritis and Reiter's syndrome. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 143(1), pp. 501-504. doi: doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.1967.tb27694.x

Forrestel, A. K., Kovarik, C. L. and Katz, K. A. 2020. Sexually acquired syphilis. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology* 82(1), pp. 17-28. doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2019.02.074

Fraser, C. M. et al. 1995. The Minimal Gene Complement of Mycoplasma genitalium. *Science* 270(5235), pp. 397-404. doi: 10.1126/science.270.5235.397

Frølund, M., Falk, L., Ahrens, P. and Jensen, J. S. 2019. Detection of ureaplasmas and bacterial vaginosis associated bacteria and their association with non-gonococcal urethritis in men. *PLoS ONE* 14(4), p. e0214425. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0214425

Fürnkranz, U., Walochnik, J. and Henrich, B. 2018. Mycoplasma hominis shows straindependent increase in resistance to selected antibiotics after symbiosis with Trichomonas vaginalis. *Journal of Global Antimicrobial Resistance* 14, pp. 169-175. doi: 10.1016/j.jgar.2018.04.003

Furr, P. and Taylor-Robinson, D. 1989. The establishment and persistence of Ureaplasma urealyticum in oestradiol-treated female mice. *Journal of Medical Microbiology* 29, pp. 111-114. doi: 10.1099/00222615-29-2-111

Gaillard, T., Briolant, S., Madamet, M. and Pradines, B. 2017. The end of a dogma: The safety of doxycycline use in young children for malaria treatment. *Malaria Journal*, doi: 10.1186/s12936-017-1797-9

Garbas, K., Zapała, P., Zapała, Ł. and Radziszewski, P. 2021. The Role of Microbial Factors in Prostate Cancer Development—An Up-to-Date Review. *Journal of Clinical Medicine* 10(20), p. 4772. doi: 10.3390/jcm10204772

Garcia-Castillo, M., Morosini, M.-I., Galvez, M., Baquero, F., Del Campo, R. and Meseguer, M.-A. 2008. Differences in biofilm development and antibiotic susceptibility among clinical Ureaplasma urealyticum and Ureaplasma parvum isolates. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy* 62(5), pp. 1027-1030. doi: 10.1093/jac/dkn337

García-Morales, L., González-González, L., Querol, E. and Piñol, J. 2016. A minimized motile machinery for Mycoplasma genitalium. *Molecular Microbiology* 100(1), pp. 125-138. doi: 10.1111/mmi.13305

Garza, J., Gandhi, K., Choi, S., Sanchez, A. and Ventolini, G. 2021. Cytokine profiles and Lactobacillus species presence in pre-menopausal subjects with genital Mycoplasma genitalium or Ureaplasma urealyticum colonization. *Women's Health* 17, p. 174550652110091. doi: 10.1177/17455065211009181

Gaydos, C. A. and Melendez, J. H. 2020. Point-by-Point Progress: Gonorrhea Point of Care Tests. *Expert Review of Molecular Diagnostics* 20(8), pp. 803-813. doi: 10.1080/14737159.2020.1778467

Gerber, L. et al. 2018. Ureaplasma and Mycoplasma in kidney allograft recipients-A case series and review of the literature. *Transplant Infectious Disease* 20(5), pp. e12937-e12937. doi: 10.1111/tid.12937

Gerrits, M. M., De Zoete, M. R., Arents, N. L. A., Kuipers, E. J. and Kusters, J. G. 2002. 16S rRNA Mutation-Mediated Tetracycline Resistance in

<i>Helicobacter pylori</i>. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy 46(9), pp. 2996-3000. doi: 10.1128/aac.46.9.2996-3000.2002

Ghanem, K. G., Ram, S. and Rice, P. A. 2020. The Modern Epidemic of Syphilis. *New England Journal of Medicine* 382(9), pp. 845-854. doi: 10.1056/nejmra1901593

Giovanetti, E., Brenciani, A., Tiberi, E., Bacciaglia, A. and Varaldo, P. E. 2012. ICESp2905, theerm(TR)-tet(O) Element of Streptococcus pyogenes, Is Formed by Two Independent Integrative and Conjugative Elements. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* 56(1), pp. 591-594. doi: 10.1128/aac.05352-11

Givone, F. et al. 2020. Salvage heart transplantation for Mycoplasma hominis prosthetic valve endocarditis: A case report and review of the literature. *Transplant Infectious Disease* 22(2), doi: 10.1111/tid.13249

Glass, J. I., Lefkowitz, E. J., Glass, J. S., Heiner, C. R., Chen, E. Y. and Cassell, G. H. 2000. The complete sequence of the mucosal pathogen Ureaplasma urealyticum. *Nature* 407(6805), pp. 757-762. doi: 10.1038/35037619

Gnanadurai, R. and Fifer, H. 2020. Mycoplasma genitalium: A Review. *Microbiology* 166(1), pp. 21-29. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.000830

Godman, B. et al. 2017. Initiatives across countries to reduce antibiotic utilisation and resistance patterns: Impact and implications. *Drug Resistance in Bacteria, Fungi, Malaria, and Cancer*. Springer International Publishing.

Godoy-Santos, A. L., Bruschini, H., Cury, J., Srougi, M., De Cesar-Netto, C., Fonseca, L. F. and Maffulli, N. 2018. Fluoroquinolones and the Risk of Achilles Tendon Disorders: Update on a Neglected Complication. *Urology* 113, pp. 20-25. doi: 10.1016/j.urology.2017.10.017

Grosjean, H. et al. 2014. Predicting the Minimal Translation Apparatus: Lessons from the Reductive Evolution of Mollicutes. *PLoS Genetics* 10(5), doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1004363

Guo, D.-X. X. et al. 2019. Epidemiology and mechanism of drug resistance of mycoplasma pneumoniae in Beijing, China: A multicenter study. *Bosnian Journal of Basic Medical Sciences* 19(3), pp. 288-296. doi: 10.17305/bjbms.2019.4053

Guschin, A., Ryzhikh, P., Rumyantseva, T., Gomberg, M. and Unemo, M. 2015. Treatment efficacy, treatment failures and selection of macrolide resistance in patients with high load of Mycoplasma genitalium during treatment of male urethritis with josamycin. *BMC Infectious Diseases* 15(1), p. 40. doi: 10.1186/s12879-015-0781-7

Gwon, I., Song, W. S., Sohn, Y.-H. and Kim, S. Y. 2020. Successful Treatment of Mycoplasma hominis Meningitis, Diagnosed Using Real-Time Polymerase Chain Reaction, with Ciprofloxacin in a Neonate. *Neonatal Medicine* 27(3), pp. 147-150. doi: 10.5385/nm.2020.27.3.147

Hadad, R. et al. 2011. Mycoplasma genitalium in two Swedish counties, 2011-2015 and fluoroquinolone resistance in Mycoplasma genitalium in two Swedish counties. *APMIS* 126, pp. 123-127. doi: 10.1111/apm.12792

Hakim, M. S., Annisa, L., Jariah, R. O. A. and Vink, C. 2021. The mechanisms underlying antigenic variation and maintenance of genomic integrity in Mycoplasma pneumoniae and Mycoplasma genitalium. *Archives of Microbiology* 203(2), pp. 413-429. doi: 10.1007/s00203-020-02041-4

Hall, C. L., Harrison, M. A., Pond, M. J., Chow, C., Harding-Esch, E. M. and Sadiq, S. T. 2019. Genotypic determinants of fluoroquinolone and macrolide resistance in Neisseria gonorrhoeae. *Sexual Health* 16(5), p. 479. doi: 10.1071/sh18225

Hamasuna, R. et al. 2018. Mutations in parC and gyrA of moxifloxacin-resistant and susceptible Mycoplasma genitalium strains. *PLoS ONE* 13(6), pp. e0198355-e0198355. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0198355

Hamasuna, R., Osada, Y. and Jensen, J. S. 2007. Isolation of Mycoplasma genitalium from First-Void Urine Specimens by Coculture with Vero Cells. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 45(3), pp. 847-850. doi: 10.1128/jcm.02056-06

He, T. et al. 2019. Emergence of plasmid-mediated high-level tigecycline resistance genes in animals and humans. *Nature Microbiology* 4(9), pp. 1450-1456. doi: 10.1038/s41564-019-0445-2

Heaton, P. C., Fenwick, S. R. and Brewer, D. E. 2007. Association between tetracycline or doxycycline and hepatotoxicity: A population based case-control study. *Journal of Clinical Pharmacy and Therapeutics* 32(5), pp. 483-487. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2710.2007.00853.x

Henkel, R. 2021. Long-term consequences of sexually transmitted infections on men's sexual function: A systematic review. *Arab Journal of Urology* 19(3), pp. 411-418. doi: 10.1080/2090598x.2021.1942414

Hinderfeld, A. S. and Simoes-Barbosa, A. 2020. Vaginal dysbiotic bacteria act as pathobionts of the protozoal pathogen Trichomonas vaginalis. *Microbial Pathogenesis* 138, p. 103820. doi: doi.org/10.1016/j.micpath.2019.103820

Hooper, D. C. 2002. Fluoroquinolone resistance among Gram-positive cocci. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases* 2(9), pp. 530-538. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(02)00369-9</u>

Horner, P., Blee, K., O'Mahony, C., Muir, P., Evans, C. and Radcliffe, K. 2016. 2015 UK National Guideline on the management of non-gonococcal urethritis. *International Journal of STD & AIDS* 27(2), pp. 85-96. doi: 10.1177/0956462415586675

Horner, P., Donders, G., Cusini, M., Gomberg, M., Jensen, J. S. and Unemo, M. 2018. Should we be testing for urogenital Mycoplasma hominis, Ureaplasma parvum and Ureaplasma urealyticum in men and women? – a position statement from the European STI Guidelines Editorial Board. *Journal of the European Academy of Dermatology and Venereology* 32(11), pp. 1845-1851. doi: 10.1111/jdv.15146

Hu, X.-M. et al. 2019. Design and evaluation of a novel multiplex real-time PCR melting curve assay for the simultaneous detection of nine sexually transmitted disease pathogens in genitourinary secretions. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology* 9, p. 382.

Huang, C., Long, X., Jing, S., Fan, L., Xu, K., Wang, S. and Zhu, W. 2016. Ureaplasma urealyticum and Mycoplasma hominis infections and semen quality in 19,098 infertile men in China. *World Journal of Urology* 34(7), pp. 1039-1044. doi: 10.1007/s00345-015-1724-z

Huntington, S. E. et al. 2018. Modelling-based evaluation of the costs, benefits and costeffectiveness of multipathogen point-of-care tests for sexually transmitted infections in symptomatic genitourinary medicine clinic attendees. *BMJ Open* 8(9), p. e020394. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-020394

Ibba, M., Kast, P. and Hennecke, H. 1994. Substrate Specificity Is Determined by Amino Acid Binding Pocket Size in Escherichia coli Phenylalanyl-tRNA Synthetase. *Biochemistry* 33(23), pp. 7107-7112. doi: 10.1021/bi00189a013

Ikonomidis, A. et al. 2016. Prevalence of Chlamydia trachomatis, Ureaplasma spp., Mycoplasma genitalium and Mycoplasma hominis among outpatients in central Greece: Absence of tetracycline resistance gene tet(M) over a 4-year period study. *New Microbes and New Infections*.

Ingram, P. R., Rawlins, M. D. M. M., Murray, R. J., Roberts, J. A. and Manning, L. 2016. Tigecycline use in the outpatient parenteral antibiotic therapy setting. *European Journal of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases* 35(10), pp. 1673-1677. doi: 10.1007/s10096-016-2709-6

Iverson-Cabral, S. L., Astete, S. G., Cohen, C. R. and Totten, P. A. 2007. mgpB and mgpC sequence diversity in Mycoplasma genitalium is generated by segmental reciprocal recombination with repetitive chromosomal sequences. *Molecular Microbiology* 66(1), pp. 55-73. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2007.05898.x

Jensen, J. S., Blom, J. and Lind, K. 1994. Intracellular location of Mycoplasma genitalium in cultured Vero cells as demonstrated by electron microscopy. *Int J Exp Pathol* 75(2), pp. 91-98.

Jensen, J. S., Cusini, M., Gomberg, M. and Moi, H. 2016. 2016 European guideline on Mycoplasma genitalium infections. *Journal of the European Academy of Dermatology and Venereology* 30(10), pp. 1650-1656. doi: 10.1111/jdv.13849

Jensen, J. S., Cusini, M., Gomberg, M., Moi, H., Wilson, J. and Unemo, M. 2022. 2021 European guideline on the management of Mycoplasma genitalium infections. *Journal of the European Academy of Dermatology and Venereology* 36(5), pp. 641-650. doi: 10.1111/jdv.17972

Jernberg, E., Moghaddam, A. and Moi, H. 2008. Azithromycin and moxifloxacin for microbiological cure of Mycoplasma genitalium infection: an open study. *Int J STD AIDS* 19(10), pp. 676-679. doi: 10.1258/ijsa.2008.008038

Jiang, F.-X., Lan, Q., Le, W.-J. and Su, X.-H. 2017. Antimicrobial susceptibility of Neisseria gonorrhoeae isolates from Hefei (2014–2015): genetic characteristics of antimicrobial resistance. *BMC Infectious Diseases* 17(1), doi: 10.1186/s12879-017-2472-z

Jironkin, A., Brown, R. J., Underwood, A., Chalker, V. J. and Spiller, O. B. 2016. Genomic determination of minimum multi-locus sequence typing schemas to represent the genomic phylogeny of Mycoplasma hominis. *BMC Genomics* 17(1), doi: 10.1186/s12864-016-3284-z

Jo, J. and Ko, K. S. 2021. Tigecycline Heteroresistance and Resistance Mechanism in Clinical Isolates of Acinetobacter baumannii. *Microbiology Spectrum* 9(2), doi: 10.1128/spectrum.01010-21

Jochum, L. and Stecher, B. 2020. Label or Concept – What Is a Pathobiont? *Trends in Microbiology* 28(10), pp. 789-792. doi: 10.1016/j.tim.2020.04.011

Johnson, C. M. and Grossman, A. D. 2015. Integrative and Conjugative Elements (ICEs): What They Do and How They Work. *Annual Review of Genetics* 49(1), pp. 577-601. doi: 10.1146/annurev-genet-112414-055018

Jonduo, M. E. et al. 2022. Adverse pregnancy and birth outcomes associated with Mycoplasma hominis, Ureaplasma urealyticum and Ureaplasma parvum: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ Open* 12(8), p. e062990. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2022-062990

Judge, M. S., Miller, J. M. and Lyons, M. 2018. Green Bone: Minocycline-Induced Discoloration of Bone Rarely Reported in Foot and Ankle. *Journal of Foot and Ankle Surgery* 57(4), pp. 801-807. doi: 10.1053/j.jfas.2017.11.009

Jupiter, D. C., Fang, X., Ashmore, Z., Shibuya, N. and Mehta, H. B. 2018. The Relative Risk of Achilles Tendon Injury in Patients Taking Quinolones. *Pharmacotherapy: The Journal of Human Pharmacology and Drug Therapy* 38(9), pp. 878-887. doi: 10.1002/phar.2162

Kany, S., Vollrath, J. T. and Relja, B. 2019. Cytokines in Inflammatory Disease. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 20(23), p. 6008. doi: 10.3390/ijms20236008

Karellis, A. et al. 2022. Multiplexed rapid technologies for sexually transmitted infections: a systematic review. *The Lancet Microbe* 3(4), pp. e303-e315. doi: 10.1016/s2666-5247(21)00191-9

Karim, S., Bouchikhi, C., Banani, A., Fatemi, H. E. L., Souho, T., Erraghay, S. and Bennani, B. 2020. Detection of Ureaplasma Biovars and Subtyping of Ureaplasma parvum among Women Referring to a University Hospital in Morocco. *Infectious Diseases in Obstetrics and Gynecology* 2020, p. 7286820. doi: 10.1155/2020/7286820

Kayem, G. et al. 2018. Antibiotics for amniotic-fluid colonization by Ureaplasma and/or Mycoplasma spp. to prevent preterm birth: A randomized trial. *PLoS ONE* 13(11), p. e0206290. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0206290

Kemp, M. W. et al. 2014. Repeated maternal intramuscular or intraamniotic erythromycin incompletely resolves intrauterine Ureaplasma parvum infection in a sheep model of pregnancy. *American journal of obstetrics and gynecology*. 211(2), pp. 134.e131-134.e139. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2014.02.025

Khaw, C., Richardson, D., Matthews, G. and Read, T. 2018. Looking at the positives: proactive management of STIs in people with HIV. *AIDS Research and Therapy* 15(1), p. 28. doi: 10.1186/s12981-018-0216-9

Kilian, M., Brown, M. B., Brown, T. A., Freundt, E. A. and Cassell, G. H. 1984. Immunoglobulin A1 protease activity in strains of Ureaplasma urealyticum. *Acta Pathol Microbiol Immunol Scand B* 92(1), pp. 61-64. doi: 10.1111/j.1699-0463.1984.tb02794.x

Kim, C., Lee, S., Lee, K., Lee, Y., Park, J. and Park, T. 2019. EP1079 Clearance of HPV in women received conization related with mycoplasma and Ureaplasma. *International Journal of Gynecologic Cancer* 29(Suppl 4), pp. A566-A566. doi: 10.1136/ijgc-2019-ESGO.1121

Kim, W. B., Shelley, A. J., Novice, K., Joo, J., Lim, H. W. and Glassman, S. J. 2018. Druginduced phototoxicity: A systematic review. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology* 79(6), pp. 1069-1075. doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2018.06.061 Kime, L. et al. 2019. Transient Silencing of Antibiotic Resistance by Mutation Represents a Significant Potential Source of Unanticipated Therapeutic Failure. *mBio* 10(5), pp. e01755-01719. doi: doi:10.1128/mBio.01755-19

Klein, C., Samwel, K., Kahesa, C., Mwaiselage, J., West, J. T., Wood, C. and Angeletti, P. C. 2020. Mycoplasma Co-Infection Is Associated with Cervical Cancer Risk. *Cancers* 12(5), p. 1093. doi: 10.3390/cancers12051093

Knox, C. L. et al. 2003. Ureaplasma parvum and Ureaplasma urealyticum are detected in semen after washing before assisted reproductive technology procedures. *Fertility and Sterility* 80(4), pp. 921-929. doi: 10.1016/S0015-0282(03)01125-7

Knox, C. L. et al. 2010. The Severity of Chorioamnionitis in Pregnant Sheep Is Associated with In Vivo Variation of the Surface-Exposed Multiple-Banded Antigen/Gene of Ureaplasma parvum1. *Biology of Reproduction* 83(3), pp. 415-426. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.109.083121

Knox, C. L., Giffard, P. and Timms, P. 1998. The phylogeny of Ureaplasma urealyticum based on the mba gene fragment. *International Journal of Systematic Bacteriology* 48(4), pp. 1323-1331. doi: 10.1099/00207713-48-4-1323

Ko, S. J. et al. 2020. Bee venom-derived antimicrobial peptide melectin has broad-spectrum potency, cell selectivity, and salt-resistant properties. *Scientific Reports* 10(1), doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-66995-7

Koike, S., Mackie, R. and Aminov, R. 2017. Agricultural use of antibiotics and antibiotic resistance. *Antibiotic Resistance Genes in Natural Environments and Long-Term Effects*.

Koonin, E. V., Makarova, K. S., Wolf, Y. I. and Krupovic, M. 2020. Evolutionary entanglement of mobile genetic elements and host defence systems: guns for hire. *Nature Reviews Genetics* 21(2), pp. 119-131. doi: 10.1038/s41576-019-0172-9

Krausse, R. and Schubert, S. 2010. In-Vitro activities of tetracyclines, macrolides, fluoroquinolones and clindamycin against Mycoplasma hominis and Ureaplasma ssp. isolated in Germany over 20 years. *Clinical Microbiology and Infection* 16(11), pp. 1649-1655. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-0691.2010.03155.x

Kumar, S. and Varela, M. F. 2012. Biochemistry of Bacterial Multidrug Efflux Pumps. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 13(4), pp. 4484-4495. doi: 10.3390/ijms13044484

Le Roy, C., Hénin, N., Pereyre, S. and Bébéar, C. 2016. Fluoroquinolone-Resistant Mycoplasma genitalium, Southwestern France. *Emerging Infectious Diseases* 22(9), pp. 1677-1679. doi: 10.3201/eid2209.160446 Le Roy, C. et al. 2021. Identification of 16S rRNA mutations in Mycoplasma genitalium potentially associated with tetracycline resistance in vivo but not selected in vitro in M. genitalium and Chlamydia trachomatis. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy* 76(5), pp. 1150-1154. doi: 10.1093/jac/dkab016

Lemoine, L., Le Brun, C., Maillot, F., Thorey, C., Boucaud, A., Lemaignen, A. and Bigot, A. 2021. Dual Ureaplasma parvum arthritis: a case report of U. parvum septic arthritis following contralateral reactive arthritis in an immunosuppressed patient. *BMC Infectious Diseases* 21(1), doi: 10.1186/s12879-021-06733-0

Lendamba, R. W., Mbeang Nguema, P. P., Onanga, R. and Mombo, L.-E. 2022. Determination of the prevalence of Mycoplasma hominis and Ureaplasma species in Bacterial vaginosis patients in association with antibiotic resistance profile in Franceville, Gabon. *Microbial Pathogenesis* 166, p. 105528. doi: doi.org/10.1016/j.micpath.2022.105528

León-Sampedro, R., Fernández-De-Bobadilla, M. D., San Millán, Á., Baquero, F. and Coque, T. M. 2019. Transfer dynamics of Tn6648, a composite integrative conjugative element generated by tandem accretion of Tn5801 and Tn6647 in Enterococcus faecalis. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy* 74(9), pp. 2517-2523. doi: 10.1093/jac/dkz239

Lesiak-Markowicz, I., Tscherwizek, C., Pöppl, W., Mooseder, G., Walochnik, J. and Fürnkranz, U. 2022. Prevalence of selected sexually transmitted infectious agents in a cohort of asymptomatic soldiers in Austria. *Parasites & Vectors* 15(1), p. 424. doi: 10.1186/s13071-022-05508-z

Lewis, J. S., II and Jorgensen, J. H. 2005. Inducible Clindamycin Resistance in Staphylococci: Should Clinicians and Microbiologists be Concerned? *Clinical Infectious Diseases* 40(2), pp. 280-285. doi: 10.1086/426894

Li, Y., Le, W. J., Li, S., Cao, Y. P. and Su, X. H. 2017. Meta-analysis of the efficacy of moxifloxacin in treating Mycoplasma genitalium infection. *Int J STD AIDS* 28(11), pp. 1106-1114. doi: 10.1177/0956462416688562

Lin, J.-S. L. and Kass, E. H. 1980. Fourteen serotypes of ureaplasma urealyticum (T-mycoplasmas) demonstrated by the complement-dependent mycoplasmacidal test. *Infection* 8(4), pp. 152-155. doi: 10.1007/bf01639122

Liu, Y., Liu, W. and Russell, M. W. 2014. Suppression of host adaptive immune responses by Neisseria gonorrhoeae: role of interleukin 10 and type 1 regulatory T cells. *Mucosal Immunology* 7(1), pp. 165-176. doi: 10.1038/mi.2013.36

Lorenc, A. et al. 2021. What can be learnt from a qualitative evaluation of implementing a rapid sexual health testing, diagnosis and treatment service? *BMJ Open* 11(10), p. e050109. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2021-050109

Loupa, C. V., Meimeti, E., Voyatzoglou, E. D., Donou, A., Kalantzi, S. and Konsta, E. 2020. Photosensitivity During Quinolone Therapy in Diabetic Foot Patients May Falsely Indicate Treatment Failure. *The International Journal of Lower Extremity Wounds*, p. 153473462095897. doi: 10.1177/1534734620958971

Lovett, A. and Duncan, J. A. 2019. Human Immune Responses and the Natural History of Neisseria gonorrhoeae Infection. *Frontiers in immunology* 9, pp. 3187-3187. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.03187

Lunde, T. M., Hjerde, E. and Al-Haroni, M. 2021. Prevalence, diversity and transferability of the Tn916-Tn1545 family ICE in oral streptococci. *Journal of Oral Microbiology* 13(1), p. 1896874. doi: 10.1080/20002297.2021.1896874

Ma, C. et al. 2021. The Associations of Genital Mycoplasmas with Female Infertility and Adverse Pregnancy Outcomes: a Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *Reproductive Sciences* 28(11), pp. 3013-3031. doi: 10.1007/s43032-020-00399-w

Ma, K. C., Mortimer, T. D., Duckett, M. A., Hicks, A. L., Wheeler, N. E., Sánchez-Busó, L. and Grad, Y. H. 2020. Increased power from conditional bacterial genome-wide association identifies macrolide resistance mutations in Neisseria gonorrhoeae. *Nature Communications* 11(1), doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-19250-6

Machalek, D. et al. 2019. P601 Macrolide and fluoroquinolone resistance-associated mutations in mycoplasma genitalium: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sexually Transmitted Infections* 95(Suppl 1), pp. A266-A266. doi: 10.1136/sextrans-2019-sti.669

Machalek, D. A. et al. 2020. Prevalence of mutations associated with resistance to macrolides and fluoroquinolones in Mycoplasma genitalium: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases* 20(11), pp. 1302-1314. doi: 10.1016/s1473-3099(20)30154-7

Macleod, A. J., Ross, H. B., Ozere, R. L., Digout, G. and Van, R. 1964. Lincomycin: A New Antibiotic Active Against Staphylococci and Other Gram-Positive Cocci. *Can Med Assoc J* 91(20), pp. 1056-1060.

Macri-Pellizzeri, L., De Melo, N., Ahmed, I., Grant, D., Scammell, B. and Sottile, V. 2018. Live Quantitative Monitoring of Mineral Deposition in Stem Cells Using Tetracycline Hydrochloride. *Tissue Engineering - Part C: Methods* 24(3), pp. 171-178. doi: 10.1089/ten.tec.2017.0400

Mader, B., Hu, P. C., Huang, C. H., Schilz, E. and Jacobs, E. 1991. The mature MgPaadhesin of Mycoplasma genitalium. *Zentralbl Bakteriol* 274(4), pp. 507-513. doi: 10.1016/s0934-8840(11)80088-5 Magerlein, B. J., Birkenmeyer, R. D. and Kagan, F. 1967. Lincomycin. VI. 4'-Alkyl Analogs of Lincomycin. Relationship between Structure and Antibacterial Activity. *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry* 10(3), pp. 355-359. doi: 10.1021/jm00315a015

Malik Aubead, N. 2021. Role of Sex Hormones in Human Body.*Reproductive Hormones*. IntechOpen.

Mardassi, B. B. A., Aissani, N., Moalla, I., Dhahri, D., Dridi, A. and Mlik, B. 2012. Evidence for the predominance of a single tet(M) gene sequence type in tetracycline-resistant Ureaplasma parvum and Mycoplasma hominis isolates from Tunisian patients. *Journal of Medical Microbiology*, doi: 10.1099/jmm.0.044016-0

Martin, V. and Bettencourt, A. 2018. Bone regeneration: Biomaterials as local delivery systems with improved osteoinductive properties. *Materials Science and Engineering C*. Elsevier Ltd.

Matson, K. M. and Sonetti, D. A. 2019. Successful treatment of

Ureaplasma-induced hyperammonemia syndrome post-lung transplant. *Transplant Infectious Disease* 21(1), p. e13022. doi: 10.1111/tid.13022

Maurakis, S., Keller, K., Maxwell, C. N., Pereira, K., Chazin, W. J., Criss, A. K. and Cornelissen, C. N. 2019. The novel interaction between Neisseria gonorrhoeae TdfJ and human S100A7 allows gonococci to subvert host zinc restriction. *PLOS Pathogens* 15(8), p. e1007937. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1007937

Mcgowin, C. L., Popov, V. L. and Pyles, R. B. 2009. Intracellular Mycoplasma genitalium infection of human vaginal and cervical epithelial cells elicits distinct patterns of inflammatory cytokine secretion and provides a possible survival niche against macrophage-mediated killing. *BMC Microbiology* 9(1), p. 139. doi: 10.1186/1471-2180-9-139

Melkina, O. E., Goryanin, I. I. and Zavilgelsky, G. B. 2016. The DNA–mimic antirestriction proteins ArdA ColIB-P9, Arn T4, and Ocr T7 as activators of H-NS-dependent gene transcription. *Microbiological Research* 192, pp. 283-291. doi: 10.1016/j.micres.2016.07.008

Mello, H. S. 1967. The mechanism of tetracycline staining in primary and permanent teeth. *Journal of dentistry for children*.

Messacar, K., Parker, S. K., Todd, J. K. and Dominguez, S. R. 2017. Implementation of Rapid Molecular Infectious Disease Diagnostics: the Role of Diagnostic and Antimicrobial Stewardship. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 55(3), pp. 715-723. doi: 10.1128/jcm.02264-16

Meyer, T. 2016. Diagnostic Procedures to Detect Chlamydia trachomatis Infections. *Microorganisms* 4(3), p. 25. doi: 10.3390/microorganisms4030025

Meyer, T. and Buder, S. 2020. The Laboratory Diagnosis of Neisseria gonorrhoeae: Current Testing and Future Demands. *Pathogens* 9(2), p. 91. doi: 10.3390/pathogens9020091

Meygret, A., Le Roy, C., Renaudin, H., Bébéar, C. and Pereyre, S. 2018. Tetracycline and fluoroquinolone resistance in clinical Ureaplasma spp. And Mycoplasma hominis isolates in France between 2010 and 2015. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy* 73(10), pp. 2696-2703. doi: 10.1093/jac/dky238

Meygret, A. et al. 2019. High Prevalence of Integrative and Conjugative Elements Encoding Transcription Activator-Like Effector Repeats in Mycoplasma hominis. *Frontiers in Microbiology* 10, pp. 2385-2385. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2019.02385

Mihai, M., Valentin, N., Bogdan, D., Carmen, C. M., Coralia, B. and Demetra, S. 2011. Antibiotic susceptibility profiles of mycoplasma hominis and ureaplasma urealyticum isolated during a population-based study concerning women infertility in northeast Romania. *Brazilian Journal of Microbiology*, doi: 10.1590/S1517-83822011000100032

Moore, I. F., Hughes, D. W. and Wright, G. D. 2005. Tigecycline Is Modified by the Flavin-Dependent Monooxygenase TetX. *Biochemistry* 44(35), pp. 11829-11835. doi: 10.1021/bi0506066

Morales, D. R., Slattery, J., Pacurariu, A., Pinheiro, L., McGettigan, P. and Kurz, X. 2019. Relative and Absolute Risk of Tendon Rupture with Fluoroquinolone and Concomitant Fluoroquinolone/Corticosteroid Therapy: Population-Based Nested Case–Control Study. *Clinical Drug Investigation* 39(2), pp. 205-213. doi: 10.1007/s40261-018-0729-y

Moridi, K., Hemmaty, M., Azimian, A., Fallah, M. H., Khaneghahi Abyaneh, H. and Ghazvini, K. 2020. Epidemiology of genital infections caused by Mycoplasma hominis, M. genitalium and Ureaplasma urealyticum in Iran; a systematic review and meta-analysis study (2000–2019). *BMC Public Health* 20(1), doi: 10.1186/s12889-020-08962-5

Morris, D. 2019. *MYCO WELL D-ONE: Can a new rapid diagnostic detect Ureaplasma spp. and Mycoplasma hominis in genitourinary medicine samples?* Cardiff University.

Morris, D. J., Jones, L. C., Davies, R. L., Sands, K., Portal, E. and Spiller, O. B. 2020. MYCO WELL D-ONE detection of Ureaplasma spp. and Mycoplasma hominis in sexual health patients in Wales. *European Journal of Clinical Microbiology & Infectious Diseases* 39(12), pp. 2427-2440. doi: 10.1007/s10096-020-03993-7

Motomura, K. et al. 2020. Intra-Amniotic Infection with Ureaplasma parvum causes Preterm Birth and Neonatal Mortality that are Prevented by Treatment with Clarithromycin. *mBio* 11(3), pp. e00797-00720. doi: doi:10.1128/mBio.00797-20

Muanda, F. T., Sheehy, O. and Berard, A. 2017. Use of antibiotics during pregnancy and risk of spontaneous abortion. *CMAJ* 189(17), pp. E625-E633. doi: 10.1503/cmaj.161020

Nahum, G. G., Uhl, K. and Kennedy, D. L. 2006. Antibiotic use in pregnancy and lactation: What is and is not known about teratogenic and toxic risks. *Obstetrics and Gynecology*.

Naskar, S., Borah, S., Vashi, Y., Thomas, R., Sarma, D. K., Goswami, J. and Dhara, S. K. 2016. Steroid and metabolic hormonal profile of porcine serum vis-à-vis ovarian follicular fluid. *Veterinary World* 9(11), pp. 1320-1323. doi: 10.14202/vetworld.2016.1320-1323

Navarre, W. W. 2016. The Impact of Gene Silencing on Horizontal Gene Transfer and Bacterial Evolution. In: Poole, R.K. ed. *Advances in Microbial Physiology*. Vol. 69. Academic Press, pp. 157-186.

Neyrolles, O., Ferris, S., Behbahani, N., Montagnier, L. and Blanchard, A. 1996. Organization of Ureaplasma urealyticum urease gene cluster and expression in a suppressor strain of Escherichia coli. *Journal of Bacteriology* 178(3), pp. 647-655. doi: doi:10.1128/jb.178.3.647-655.1996

Nguyen, F., Starosta, A. L., Arenz, S., Sohmen, D., Dönhöfer, A. and Wilson, D. N. 2014. Tetracycline antibiotics and resistance mechanisms. *Biological Chemistry*.

Nohren, J., Namtu, K., Peloquin, C., Messina, A., Tuite, G. and Berman, D. M. 2020. The Pharmacokinetics of Moxifloxacin in Cerebrospinal Fluid Following Intravenous Administration: A Report of Successfully Treated Infant with: Mycoplasma hominis: Meningitis. *The Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal* 39(8), pp. e183-e184. doi: 10.1097/inf.00000000002655

Nowbakht, C. et al. 2019. Two Cases of Fatal Hyperammonemia Syndrome due to Mycoplasma hominis and Ureaplasma urealyticum in Immunocompromised Patients Outside Lung Transplant Recipients. *Open Forum Infectious Diseases* 6(3), doi: 10.1093/ofid/ofz033

Oliveira, C. N. T. et al. 2020. Association of spontaneous abortion and Ureaplasma parvum detected in placental tissue. *Epidemiology and Infection* 148, pp. 1-31. doi: 10.1017/s0950268820001302

Oliveira, P. H., Touchon, M., Cury, J. and Rocha, E. P. C. 2017. The chromosomal organization of horizontal gene transfer in bacteria. *Nature Communications* 8(1), pp. 1-11. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-00808-w

Olson, M. W., Ruzin, A., Feyfant, E., Rush, T. S., O'Connell, J. and Bradford, P. A. 2006. Functional, Biophysical, and Structural Bases for Antibacterial Activity of Tigecycline. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* 50(6), pp. 2156-2166. doi: 10.1128/aac.01499-05 Ostrer, L., Khodursky, R. F., Johnson, J. R., Hiasa, H. and Khodursky, A. 2019. Analysis of mutational patterns in quinolone resistance-determining regions of GyrA and ParC of clinical isolates. *International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents* 53(3), pp. 318-324. doi: 10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2018.12.004

Ovens, K. J., Reynolds-Wright, J. J., Cross, E. L. A., Rickwood, L., Hassan-Ibrahim, M. O. and Soni, S. 2020. High rates of treatment failure for Mycoplasma genitalium among men and women attending a sexual health clinic. *BMJ Sexual & Reproductive Health* 46(2), pp. 132-138. doi: 10.1136/bmjsrh-2019-200384

Paira, D. A., Molina, G., Tissera, A. D., Olivera, C., Molina, R. I. and Motrich, R. D. 2021. Results from a large cross-sectional study assessing Chlamydia trachomatis, Ureaplasma spp. and Mycoplasma hominis urogenital infections in patients with primary infertility. *Scientific Reports* 11(1), doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-93318-1

Palich, R., Gardette, M., Bébéar, C., Caumes, É., Pereyre, S. and Monsel, G. 2021. Initial Failure of Pristinamycin Treatment in a Case of Multidrug-Resistant Mycoplasma genitalium Urethritis Eventually Treated by Sequential Therapy. *Sexually Transmitted Diseases* 48(11),

Pandelidis, K., Mccarthy, A., Chesko, K. L. and Viscardi, R. M. 2013. Role of Biofilm Formation in Ureaplasma Antibiotic Susceptibility and Development of Bronchopulmonary Dysplasia in Preterm Neonates. *Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal* 32(4), pp. 394-398. doi: 10.1097/inf.0b013e3182791ae0

Paralanov, V. et al. 2012. Comparative genome analysis of 19 Ureaplasma urealyticum and Ureaplasma parvum strains. *BMC Microbiology* 12(1), pp. 88-88. doi: 10.1186/1471-2180-12-88

Parija, S. C. 2023. Mycoplasma and Ureaplasma.*Textbook of Microbiology and Immunology*. Springer Nature Singapore, pp. 653-661.

Patel, N. U., Oussedik, E., Landis, E. T. and Strowd, L. C. 2018. Early Congenital Syphilis: Recognising Symptoms of an Increasingly Prevalent Disease. *Journal of Cutaneous Medicine and Surgery* 22(1), pp. 97-99. doi: 10.1177/1203475417728360

Pavlidis, I., Spiller, O. B., Sammut Demarco, G., MacPherson, H., Howie, S. E. M., Norman, J. E. and Stock, S. J. 2020. Cervical epithelial damage promotes Ureaplasma parvum ascending infection, intrauterine inflammation and preterm birth induction in mice. *Nature Communications* 11(1), doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-14089-y

Payne, M. S. et al. 2016. Ureaplasma parvum genotype, combined vaginal colonisation with Candida albicans, and spontaneous preterm birth in an Australian cohort of pregnant women. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth* 16(1), doi: 10.1186/s12884-016-1110-x

Pereyre, S. et al. 2002. Mutations in 23S rRNA account for intrinsic resistance to macrolides in Mycoplasma hominis and Mycoplasma fermentans and for acquired resistance to macrolides in M. hominis. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* 46(10), pp. 3142-3150. doi: 10.1128/AAC.46.10.3142-3150.2002

Pereyre, S. et al. 2009. Life on arginine for Mycoplasma hominis: Clues from its minimal genome and comparison with other human urogenital mycoplasmas. *PLoS Genetics* 5(10), doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1000677

Perry, M. D. et al. 2023. The prevalence of Mycoplasma genitalium (MG) and Trichomonas vaginalis (TV) at testing centers in Belgium, Germany, Spain, and the UK using the cobas TV/MG molecular assay. *Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis* 42(1), pp. 43-52. doi: 10.1007/s10096-022-04521-5

Pham, T. D. M., Ziora, Z. M. and Blaskovich, M. A. T. 2019. Quinolone antibiotics. *MedChemComm* 10(10), pp. 1719-1739. doi: 10.1039/c9md00120d

PHW. 2019. Sexual Health in Wales Surveillance Scheme (SWS) Quarterly Report, July 2019.

Pich, O. Q., Burgos, R., Ferrer-Navarro, M., Querol, E. and Pinol, J. 2006. Mycoplasma genitalium mg200 and mg386 genes are involved in gliding motility but not in cytadherence. *Molecular Microbiology* 60(6), pp. 1509-1519. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2006.05187.x

Pinto-Sander, N. and Soni, S. 2019. Mycoplasma genitalium infection. *BMJ*, p. 15820. doi: 10.1136/bmj.15820

Pitt, R. and Fifer, H. 2022. Antimicrobial resistance in bacterial sexually transmitted infections. *Medicine* 50(5), pp. 277-279. doi: doi.org/10.1016/j.mpmed.2022.02.006

Pokharel, S., Raut, S. and Adhikari, B. 2019. Tackling antimicrobial resistance in low-income and middle-income countries. BMJ Specialist Journals.

Porse, A., Jahn, L. J., Ellabaan, M. M. H. and Sommer, M. O. A. 2020. Dominant resistance and negative epistasis can limit the co-selection of de novo resistance mutations and antibiotic resistance genes. *Nature Communications* 11(1), doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-15080-8

Poyart, C., Celli, J. and Trieu-Cuot, P. 1995. Conjugative transposition of Tn916-related elements from Enterococcus faecalis to Escherichia coli and Pseudomonas fluorescens. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* 39(2), pp. 500-506. doi: doi:10.1128/AAC.39.2.500

Pöyhönen, H., Nurmi, M., Peltola, V., Alaluusua, S., Ruuskanen, O. and Lähdesmäki, T. 2017. Dental staining after doxycycline use in children. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy* 72(10), pp. 2887-2890. doi: 10.1093/jac/dkx245

Preval, N. M. R., Spiller, O. B., Mondeja Rodríguez, B. A., Morales, R. S., Cintra, Y. R. and Rivera-Tapia, J. A. 2022. Antibiotic resistance among clinical Ureaplasma isolates from Cuban individuals between 2013 and 2018. *Journal of Medical Microbiology* 71(2), doi: 10.1099/jmm.0.001477

Price, M. N., Dehal, P. S. and Arkin, A. P. 2010. FastTree 2–approximately maximumlikelihood trees for large alignments. *PLoS ONE* 5(3), p. e9490.

Prister, L. L., Ozer, E. A., Cahoon, L. A. and Seifert, H. S. 2019. Transcriptional initiation of a small RNA, not R-loop stability, dictates the frequency of pilin antigenic variation inNeisseria gonorrhoeae. *Molecular Microbiology* 112(4), pp. 1219-1234. doi: 10.1111/mmi.14356

Quillin, S. J. and Seifert, H. S. 2018. Neisseria gonorrhoeae host adaptation and pathogenesis. *Nature Reviews Microbiology* 16(4), pp. 226-240. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro.2017.169

Raffe, S. and Soni, S. 2022. Diagnostic tests for sexually transmitted infections. *Medicine* 50(4), pp. 210-215. doi: 10.1016/j.mpmed.2022.01.004

Razin, S. and Hayflick, L. 2010. Highlights of mycoplasma research—An historical perspective. *Biologicals* 38(2), pp. 183-190. doi: doi.org/10.1016/j.biologicals.2009.11.008

Razin, S., Yogev, D. and Naot, Y. 1998. Molecular Biology and Pathogenicity of Mycoplasmas. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews* 62(4), pp. 1094-1156. doi: 10.1128/mmbr.62.4.1094-1156.1998

Read, T. R. H. et al. 2018. Use of Pristinamycin for Macrolide-Resistant Mycoplasma genitalium Infection. *Emerging Infectious Diseases* 24(2), pp. 328-335. doi: 10.3201/eid2402.170902

Redelinghuys, M. J., Ehlers, M. M., Dreyer, A. W., Lombaard, H. A. and Kock, M. M. 2014. Antimicrobial susceptibility patterns of Ureaplasma species and Mycoplasma hominis in pregnant women. *BMC Infectious Diseases* 14(1), p. 171. doi: 10.1186/1471-2334-14-171

Rendueles, O. and Velicer, G. J. 2020. Hidden paths to endless forms most wonderful: Complexity of bacterial motility shapes diversification of latent phenotypes. *BMC Evolutionary Biology* 20(1), doi: 10.1186/s12862-020-01707-3

Rhie, S. Y., Park, J. Y., Shin, T.-S., Kim, J. W., Kim, B. J. and Kim, J. G. 2020. Discovery of a Novel Mutation in DNA Gyrase and Changes in the Fluoroquinolone Resistance of

Helicobacter pylori over a 14-Year Period: A Single Center Study in Korea. *Antibiotics* 9(6), p. 287. doi: 10.3390/antibiotics9060287

Rideau, F. et al. 2019. Random transposon insertion in the Mycoplasma hominis minimal genome. *Scientific Reports* 9(1), pp. 1-11. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-49919-y

Rittenschober-Böhm, J. et al. 2019. Vaginal Ureaplasma parvum serovars and spontaneous preterm birth. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 220(6), pp. 594.e591-594.e599. doi: doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2019.01.237

Roachford, O., Nelson, K. E. and Mohapatra, B. R. 2019. Virulence and molecular adaptation of human urogenital mycoplasmas: a review. *Biotechnology & Biotechnological Equipment* 33(1), pp. 689-698. doi: 10.1080/13102818.2019.1607556

Roberts, M. C. and Kenny, G. E. 1987. Conjugal transfer of transposon Tn916 from Streptococcus faecalis to Mycoplasma hominis. *Journal of Bacteriology* 169(8), pp. 3836-3839. doi: doi:10.1128/jb.169.8.3836-3839.1987

Robertson, J. A. and Stemke, G. W. 1979. Modified metabolic inhibition test for serotyping strains of Ureaplasma urealyticum (T-strain Mycoplasma). *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 9(6), pp. 673-676. doi: 10.1128/jcm.9.6.673-676.1979

Robertson, J. A. et al. 2002. Proposal of Ureaplasma parvum sp. nov. and emended description of Ureaplasma urealyticum (Shepard et al. 1974) Robertson et al. 2001. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology* 52(2), pp. 587-597. doi: 10.1099/00207713-52-2-587

Robinson, D., Toozs-Hobson, P. and Cardozo, L. 2013. The effect of hormones on the lower urinary tract. *Menopause International* 19(4), pp. 155-162. doi: 10.1177/1754045313511398

Rowlands, R. S., Kragh, K., Sahu, S., Maddocks, S. E., Bolhuis, A., Spiller, O. B. and Beeton, M. L. 2021. A requirement for flow to enable the development of Ureaplasma parvum biofilms in vitro. *Journal of Applied Microbiology* 131(5), pp. 2579-2585. doi: 10.1111/jam.15120

Rubio-Cosials, A. et al. 2018. Transposase-DNA Complex Structures Reveal Mechanisms for Conjugative Transposition of Antibiotic Resistance. *Cell* 173(1), pp. 208-220.e220. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.02.032

Russell, M. W., Jerse, A. E. and Gray-Owen, S. D. 2019. Progress Toward a Gonococcal Vaccine: The Way Forward. *Frontiers in immunology* 10(2417), doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02417

Sabo, M. C. et al. 2020. Associations between vaginal bacteria implicated in HIV acquisition risk and proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines. *Sexually Transmitted Infections* 96(1), pp. 3-9. doi: 10.1136/sextrans-2018-053949

Sadhasivam, A. and Vetrivel, U. 2018. Genome-wide codon usage profiling of ocular infective Chlamydia trachomatis serovars and drug target identification. *Journal of Biomolecular Structure and Dynamics* 36(8), pp. 1979-2003. doi: 10.1080/07391102.2017.1343685

Sampath, R., Patel, R., Cunningham, S. A., Arif, S., Daly, R. C., Badley, A. D. and Wylam, M. E. 2017. Cardiothoracic Transplant Recipient Mycoplasma hominis: An Uncommon Infection with Probable Donor Transmission. *EBioMedicine* 19, pp. 84-90. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2017.04.026

Sánchez, A. R., Rogers, R. S. and Sheridan, P. J. 2004. Tetracycline and other tetracyclinederivative staining of the teeth and oral cavity. *International Journal of Dermatology*. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Santoro, F., Vianna, M. E. and Roberts, A. P. 2014. Variation on a theme; an overview of the Tn916/Tn1545 family of mobile genetic elements in the oral and nasopharyngeal streptococci. *Frontiers in Microbiology* 5, doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2014.00535

Schaenzer, A. J. and Wright, G. D. 2020. Antibiotic Resistance by Enzymatic Modification of Antibiotic Targets. *Trends in Molecular Medicine* 26(8), pp. 768-782. doi: doi.org/10.1016/j.molmed.2020.05.001

Schimke, R. T., Berlin, C., Sweeney, E. and Carroll, W. R. 1966. The generation of energy by the arginine dihydrolase pathway in Mycoplasma hominis 07. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 241(10), pp. 2228-2236.

Schmitz, F. J. 2001. Resistance to tetracycline and distribution of tetracycline resistance genes in European Staphylococcus aureus isolates. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, doi: 10.1093/jac/47.2.239

Schwarz, S., Shen, J., Kadlec, K., Wang, Y., Brenner Michael, G., Feßler, A. T. and Vester, B. 2016. Lincosamides, Streptogramins, Phenicols, and Pleuromutilins: Mode of Action and Mechanisms of Resistance. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Medicine* 6(11), p. a027037. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a027037

Seth-Smith, H. M. B. et al. 2021. Ongoing evolution of Chlamydia trachomatis lymphogranuloma venereum: exploring the genomic diversity of circulating strains. *Microbial Genomics* 7(6), doi: 10.1099/mgen.0.000599

Shah, M., Gishkori, S., Edington, M., King, S., Winter, A. J. and Lockington, D. 2021. Tenyear review of a shared care approach in the management of ocular chlamydia trachomatis infections. *Eye* 35(6), pp. 1614-1619. doi: 10.1038/s41433-020-01128-y

Shao, L., Wu, X., Gao, S., Liu, L., Zhang, Y. and Zhao, H. 2021. Epidemiological investigation and antimicrobial susceptibility analysis of Ureaplasma and Mycoplasma hominis in a teaching hospital in Shenyang, China. *Journal of Infection and Chemotherapy* 27(8), pp. 1212-1216. doi: 10.1016/j.jiac.2021.03.022

She, Q., Shen, B. and Chen, L. eds. 2004. Archaeal integrases and mechanisms of gene capture. Biochemical Society Transactions.

Sheykhsaran, E., Baghi, H. B., Soroush, M. H. and Ghotaslou, R. 2019. An overview of tetracyclines and related resistance mechanisms. *Reviews and Research in Medical Microbiology* 30(1), pp. 69-75. doi: 10.1097/mrm.00000000000154

Shrestha, J., Zahra, F. and Cannady, J. P. 2022. *Antimicrobial Stewardship*. StatPearls Publishing, Treasure Island (FL).

Siles-Guerrero, V., Cardona-Benavides, I., Liébana-Martos, C., Vázquez-Alonso, F., Expósito-Ruiz, M., Navarro-Marí, J. M. and Gutiérrez-Fernández, J. 2020. Recent clinical relevance of mono-genital colonization/infection by Ureaplasma parvum. *European Journal of Clinical Microbiology & Infectious Diseases* 39(10), pp. 1899-1905. doi: 10.1007/s10096-020-03928-2

Silva, J. K., Marques, L. M., Timenetsky, J. and de Farias, S. T. 2019. Ureaplasma diversum protein interaction networks: Evidence of horizontal gene transfer and evolution of reduced genomes among Mollicutes. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology* 65(8), pp. 596-612. doi: 10.1139/cjm-2018-0688

Sirichoat, A., Flórez, A. B., Vázquez, L., Buppasiri, P., Panya, M., Lulitanond, V. and Mayo, B. 2020. Antibiotic Resistance-Susceptibility Profiles of Enterococcus faecalis and Streptococcus spp. From the Human Vagina, and Genome Analysis of the Genetic Basis of Intrinsic and Acquired Resistances. *Frontiers in Microbiology* 11, doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2020.01438

Sivaraj, V., Ahamed, A., Artykov, R. and Menon-Johansson, A. 2021. Epididymitis and its aetiologies in a central London sexual health clinic. *International Journal of STD & AIDS* 32(1), pp. 96-99. doi: 10.1177/0956462420963879

Skiljevic, D., Mirkov, D. and Vukicevic, J. 2016. Prevalence and antibiotic susceptibility of Mycoplasma hominis and Ureaplasma urealyticum in genital samples collected over 6 years at a Serbian university hospital. *Indian Journal of Dermatology, Venereology and Leprology*, doi: 10.4103/0378-6323.172903

Smibert, O. C. et al. 2017. Donor-Derived Mycoplasma hominis and an Apparent Cluster of M. hominis Cases in Solid Organ Transplant Recipients. *Clinical Infectious Diseases* 65(9), pp. 1504-1508. doi: 10.1093/cid/cix601

Smith, M., Crews, J. D., Cheek, N., Srivastava, R. and Appachi, E. 2019. Hyperammonemic Encephalopathy due to Ureaplasma parvum Infection in an Immunocompromised Child. *Pediatrics* 144(2), p. e20190601. doi: 10.1542/peds.2019-0601

Smolarczyk, K., Mlynarczyk-Bonikowska, B., Rudnicka, E., Szukiewicz, D., Meczekalski, B., Smolarczyk, R. and Pieta, W. 2021. The Impact of Selected Bacterial Sexually Transmitted Diseases on Pregnancy and Female Fertility. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 22(4), p. 2170. doi: 10.3390/ijms22042170

Soni, S. et al. 2019. British Association for Sexual Health and HIV national guideline for the management of infection with Mycoplasma genitalium (2018). *International Journal of STD & AIDS* 30(10), pp. 938-950. doi: 10.1177/0956462419825948

Speer, B. S., Shoemaker, N. B. and Salyers, A. A. 1992. Bacterial resistance to tetracycline: Mechanisms, transfer, and clinical significance. *CLINICAL MICROBIOLOGY REVIEWS*. American Society for Microbiology (ASM).

Spiller-Boulter, O., Paukner, S., Boostrom, I., Sands, K., Portal, E. A. R. and Spiller, O. B. 2021. Determination of In Vitro Antimicrobial Susceptibility for Lefamulin (Pleuromutilin) for Ureaplasma Spp. and Mycoplasma hominis. *Antibiotics* 10(11), p. 1370. doi: 10.3390/antibiotics10111370

Spiller, O. B. 2017. Emerging Pathogenic Respiratory Mycoplasma hominis Infections in Lung Transplant Patients: Time to Reassesses it's Role as a Pathogen? *EBioMedicine*. Elsevier B.V.

Spiller, O. B., Rees, C. L., Morris, D. J., Davies, R. L. and Jones, L. C. 2020. Mycoplasma genitalium prevalence in Welsh sexual health patients: Low antimicrobial resistance markers and no association of symptoms to bacterial load. *Microbial Pathogenesis* 139, p. 103872. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micpath.2019.103872</u>

Spiteri, G., Unemo, M., Mårdh, O. and Amato-Gauci, A. J. 2019. The resurgence of syphilis in high-income countries in the 2000s: a focus on Europe. *Epidemiology and Infection* 147, doi: 10.1017/s0950268819000281

Spížek, J. and Řezanka, T. 2004. Lincomycin, clindamycin and their applications. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* 64(4), pp. 455-464. doi: 10.1007/s00253-003-1545-7

Sprong, K. E., Mabenge, M., Wright, C. A. and Govender, S. 2020. Ureaplasma species and preterm birth: current perspectives. *Critical Reviews in Microbiology* 46(2), pp. 169-181. doi: 10.1080/1040841x.2020.1736986

Stemler, M. E., Stemke, G. W. and Robertson, J. A. 1987. ATP measurements obtained by luminometry provide rapid estimation of Ureaplasma urealyticum growth. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 25(2), pp. 427-429. doi: doi:10.1128/jcm.25.2.427-429.1987

Strauss, M., Colodner, R., Sagas, D., Adawi, A., Edelstein, H. and Chazan, B. 2018. Detection of Ureaplasma Species by a Semi-Quantitative PCR Test in Urine Samples: Can It Predict Clinical Significance? *Isr Med Assoc J* 20(1), pp. 9-13.

Strieker, M. and Marahiel, M. A. 2009. The structural diversity of acidic lipopeptide antibiotics. *ChemBioChem*.

Sun, J. et al. 2019. Plasmid-encoded tet(X) genes that confer high-level tigecycline resistance in Escherichia coli. *Nature Microbiology* 4(9), pp. 1457-1464. doi: 10.1038/s41564-019-0496-4

Svetlov, M. S., Syroegin, E. A., Aleksandrova, E. V., Atkinson, G. C., Gregory, S. T., Mankin, A. S. and Polikanov, Y. S. 2021. Structure of Erm-modified 70S ribosome reveals the mechanism of macrolide resistance. *Nature Chemical Biology* 17(4), pp. 412-420. doi: 10.1038/s41589-020-00715-0

Sweeney, E. L., Dando, S. J., Kallapur, S. G. and Knox, C. L. 2017a. The Human Ureaplasma Species as Causative Agents of Chorioamnionitis. *CLINICAL MICROBIOLOGY REVIEWS* 30(1), pp. 349-379. doi: 10.1128/cmr.00091-16

Sweeney, E. L., Kallapur, S. G., Meawad, S., Gisslen, T., Stephenson, S. A., Jobe, A. H. and Knox, C. L. 2017b. Ureaplasma species multiple banded antigen (MBA) variation is associated with the severity of inflammation In vivo and In vitro in human placentae. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology* 7(APR), doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2017.00123

Sweeney, E. L., Mhango, L. P., Ebeyan, S., Tan, L. Y., Bletchly, C., Nimmo, G. R. and Whiley, D. M. 2020. Evaluation of the ResistancePlus MG FleXible Cartridge for Near-Point-of-Care Testing of Mycoplasma genitalium and Associated Macrolide Resistance Mutations. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 58(3), doi: 10.1128/jcm.01897-19

Sweet, R. and Walker. 2011. Gonorrhea infection in women: prevalence, effects, screening, and management. *International Journal of Women's Health*, p. 197. doi: 10.2147/ijwh.s13427

Tang, W. et al. 2020. Pregnancy and fertility-related adverse outcomes associated with Chlamydia trachomatis infection: a global systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sexually Transmitted Infections* 96(5), pp. 322-329. doi: 10.1136/sextrans-2019-053999

Tantengco, O. A. G., Aquino, I. M. C., de Castro Silva, M., Rojo, R. D. and Abad, C. L. R. 2021a. Association of mycoplasma with prostate cancer: A systematic review and metaanalysis. *Cancer Epidemiology* 75, p. 102021. doi: doi.org/10.1016/j.canep.2021.102021

Tantengco, O. A. G., Castro Silva, M. and Velayo, C. L. 2021b. The role of genital mycoplasma infection in female infertility: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *American Journal of Reproductive Immunology* 85(6), doi: 10.1111/aji.13390

Tantengco, O. A. G. et al. 2022. Modeling ascending Ureaplasma parvum infection through the female reproductive tract using vagina-cervix-decidua-organ-on-a-chip and feto-maternal interface-organ-on-a-chip. *The FASEB Journal* 36(10), doi: 10.1096/fj.202200872r

Tanton, C. et al. 2018. Sexual health clinic attendance and non-attendance in Britain: findings from the third National Survey of Sexual Attitudes and Lifestyles (Natsal-3). *Sexually Transmitted Infections* 94(4), pp. 268-276. doi: 10.1136/sextrans-2017-053193

Taylor-Robinson, D. and Furr, P. M. 1990. Elimination of mycoplasmas from the murine genital tract by hormone treatment. *Epidemiology and Infection* 105(1), pp. 163-168. doi: 10.1017/s0950268800047749

Taylor-Robinson, D. and Jensen, J. S. 2011. Mycoplasma genitalium: from Chrysalis to Multicolored Butterfly. *CLINICAL MICROBIOLOGY REVIEWS* 24(3), pp. 498-514. doi: 10.1128/cmr.00006-11

Teng, L. J., Zheng, X., Glass, J. I., Watson, H. L., Tsai, J. and Cassell, G. H. 1994. Ureaplasma urealyticum biovar specificity and diversity are encoded in multiple-banded antigen gene. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 32(6), pp. 1464-1469. doi: 10.1128/jcm.32.6.1464-1469.1994

Tenson, T., Lovmar, M. and Ehrenberg, M. 2003. The Mechanism of Action of Macrolides, Lincosamides and Streptogramin B Reveals the Nascent Peptide Exit Path in the Ribosome. *Journal of Molecular Biology* 330(5), pp. 1005-1014. doi: doi.org/10.1016/S0022-2836(03)00662-4

Terzi, H. A., Aydemir, O., Karakece, E., Hatipoglu, H., Olmez, M., Koroglu, M. and Altindis, M. 2020. Investigation of the rapid immunochromatographic test performance in the diagnosis of syphilis; comparison of four serological methods. *Journal of Laboratory Medicine* 44(4), pp. 221-226. doi: 10.1515/labmed-2019-0012

Thai, T., Salisbury, B. H. and Zito, P. M. 2021. Ciprofloxacin. StatPearls.

Thayer, J. D., Martin, J. E. and Frank, P. F. 1965. Thayer-Martin Selective Medium for the Cultivation of Neisseria Meningitidis from the Nasopharynx. *American Journal of Public Health and the Nations Health* 55(6), pp. 923-927. doi: 10.2105/ajph.55.6.923

Thirkell, D., Myles, A. D., Precious, B. L., Frost, J. S., Woodall, J. C., Burdon, M. G. and Russell, W. C. 1989. The Urease of Ureaplasma urealyticum. *Microbiology* 135(2), pp. 315-323. doi: 10.1099/00221287-135-2-315

Tilkorn, F. K. M. T. et al. 2020. Antimicrobial Resistance Patterns in Clostridioides difficile Strains Isolated from Neonates in Germany. *Antibiotics* 9(8), p. 481. doi: 10.3390/antibiotics9080481

Tjagur, S., Mändar, R. and Punab, M. 2018. Prevalence of Mycoplasma genitalium and other sexually transmitted infections causing urethritis among high-risk heterosexual male patients in Estonia. *Infectious Diseases* 50(2), pp. 133-139. doi: 10.1080/23744235.2017.1366044

Tong, X., Mao, M., Xie, J., Zhang, K. and Xu, D. 2016. Insights into the interactions between tetracycline, its degradation products and bovine serum albumin. *SpringerPlus* 5(1), pp. 1073-1073. doi: 10.1186/s40064-016-2349-4

Tötterman, L. E. and Saxén, L. 1969. Incorporation of Tetracycline Into Human Foetal Bones after Maternal Drug Administration. *Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica*, doi: 10.3109/00016346909156668

Tourgeman, D. E., Gentzchein, E., Stanczyk, F. Z. and Paulson, R. J. 1999. Serum and tissue hormone levels of vaginally and orally administered estradiol. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 180(6 Pt 1), pp. 1480-1483. doi: 10.1016/s0002-9378(99)70042-6

Trotter, A. J., Aydin, A., Strinden, M. J. and O'Grady, J. 2019. Recent and emerging technologies for the rapid diagnosis of infection and antimicrobial resistance. *Current Opinion in Microbiology* 51, pp. 39-45. doi: 10.1016/j.mib.2019.03.001

Truong, R., Tang, V., Grennan, T. and Tan, D. H. S. 2022. A systematic review of the impacts of oral tetracycline class antibiotics on antimicrobial resistance in normal human flora. *JAC-Antimicrobial Resistance* 4(1), doi: 10.1093/jacamr/dlac009

Tully, J. G., Taylor-Robinson, D., Rose, D. L., Cole, R. M. and Bove, J. M. 1983. Mycoplasma genitalium, a New Species from the Human Urogenital Tract. *International Journal of Systematic Bacteriology* 33(2), pp. 387-396. doi: 10.1099/00207713-33-2-387

UKHSA. 2022. Key findings from the Gonococcal Resistance to Antimicrobials Surveillance Programme (GRASP 2021). [Accessed: 08/11/2022].

UKHSA. 2023. Gonorrhoea: guidance, data and analysis. In: Agency, U.H.S. ed. GOV.UK.

Unemo, M., Golparian, D. and Eyre, D. W. 2019. Antimicrobial Resistance in Neisseria gonorrhoeae and Treatment of Gonorrhea.*Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Springer New York, pp. 37-58.

Unemo, M. and Jensen, J. S. 2017. Antimicrobial-resistant sexually transmitted infections: Gonorrhoea and Mycoplasma genitalium. *Nature Reviews Urology*.

Unemo, M. et al. 2018. Clinical and analytical evaluation of the new Aptima Mycoplasma genitalium assay, with data on M. genitalium prevalence and antimicrobial resistance in M. genitalium in Denmark, Norway and Sweden in 2016. *Clinical Microbiology and Infection* 24(5), pp. 533-539. doi: 10.1016/j.cmi.2017.09.006

Vallely, L. M. et al. 2018. Adverse pregnancy and neonatal outcomes associated with Neisseria gonorrhoeae, Mycoplasma genitalium, M. hominis, Ureaplasma urealyticum and U. parvum: a systematic review and meta-analysis protocol. *BMJ Open* 8(11), p. e024175. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2018-024175

Vallely, L. M. et al. 2021. Adverse pregnancy and neonatal outcomes associated with Neisseria gonorrhoeae: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sexually Transmitted Infections* 97(2), pp. 104-111. doi: 10.1136/sextrans-2020-054653

Van Der Putten, B. C. L., Remondini, D., Pasquini, G., Janes, V. A., Matamoros, S. and Schultsz, C. 2019. Quantifying the contribution of four resistance mechanisms to ciprofloxacin MIC inEscherichia coli: a systematic review. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy* 74(2), pp. 298-310. doi: 10.1093/jac/dky417

van der Schalk, T. E., Braam, J. F. and Kusters, J. G. 2020. Molecular basis of antimicrobial resistance in Mycoplasma genitalium. *International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents* 55(4), pp. 105911-105911. doi: 10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2020.105911

Varon, E., Janoir, C., Kitzis, M. D. and Gutmann, L. 1999. ParC and GyrA may be interchangeable initial targets of some fluoroquinolones in Streptococcus pneumoniae. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* 43(2), pp. 302-306. doi: 10.1128/AAC.43.2.302

Vázquez-Laslop, N. and Mankin, A. S. 2018a. Context-Specific Action of Ribosomal Antibiotics. *Annual Review of Microbiology* 72(1), pp. 185-207. doi: 10.1146/annurev-micro-090817-062329

Vázquez-Laslop, N. and Mankin, A. S. 2018b. How Macrolide Antibiotics Work. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences* 43(9), pp. 668-684. doi: 10.1016/j.tibs.2018.06.011

Vecchio, M. et al. 2021. Bronchial anastomosis dehiscence and stenosis caused by donortransmitted Mycoplasma hominis infection in a lung transplant recipient: Case report and literature review. *Transplant Infectious Disease* 23(2), doi: 10.1111/tid.13475

Vincent, C., Borel, F., Willison, J. C., Laberman, R. and Härtlein, M. 1995. Seryl-tRNA synthetase from Escherichia coli: functional evidence for cross-dimer tRNA binding during aminoacylation. *Nucleic Acids Research* 23(7), pp. 1113-1118. doi: 10.1093/nar/23.7.1113

Viscardi, R. M. 2014. Ureaplasma species: Role in neonatal morbidities and outcomes. *Archives of Disease in Childhood: Fetal and Neonatal Edition.*

Viscardi, R. M. and Waites, K. B. 2017. Ureaplasma urealyticum and Ureaplasma parvum. *Congenital and Perinatal Infections*, p. 295.

Vivithanaporn, P., Kongratanapasert, T., Suriyapakorn, B., Songkunlertchai, P., Mongkonariyawong, P., Limpikirati, P. K. and Khemawoot, P. 2021. Potential drug-drug interactions of antiretrovirals and antimicrobials detected by three databases. *Scientific Reports* 11(1), doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-85586-8

Vizarraga, D., Torres-Puig, S., Aparicio, D. and Pich, O. Q. 2021. The Sialoglycan Binding Adhesins of Mycoplasma genitalium and Mycoplasma pneumoniae. *Trends in Microbiology* 29(6), pp. 477-481. doi: 10.1016/j.tim.2021.01.011

Vodstrcil, L. A., Muzny, C. A., Plummer, E. L., Sobel, J. D. and Bradshaw, C. S. 2021. Bacterial vaginosis: drivers of recurrence and challenges and opportunities in partner treatment. *BMC Medicine* 19(1), doi: 10.1186/s12916-021-02077-3

Waites, K. B., Crabb, D. M., Ratliff, A. E., Geisler, W. M., Atkinson, T. P. and Xiao, L. 2023. Latest Advances in Laboratory Detection of Mycoplasma genitalium. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 61(3), pp. e00790-00721. doi: doi:10.1128/jcm.00790-21

Waites, K. B. et al. 2012. Standardized Methods and Quality Control Limits for Agar and Broth Microdilution Susceptibility Testing of Mycoplasma pneumoniae, Mycoplasma hominis, and Ureaplasma urealyticum. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 50(11), pp. 3542-3547. doi: 10.1128/jcm.01439-12

Waites, K. B., Katz, B. and Schelonka, R. L. 2005. Mycoplasmas and Ureaplasmas as Neonatal Pathogens. *CLINICAL MICROBIOLOGY REVIEWS* 18(4), pp. 757-789. doi: 10.1128/CMR.18.4.757-789.2005

Waites, K. B., Schelonka, R. L., Xiao, L., Grigsby, P. L. and Novy, M. J. 2009. Congenital and opportunistic infections: Ureaplasma species and Mycoplasma hominis. *Seminars in Fetal and Neonatal Medicine* 14(4), pp. 190-199. doi: 10.1016/j.siny.2008.11.009

Waites, K. B., Xiao, L., Viscardi, R. M., Leal, S. M. and Glass, J. I. 2022. Mycoplasma and Ureaplasma.*Molecular Typing in Bacterial Infections, Volume I.* Springer International Publishing, pp. 37-84.

Walker, G. J., Walker, D., Molano Franco, D. and Grillo-Ardila, C. F. 2019. Antibiotic treatment for newborns with congenital syphilis. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2019(2), doi: 10.1002/14651858.cd012071.pub2

Wang, N., Liu, W., Zhou, Y. and Liu, Y. 2019. In vitro Activities of Nemonoxacin and Other Antimicrobial Agents Against Human Mycoplasma and Ureaplasmas Isolates and Their Defined Resistance Mechanisms. *Frontiers in Microbiology* 0(AUG), pp. 1890-1890. doi: 10.3389/FMICB.2019.01890

Wang, Q. Y., Li, R. H., Zheng, L. Q. and Shang, X. H. 2016. Prevalence and antimicrobial susceptibility of Ureaplasma urealyticum and Mycoplasma hominis in female outpatients, 2009–2013. *Journal of Microbiology, Immunology and Infection*, doi: 10.1016/j.jmii.2014.06.007

Weisblum, B. 1995. Erythromycin resistance by ribosome modification. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* 39(3), pp. 577-585.

Welsh Government. 2023. NHS expenditure programme budgets: April 2021 to March 2022.

Whitlock, G. G., Gibbons, D. C., Longford, N., Harvey, M. J., Mcowan, A. and Adams, E. J. 2018. Rapid testing and treatment for sexually transmitted infections improve patient care and yield public health benefits. *International Journal of STD & AIDS* 29(5), pp. 474-482. doi: 10.1177/0956462417736431

WHO. 2018. Report on global sexually transmitted infection surveillance 2018.

WHO. 2019. Critically Important Antimicrobials for Human Medicine 6th Revision 2018. Ranking of medically important antimicrobials for risk management of antimicrobial resistance due to non-human use. World Health Orzanization.

Wi, T. et al. 2017. Antimicrobial resistance in Neisseria gonorrhoeae: Global surveillance and a call for international collaborative action. *PLOS Medicine* 14(7), p. e1002344. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1002344

Wi, T. E. et al. 2019. Diagnosing sexually transmitted infections in resource-constrained settings: challenges and ways forward. *Journal of the International AIDS Society* 22(S6), doi: 10.1002/jia2.25343

Wihlfahrt, K. et al. 2023. Sexually Transmitted Diseases - An Update and Overview of Current Research. *Diagnostics* 13(9), p. 1656.

Wilson, J. D. et al. 2021. Swab-Yourself Trial With Economic Monitoring and Testing for Infections Collectively (SYSTEMATIC): Part 2. A Diagnostic Accuracy and Costeffectiveness Study Comparing Rectal, Pharyngeal, and Urogenital Samples Analyzed Individually, Versus as a Pooled Sp. *Clinical Infectious Diseases* 73(9), pp. e3183-e3193. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciaa1546

Wood, G. E., Iverson-Cabral, S. L., Gillespie, C. W., Lowens, M. S., Manhart, L. E. and Totten, P. A. 2020. Sequence variation and immunogenicity of the Mycoplasma genitalium MgpB and MgpC adherence proteins during persistent infection of men with non-gonococcal urethritis. *PLoS ONE* 15(10), p. e0240626. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0240626

Wood, G. E., Iverson-Cabral, S. L., Patton, D. L., Cummings, P. K., Cosgrove Sweeney, Y. T. and Totten, P. A. 2013. Persistence, Immune Response, and Antigenic Variation of Mycoplasma genitalium in an Experimentally Infected Pig-Tailed Macaque (Macaca nemestrina). *Infection and Immunity* 81(8), pp. 2938-2951. doi: 10.1128/iai.01322-12

Woodhall, S. C. et al. 2018. Advancing the public health applications of Chlamydia trachomatis serology. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases* 18(12), pp. e399-e407. doi: 10.1016/s1473-3099(18)30159-2

Wright, L. D. and Grossman, A. D. 2016. Autonomous replication of the conjugative transposon Tn916. *Journal of Bacteriology* 198(24), pp. 3355-3366. doi: 10.1128/JB.00639-16

Xiao, L. et al. 2011. Extensive Horizontal Gene Transfer in Ureaplasmas from Humans Questions the Utility of Serotyping for Diagnostic Purposes. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 49(8), pp. 2818-2826. doi: 10.1128/jcm.00637-11

Yamao, F., Muto, A., Kawauchi, Y., Iwami, M., Iwagami, S., Azumi, Y. and Osawa, S. 1985. UGA is read as tryptophan in Mycoplasma capricolum. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 82(8), pp. 2306-2309. doi: 10.1073/pnas.82.8.2306

Yang, L. and Ke, W. 2020. Azithromycin, minocycline, moxifloxacin and spectinomycin failure in a case with persistent Mycoplasma genitalium infection in Guangzhou, China. *International Journal of STD & AIDS* 31(11), pp. 1106-1109. doi: 10.1177/0956462420905269

Yang, R. 2017. Plague: Recognition, Treatment, and Prevention. doi: 10.1128/JCM

Yang, T. et al. 2020a. Comparative genomics of three clinical Ureaplasma species: analysis of their core genomes and multiple-banded antigen locus. *Future Microbiol* 15, pp. 49-61. doi: 10.2217/fmb-2019-0090

Yang, T. et al. 2020b. Antimicrobial resistance in clinical Ureaplasma spp. And Mycoplasma hominis and Structural Mechanisms Underlying Quinolone Resistance. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* 64(6), doi: 10.1128/AAC.02560-19

Ye, H., Song, T., Zeng, X., Li, L., Hou, M. and Xi, M. 2018. Association between genital mycoplasmas infection and human papillomavirus infection, abnormal cervical cytopathology, and cervical cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Archives of Gynecology and Obstetrics* 297(6), pp. 1377-1387. doi: 10.1007/s00404-018-4733-5

Yeung, T. et al. 2021. Therapeutic Drug Monitoring of Moxifloxacin to Guide Treatment of Mycoplasma hominis Meningitis in an Extremely Preterm Infant. *J Pediatr Pharmacol Ther* 26(8), pp. 857-862. doi: 10.5863/1551-6776-26.8.857

Yiwen, C., Yueyue, W., Lianmei, Q., Cuiming, Z. and Xiaoxing, Y. 2021. Infection strategies of mycoplasmas: Unraveling the panoply of virulence factors. *Virulence* 12(1), pp. 788-817. doi: 10.1080/21505594.2021.1889813

Yu, Q., Wang, L.-C., Di Benigno, S., Gray-Owen, S. D., Stein, D. C. and Song, W. 2019. Neisseria gonorrhoeae infects the heterogeneous epithelia of the human cervix using distinct mechanisms. *PLOS Pathogens* 15(12), p. e1008136. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1008136

Yueyue, W., Feichen, X., Yixuan, X., Lu, L., Yiwen, C. and Xiaoxing, Y. 2022. Pathogenicity and virulence of Mycoplasma genitalium: Unraveling Ariadne's Thread. *Virulence* 13(1), pp. 1161-1183. doi: 10.1080/21505594.2022.2095741

Zhang, H., Zheng, L., Zhao, J., Ding, S. and Xia, Y. 2019. Investigation of fluoroquinolone resistance mechanism in mycoplasma hominis isolated from urogenital samples in a Chinese hospital. *Journal of Medical Microbiology* 68(2), pp. 206-210. doi: 10.1099/jmm.0.000913

Zhao, L., Liu, A., Li, R. and Zhao, S. 2020. Antimicrobial resistance, genetic characterization, and molecular epidemiology of Ureaplasma species in males with infertility. *European Journal of Clinical Microbiology & Infectious Diseases* 39(11), pp. 2177-2183. doi: 10.1007/s10096-020-03969-7

Zheng, X., Teng, L. J., Watson, H. L., Glass, J. I., Blanchard, A. and Cassell, G. H. 1995. Small repeating units within the Ureaplasma urealyticum MB antigen gene encode serovar specificity and are associated with antigen size variation. *Infection and Immunity* 63(3), pp. 891-898. doi: 10.1128/iai.63.3.891-898.1995

Zhou, C., Zhang, X., Zhang, W., Duan, J. and Zhao, F. 2019. PCR detection for syphilis diagnosis: Status and prospects. *Journal of Clinical Laboratory Analysis* 33(5), doi: 10.1002/jcla.22890

Zieliński, M., Park, J., Sleno, B. and Berghuis, A. M. 2021. Structural and functional insights into esterase-mediated macrolide resistance. *Nature Communications* 12(1), doi: 10.1038/s41467-021-22016-3

Zimmerman, C. U. R., Rosengarten, R. and Spergser, J. 2011. Ureaplasma antigenic variation beyond MBA phase variation: DNA inversions generating chimeric structures and switching in expression of the MBA N-terminal paralogue UU172. *Molecular Microbiology* 79(3), pp. 663-676. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2010.07474.x

Zimmerman, C. U. R., Rosengarten, R. and Spergser, J. 2013. Interaction of the putative tyrosine recombinases RipX (UU145), XerC (UU222), and CodV (UU529) of Ureaplasma parvum serovar 3 with specific DNA. *FEMS Microbiology Letters* 340(1), pp. 55-64. doi: 10.1111/1574-6968.12077
A. Appendix



Figure 8-1 – A phylogenetic tree of 72 *Mycoplasma hominis* isolates analysed (and two induced resistant strains linked by arrows). Tree was constructed via concatenations of all four topoisomerase genes (*gyrA*, *gyrB*, *parC* and *parE*). The outgroup used was Mycoplasma pneumoniae M129, listed on the tree under its accession number (NC000912). Naturally occurring resistant strains are identified by arrowheads.

Isolate Name	Sample Origin	Isolation Date	Patient Type
ah3-20	Australia	2014	pregnant female
ah3-28	Australia	2014	pregnant female
ah3-36	Australia	2014	pregnant female
AH58	Australia	2014	pregnant female
AH116	Australia	2015	pregnant female
CJ02	Cuba	2015	plural effusion
CJ05	Cuba	2015	plural effusion
CJ10	Cuba	2015	plural effusion
CJ12	Cuba	2015	plural effusion
CJ13	Cuba	2015	plural effusion
CJ20	Cuba	2015	Plural effusion
CJ21	Cuba	2015	Plural effusion
JMM19	Cuba	2015	Plural effusion
N219	Cuba	2014	Endocervical swab following spontaneous abortion
N281	Cuba	2014	Endocervical swab, vaginitis
N290	Cuba	2016	Endocervical swab, antenatal screening
N348	Cuba	2016	Endocervical swab, antenatal screening
Leeds	England	2017	Prosthetic joint infection
M162b	England	2013	Endotracheal secretion, preterm neonate 1st week of life
M162e	England	2013	Endotracheal secretion, preterm neonate 3rd week of life
M162j	England	2013	Endotracheal secretion, preterm neonate 6th week of life
MH05-1	England	2005	PHE archival strain (information unavailable)
MH05-13	England	2005	PHE archival strain (information unavailable)
MH05-14	England	2005	PHE archival strain (information unavailable)
MH06-01	England	2006	PHE archival strain (information unavailable)
MH06-11	England	2006	PHE archival strain (information unavailable)
MH06-12	England	2006	PHE archival strain (information unavailable)
MH08-5	England	2008	PHE archival strain (information unavailable)
MH10-04	England	2010	PHE archival strain (information unavailable)
MH10-09	England	2010	PHE archival strain (information unavailable)
MH10-15	England	2010	PHE archival strain (information unavailable)
MH11	England	2012	Peritoneal fluid
MH12	England	2013	Peritoneal fluid
MH12-3	England	2012	PHE archival strain (information unavailable)
MH12-9	England	2012	PHE archival strain (information unavailable)
MH13-04	England	2013	PHE archival strain (information unavailable)
MH13-5	England	2013	PHE archival strain (information unavailable)
MH13-7	England	2013	PHE archival strain (information unavailable)
MH15-03	England	2015	PHE archival strain (information unavailable)
MH17	England	2004	PHE archival strain (information unavailable)
MH18	England	1993	Cervical swab

Table 8-1 – Meta-Data of *Mycoplasma hominis* isolates analysed in this work.

MH20	England	1990	Cervical swab
MH21	England	1986	Knee aspirate
MH23	England	2005	Neonate; 25 weeks gestation
MH26	England	2008	Cerebral abscess
MH27	England	2008	Renal transplant
MH28	England	2004	Post-hysterectomy complication
MH43	England	2013	Post-operative wound infection
ATCC 21134	France	1989	Neonatal
S019M	Serbia	2019	Sexual health sample for clinical trial
S019M2R	Serbia	2021	Induced levofloxacin resistance of S019 after one sub-culture
S035M	Serbia	2019	Sexual health sample for clinical trial
S042	Serbia	2019	Sexual health sample for clinical trial
S048	Serbia	2019	Sexual health sample for clinical trial
S070	Serbia	2019	Sexual health sample for clinical trial
S104	Serbia	2019	Sexual health sample for clinical trial
PL5	USA	2013	GenBank under the accession no. JRXA00000000.1
Sprott	USA	1978	GenBank under the accession no. CP011538
DF28	Wales	2017	Vaginal swab
DF282R	Wales	2017	Laboratory culture
DF284	Wales	2018	Cervical swab
DF289	Wales	2018	Cervical swab
DF290	Wales	2018	Cervical swab
DF307	Wales	2018	Cervical swab
KF06	Wales	2017	Cervical swab
KF08	Wales	2017	Cervical swab
KF09	Wales	2017	Cervical swab
KF12	Wales	2017	Cervical swab
KF14	Wales	2017	cervical swab
U006	Wales	2018	Walk-in sexual health patient
U018	Wales	2018	Walk-in sexual health patient
U156	Wales	2019	Walk-in sexual health patient

Isolate Name	Species	Serovar	Tetracycline MICs (mg/l)	Isolation Date	Sample Origin	Patient Type
HPA71 (Pre-	U.	4/12/13*	1	2010	England	PHE Archival
HPA71 (Post- challenge)	ureuryticum		64	2022	England	Laboratory Strain
HPA111	U. urealyticum	4/12/13*	64	2008	England	PHE Archival Strain
UUg1	U. urealyticum	4/12/13*	2		France	Cervical swab
Vancouver	U. urealyticum	9	2		Canada	Archival type strain
UUa	U. urealyticum	2/5/8*	2		France	Knee synovial fluid
DF034	U. urealyticum	4/12/13*	2	2017	Wales	Walk-in sexual health patient
DF471	U. urealyticum	4/12/13*	16	2018	Wales	Walk-in sexual health patient
DF314	U. urealyticum	4/12/13*	16	2018	Wales	Walk-in sexual health patient
DF145	U. parvum	6	2	2017	Wales	Walk-in sexual health patient
HPA23	U. parvum	6	64	2010	England	PHE Archival Strain
Cuba 681	U. parvum	1	2	2015	Cuba	Plural effusion
Cuba 211	U. parvum	3	2	2015	Cuba	Plural effusion
DF28U	U. parvum	3	128	2017	Wales	Walk-in sexual
						health patient

Table 8-2 - Meta-Data of *Ureaplasma parvum* and *Ureaplasma urealyticum* isolates analysed in this work.

Isolate	CDS	;																										
	21	22	39	41	65	79	153	157	228	272	273	297	321	450	461	488	514	525	577	745	764	771	798	804	871	902	903	906
ATCC 21134	S	н	S	D	R	К	S	E	V	E	I	К	L	E	A	I	N	к	I	D	I	V	A	R	N	A	E	L
ah3-20					К																L				S		К	
ah3-28					К																L				S		К	
ah3-36					К																L				S		К	
AH58	G					R																			S	V	К	
AH116					К													R			L				S	V	К	
CJ02																	D								S		К	
CJ05					К																				S		К	
CJ10					К											V							V		S		К	
CJ12					К																				S		К	
CJ13					К																				S		К	
CJ20					К																				S		К	
CJ21	G	Q			К																				S		К	
DF28						R	L																		S		К	
DF282R						R	L																		S		К	
DF284					К																				S		К	
DF289					К																				S		К	
DF290					К																				S		К	
DF307					K																				S		K	
JMM19						R																			S		K	
KF06	G					R																			S		К	
KF08						R																			S		К	
KF09		Y	G		К																	I			S		К	
KF12					К																				S		К	
KF14					К																L						К	
Leeds					K		L																		S		Κ	
M162b					K													R			L				S	V	K	
M162e					К													R			L				S	V	К	
M162j					K													R			L				S	V	К	
MH05-1					К																				S		К	
MH05-13					К																				S		К	
MH05-14					K																				S		К	

Table 8-3 - Amino acid variations present in the gyrA genes of all isolates analysed in reference to ATCC 21134.

MH06-01	К						S	S	К
MH06-11	К		F					S	К
MH06-12 G	R	К						S	К
MH08-5	К							S	К
MH10-04 G	R	I K						S	К
MH10-09	К	G		V				S	К
MH10-15		_						S	К
MH11	К				R			S	К
MH12	К				R			S	К
MH12-3								S	К
MH12-9	К				R	L		S	К
MH13-04	К							S	K F
MH13-5	К				М			S	К
MH13-7	R								К
MH15-03	K L							S	К
MH17	К							S	К
MH18	К							S	К
MH20	К							S	К
MH21						L		S	К
MH23	К							S	К
MH26	К					Ν		S	К
MH27	К							S	К
MH28	К							S	К
MH43	К							S	К
N219	К							S	К
N281	К				R	L		S	К
N290	К				R	L		S	К
N348	К							S	К
PL5	E K							S V	К
S019M	K L				R		К	S	К
S019M2R	K L				R		К	S	К
S035M	К			C)	L		S	К
S042	К					L		S	К
S048	К							S	K
5070 G	К		R					S	K
S104 G	R	К						S	К

Sprott	К			S	К
U006	L N	Λ	D	S	К
U018	R			S	К
U156	К			S	К

Table 8-4 - Amino acid variations present in the gyrB genes of all isolates analyzed in reference to ATCC 21134.

Isolate	CDS													
	67	143	194	302	313	385	403	527	552	567	579			
ATCC 21134	L	К	I	А	Т	I	R	F	S	Q	А			
ah3-20				S		V								
ah3-28				S		V								
ah3-36				S		V								
AH58														
AH116														
CJ02														
CJ05														
CJ10														
CJ12														
CJ13														
CJ20											Т			
CJ21										К				
DF28														
DF282R														
DF284														
DF289														
DF290														
DF307														
JMM19					I									
KF06					I									
KF08		R	V											
KF09														
KF12					I			L						
KF14														
Leeds														
M162b														

M162e				
M162j				
MH05-1				
MH05-13				
MH05-14				
MH06-01				
MH06-11				1
MH06-12				
MH08-5				
MH10-04				
MH10-09				
MH10-15				
MH11		I		
MH12		I		
MH12-3				
MH12-9				
MH13-04				
MH13-5				
MH13-7				
MH15-03				
MH17	V			
MH18	V	V		
MH20 S				
MH21	V			
MH23	V			
MH26	V			
MH27 R				
MH28	V		Н	
MH43				
N219				
N281				
N290				
N348				
PL5				
S019M				
S019M2R				

S035M				
S042				
S048				
S070				
S104				
Sprott	V			
U006				
U018				
U156				

Table 8-5 - Amino acid variations present in the parC genes of all isolates analysed in reference to ATCC 21134 (divided into (a), (b) and (c) due to size constraints). CDS numbers in the QRDR are highlighted in red.

Isolate										Cl	DS									
	6	18	64	91	95	144	154	285	322	339	349	373	423	424	484	509	524	535	537	542
ATCC 23114	Κ	Е	Η	S	Е	Κ	А	А	Ν	S	Ν	Ι	Ν	Κ	L	Η	Κ	V	Т	S
ah3-20	Κ					R														
ah3-28	Κ					R														
ah3-36	Κ					R														
AH58																				
AH116						R	V							R						
CJ02						R														Ν
CJ05														R						Ν
CJ10																				
CJ12						R									F					Ν
CJ13														R						Ν
CJ20											S			R						
CJ21																				Ν
DF28							V		S											Ν
DF282R					Κ		V		S											Ν
DF284						R														Ν
DF289																				Ν
DF290																	Е			Ν
DF307							V													
JMM19						R								R						
KF06																				
KF08													D							
KF09																				
KF12						R														Ν
KF14		Κ				R														Ν
Leeds						R														Ν
M162b							V							R						
M162e														R						
M162j							V							R						
MH05-1																				
MH05-13													D							
MH05-14						R														
MH06-01						R										R				Ν
MH06-11						R														

MH08 5		
1 111 100-J	Α	N
MH10-04	А	N
MH10-09 V I	А	Ν
MH10-15		
MH11 Y		
MH12 Y		
MH12-3 Y		
MH12-9 R T		Ν
MH13-04 R		
MH13-5 R S		
MH13-7 R		
MH15-03		
MH17		
MH18		
MH20 R		Ν
MH21 I	Α	Ν
MH23 D		
MH26 R S		
MH27 R S		
MH28 D		
MH43 R		
N219		
N281		
N290		
N348 F		Ν
PL5 R		Ν
S019M		
S019M2R K		
S035M R		Ν
S042 R		Ν
S048 R S		
S070		
S104		
Sprott R		Ν
U006 I R T		
U018 R		Ν
U156		Ν

(b)

Isolate										C	DS									
	558	591	602	616	623	632	649	661	689	690	717	719	720	737	738	743	767	769	771	776
ATCC 23114	V	Q	S	Ν	М	V	М	А	V	G	Т	S	К	D	Т	S	А	Т	S	L
ah3-20				S		I										L				
ah3-28				S		Ι										L				
ah3-36				S		Ι										L				
AH58				S												L				
AH116				S	Ι						Α				А					
CJ02				S																
CJ05				S	Ι			V												
CJ10				S	- 1															
CJ12				S												L				V
CJ13				S	1			V												
CJ20				S		I									Α					
CJ21		К		S																
DF28				S	1			V												
DF282R				S	1			V												
DF284				S																
DF289				S												L				
DF290				S																
DF307				S																

10.40.44.0			6							0				-	•	
JIMIM19			5							Q				1	A	
KF06			S	I												
KF08			S													N
KF09			S													
KF12			S	I	Ι											
KF14			S	I.												
Leeds			S										L			
M162b			S	1								А				
M162e			S	I								А				
M162j			S	I								А				
MH05-1			S	I	I											
MH05-13			S												А	N
MH05-14			S				А	V			Y	А				
MH06-01			S					· ·								
MH06-11			S													
MH06-12			s	1									1			N
MH08-5			5									Δ	-			
MH10-04			5									^				
MH10-04			5									A 				
NULLO 15			<u> </u>	1					L			A				
IVIH10-15			5													
MHII			5													
MH12			5													
MH12-3			5				 									
MH12-9			S				A					A	L			
MH13-04		Р	S													
MH13-5			S	I												
MH13-7			S			I										
MH15-03			S										L			
MH17			S	I	I											
MH18			S	1								Α				
MH20			S													
MH21			S	I								А				
MH23			S										L		А	Ν
MH26			S	I	I											
MH27			S	Ι	Ι											
MH28			S										L		А	N
MH43	1		S													
N219			S		I											
N281			S		I											
N290			S		I											
N348			S													
PL5			S													
S019M			S													
S019M2R			S													
\$035M			S	1												
			S	· ·												
5048			S													
5070			5	I	I											
\$10 <i>/</i>			<u>ر</u>													
Sprott			ر د													
1006			с С													
			<u>د</u>													
11156			<u> </u>													
מכוט			<u>،</u>													

(c)

Isolate									(CDS									-
	785	791	804	816	827	828	829	830	840	841	843	861	862	878	886	894	898	908	910
ATCC 23114	А	F	К	I	V	D	E	Ι	Q	G	Ι	Ν	Q	Ι	Р	D	D	V	Q
ah3-20												D					Ν		
ah3-28												D					Ν		
ah3-36												D					Ν		
AH58					А	Ν							Е						
AH116					А												Ν	Ι	
CJ02					Α							D							
CJ05					А	Ν	К						E					I	

CJ10				А	Ν	К												
CJ12			V	Α												Ν		
CJ13				А	Ν	К						Е					Ι	
CJ20				А	Ν	К						Е						
CJ21				А								Е						
DF28				А	Ν	К						Е					Ι	
DF282R				А	Ν	К						Е					I	
DF284				А							D							
DF289				А	Ν							Е						
DF290				А					E	Т								
DF307				А								Е					I	
JMM19																Ν		
KF06				А							D							
KF08				А							S							
KF09				А														
KF12				А											G			
KF14				А					Е	Т			М					
Leeds				А					Е	Т								
M162b				А												Ν	Ι	
M162e				Α												Ν	Ι	
M162j				А												Ν	Ι	
MH05-1		R		А											G			
MH05-13				Α							S							
MH05-14	S			А	Ν													
MH06-01				А						Т							Ι	
MH06-11				А						Т								
MH06-12				А							S							
MH08-5				А												Ν		
MH10-04				А												Ν		
MH10-09				А	Ν											Ν		
MH10-15																		
MH11				А						Т								
MH12				А						Т								
MH12-3				А						Т								
MH12-9		R		А											G			
MH13-04				А											G			
MH13-5				А											G			
MH13-7																	I	
MH15-03											D			S		Ν		
MH17		R		А											G			
MH18				А												Ν		
MH20				А								Е						
MH21				А	Ν											Ν		
MH23				А							S							
MH26				Α											G			
MH27				А											G			R
MH28				Α							S							
MH43				А	Ν	К						Е					I	
N219				Α											G			
N281				А											G			
N290				А											G			
N348				Α	Ν							E				Ν		
PL5				Α														
S019M				Α								E						
S019M2R				А								Е						
S035M				Α											G			
S042				А								Е						
S048				А														
S070		R		Α											G			
S104	I			А			Μ					Е						
Sprott				Α							D							
U006				А								Е					Ι	
U018				А				К			D							
U156				Α								E					1	

Isolate										CI	DS									
	57	71	107	122	128	182	218	237	249	252	278	309	326	334	371	387	417	468	523	546
ATCC 23114	N	V	Δ	V	K	р	D	T	F	T	т	S	F	Т	S	K	V	Δ	N	T
ab3 20	IN	v	А	v	K	1	D	1	Б	L	1	5	Б	1	5	R	v	А	1	L
ah3-28																R				
ah3-36																R				
AH58																R				
AH156															F	R	T			
CI02															г	R	1			
CI05																R				
CI10									K							R	T			
CI12									K							D	T			
CI12																D	1			
CI20																K	T			
CI21																P	1			
																D	т			
DF282P																D	T			
DF284	c															D	1			
DF284	3															D	т			
DF209																D	1			
DF290												T				D	т			
DF307												L				D	т Т			
JIVIIVI19 VE06																D D	<u>т</u>			
KF00						c							V			D D	<u>т</u>			Б
KF00						5							К			D D	<u>т</u>			Г
KF09																D D	1			
KF12																D D				
Londa																D D	т			
Mich																R D	1 T			
M162D																K D	1 T			
M162e																K D	1 T			
N1162j																K D	1			
MH05-1						C							V			K D	т			Б
MH05-13					р	5		Е					ĸ			K D	1			Г
MH06-01					К			Г								D D	т			
MH06-01							NT									R D	1			
MH06-11							IN									K D	т			
MH06-12																K D	1			
MH08-5																K D	т			
MH10-04																K D	1 T			
MH10-09																K D	1			
MH10-15																K D	т			
MH11																K D	1 T			
MII12																K D	1 T			
MH12-3			т											м		K D	1 T			
MH12-9			1											IVI		K D	1			
MH13-04																K D	т			
MH13-5										6						K D	1			
MH13-7										5						K D	1			
IVIF115-03																K P				
MH17																K D	т			
MH18											٨					K P	1	17		
MH20											А					K D	т	V		
MH21					п	c							τ/			K D	1 T			г
MH23					К	5							К			K P	1			ł
MH26																K P				
MH27						6							1/			K	-			
MH28		т			K	5							K			K	1			F
MH43		1			K	S							K			K	1			

Table 8-6 - Amino acid variations present in the parE genes of all isolates analysed in reference toATCC 21134.

N219				R			
N281				R			
N290				R			
N348				R	Ι		
PL5				R			
S019M	А			R			
S019M2R	А			R			
S035M				R	Ι		
S042				R			
S048				R			
S070				R		S	
S104				R			
Sprott				R			
U006				R	Ι		
U018				R	Ι		
U156				R	Ι		

Table 8-7 – A list of SNP frequencies observed across the topoisomerase genes of each of the seventy-four isolates analysed. Tables correspond to SNPs present in gyrA (a), gyrB (b), parC (c), and parE (d).

(a)	gyrA		
Isolata	Synonymous	Non-Synonymous	Total
isolate	SNP	SNP	
AH116	92	6	98
ah3-20	44	4	48
ah3-28	44	4	48
ah3-36	44	4	48
AH58	47	6	53
CJ02	22	3	25
CJ05	47	4	51
CJ10	53	5	58
CJ12	40	3	43
CJ13	47	4	51
CJ20	38	3	41
CJ21	46	5	51
DF28	51	5	56
DF282R	51	5	56
DF284	42	3	45
DF289	41	3	44
DF290	38	3	41
DF307	43	3	46
JMM19	43	4	47
KF06	56	5	61
KF08	47	4	51
KF09	42	5	47
KF12	37	3	40
KF14	36	3	39

Leeds	41	4	45
M162b	66	6	72
M162e	66	6	72
M162j	66	6	72
MH05-1	42	3	45
MH05-	45	3	48
13			
MH05-	44	3	47
14			
MH06-	37	4	41
MH06-	19	Λ	52
11		- -	55
 MH06-	53	6	59
12			
MH08-5	36	3	39
MH10-	44	7	51
04			
MH10-	45	5	50
09			- 10
MH11	44	4	48
MH12	44	4	48
MH12-3	0	0	0
MH12-9	49	6	55
MH13- 04	43	4	47
MH13-5	44	4	48
MH13-7	39	3	42
MH15-	43	5	48
03			
MH17	42	3	45
MH18	44	3	47
MH20	45	3	48
MH21	44	4	48
MH23	45	3	48
MH26	30	4	34
MH27	45	3	48
MH28	45	3	48
MH43	39	3	42
N219	48	3	51
N281	52	5	57
N290	52	5	57
N348	43	3	46
PL5	60	5	65
S019M	35	6	41
	35	6	41
S019M2R			

S035M	33	5	38
S042	43	4	47
S048	43	3	46
S070	41	4	45
S104	50	6	56
Sprott	44	3	47
U006	41	5	46
U018	46	4	50
U156	35	3	38

(b)	gyrB		
Isolate	Synonymous SNP	Non-Synonymous SNP	Total
AH116	32	0	32
ah3-20	22	2	24
ah3-28	22	2	24
ah3-36	22	2	24
AH58	29	0	29
CJ02	19	1	20
CJ05	18	1	19
CJ10	20	1	21
CJ12	18	0	18
CJ13	18	1	19
CJ20	16	3	19
CJ21	25	1	26
DF28	8	0	8
DF282R	8	0	8
DF284	11	0	11
DF289	23	0	23
DF290	27	0	27
DF307	23	0	23
JMM19	18	1	19
KF06	18	1	19
KF08	22	2	24
KF09	1	0	1
KF12	19	2	21
KF14	29	0	29
Leeds	29	0	29
M162b	24	0	24
M162e	24	0	24
M162j	24	0	24
MH05-1	23	1	24
MH05- 13	29	1	30

MH05-	34	0	34
14			
MH06-	16	2	18
01			
MH06-	9	1	10
	6	1	7
12	0	1	/
MH08-5	22	0	22
MH10-	29	0	29
04			
MH10-	18	0	18
09			
MH11	19	1	20
MH12	19	1	20
MH12-3	19	1	20
MH12-9	5	0	5
MH13-	21	0	21
04			
MH13-5	20	1	21
MH13-7	22	2	24
MH15-	22	2	24
03			
MH17	23	1	24
MH18	19	1	20
MH20	23	3	26
MH21	19	1	20
MH23	29	1	30
MH26	30	1	31
MH27	18	1	19
MH28	30	2	32
MH43	20	0	20
N219	17	0	17
N281	30	0	30
N290	30	0	30
N348	21	0	21
PL5	25	0	25
S019M	26	0	26
	26	0	26
S019M2R			
S035M	1	0	1
S042	25	1	26
S048	25	0	25
S070	18	1	19
S104	27	0	27
Sprott	21	1	22
U006	5	0	5

U018	14	0	14
U156	27	0	27

(c)	parC				
Icolato	Synonymous	Non-Synonymous	Total		
Isolate	SNP	SNP			
AH116	57	11	68		
ah3-20	17	7	24		
ah3-28	17	7	24		
ah3-36	17	7	24		
AH58	26	5	31		
CJ02	29	6	35		
CJ05	26	12	38		
CJ10	19	6	25		
CJ12	31	10	41		
CJ13	26	12	38		
CJ20	32	10	42		
CJ21	24	6	30		
DF28	30	13	43		
DF282R	30	14	44		
DF284	27	6	33		
DF289	34	6	40		
DF290	28	7	35		
DF307	29	6	35		
JMM19	28	8	36		
KF06	28	6	34		
KF08	54	8	62		
KF09	23	4	27		
KF12	25	8	33		
KF14	35	10	45		
Leeds	27	7	34		
M162b	34	10	44		
M162e	31	9	40		
M162j	34	10	44		
MH05-1	28	7	35		
MH05-	54	8	62		
13					
MH05-	32	10	42		
14					
MH06-	31	9	40		
01	20	7	42		
IVIHU6-	30	/	43		
MH06-	48	8	56		
12		-			

MH08-5	31	10	41		
MH10-	31	10	41		
04					
MH10-	52	13	65		
09		_			
MH11	47	7	54		
MH12	47	7	54		
MH12-3	0	0	0		
MH12-9	31	11	42		
MH13-	27	8	35		
04					
MH13-5	25	8	33		
MH13-7	20	6	26		
MH15-	22	6	28		
03	20	~	25		
MH17	28	/	35		
MH18	43	6	49		
MH20	30	6	36		
MH21	52	11	63		
MH23	54	8	62		
MH26	25	8	33		
MH27	25	9	34		
MH28	54	8	62		
MH43	26	9	35		
N219	16	5	21		
N281	16	5	21		
N290	16	5	21		
N348	39	8	47		
PL5	23	5	28		
S019M	33	4	37		
	33	5	38		
S019M2R					
S035M	31	8	39		
S042	33	7	40		
S048	25	5	30		
S070	30	8	38		
S104	29	6	35		
Sprott	27	6	33		
U006	23	8	31		
U018	27	7	34		
U156	31	6	37		

(d)	parE		
Isolato	Synonymous	Non-Synonymous	Total
Isolate	SNP	SNP	
AH116	59	3	62
ah3-20	0	0	0
ah3-28	19	1	20
ah3-36	19	1	20
AH58	26	1	27
CJ02	0	0	0
CJ05	0	0	0
CJ10	0	0	0
CJ12	0	0	0
CJ13	0	0	0
CJ20	0	0	0
CJ21	0	0	0
DF28	0	0	0
DF282R	0	0	0
DF284	22	2	24
DF289	28	2	30
DF290	25	1	26
DF307	25	3	28
JMM19	32	2	34
KF06	22	2	24
KF08	38	6	44
KF09	18	2	20
KF12	21	1	22
KF14	0	0	0
Leeds	0	0	0
M162b	20	2	22
M162e	20	2	22
M162j	20	2	22
MH05-1	0	0	0
MH05-	0	0	0
13			
MH05-	0	0	0
14			
MH06-	0	0	0
01		0	
IVIHU6-	U	U	U
MH06-	0	0	0
12			
 MH08-5	0	0	0
MH10-	0	0	0
04			

MH10-	0	0	0
09 MH11	25	2	27
MH12	25	2	27
MH12_3	0	0	0
	0	0	0
	0	0	0
04	0	0	0
MH13-5	0	0	0
MH13-7	0	0	0
MH15-	0	0	0
03			
MH17	20	1	21
MH18	13	2	15
MH20	21	3	24
MH21	23	2	25
MH23	38	6	44
MH26	29	1	30
MH27	28	1	29
MH28	38	6	44
MH43	28	6	34
N219	18	1	19
N281	15	1	16
N290	19	1	20
N348	21	2	23
PL5	13	1	14
S019M	15	2	17
S019M2R	0	0	0
S035M	21	2	23
S042	0	0	0
S048	0	0	0
S070	0	0	0
S104	30	1	31
Sprott	21	1	22
U006	0	0	0
U018	0	0	0
U156	0	0	0

					HPA	\5					ATCC-27815									F2								
					Time (H	lours)								Time (H	ours)			Time (Hours)										
		0	2	4	6	8	10	12	p-Value	U-Value	0	2	4	6	8	10	12	p-Value	U-Value	0	2	4	6	8	10	12	p-Value	U-Value
liol	0	412	2894	2623	6981	6692	40188	37526	-	-	1664	732	865	2385	3794	15303	28162	_	-	418	147	305	1505	3348	20957	5877	_	_
strac	62.5pg/ml	1649	1460	2589	8862	12812	114189	123394	0.80	27	735	832	1033	2994	5389	13691	34507	1	25	452	829	1143	1090	3353	106233	245799	0.46	31
a-oe	300pg/ml	1692	814	2832	7246	14364	61699	65943	0.71	28	650	781	927	3060	4120	11608	109766	1	24	1434	1326	1138	2799	6381	23649	136275	0.32	33
Bet	1000pg/ml	1652	1295	4283	7681	11866	148577	101054	0.62	29	568	556	2015	2998	4768	27388	27736	1	24	528	577	984	2073	3337	10567	231950	0.54	30
	0	7	235	637	1572	4232	50240	45958	-	-	57	169	124	1145	940	2525	8322	-	-	719	5100	6827	9567	9959	30815	56941	-	-
e	0.5nmol/L	281	405	876	2796	5822	23111	25967	0.90	26	217	14	84	375	411	51703	35903	1	24	747	1895	1588	3502	5161	5186	6597	0.07	10
steron	1nmol/L	239	110	775	824	1481	10196	21276	0.62	20	444	72	187	174	693	2554	6008	1	25	260	1794	4812	4644	7241	10972	161221	0.46	18
Testo	2nmol/L	45	139	286	782	2068	18052	58374	0.90	23	134	166	175	536	917	1802	4828	1	24	108	522	871	2884	3030	49193	30784	0.21	14
	8nmol/L	413	32	87	322	911	2211	44212	0.46	18	194	148	67	373	703	4272	7941	1	24	85	421	1644	2381	3479	228426	10574	0.26	15
	30nmol/L	79	28	100	112	151	46758	51960	0.46	18	33	35	64	450	1008	16093	10201	0.80	22	284	280	998	930	982	53406	5131	0.10	11

 Table 8-8 - Bacterial cell count values of Ureaplasma parvum isolates grown in media with varying concentrations of sex hormones.
 U-values and p-values were calculated via Mann-Whitney U-Test.

Table 8-9 - Bacterial cell count values of Ureaplasma urealyticum isolates grown in media with varying concentrations of sex hormones.U-values andp-values were calculated via Mann-Whitney U-Test.

	(a)				HPA7	1								Vancouv	er				
		Time (Hours)									Time (Hours)								
		0	2	4	6	8	10	12	p-Value	U-Value	0	2	4	6	8	10	12	p-Value	U-Value
	0	3860	2182	2462	10010	15435	16540	24555	_	_	2504	4209	1927	15621	9672	28825	9228	_	-
radi	62.5pg/ml	41	6528	4129	9017	14245	6761	22620	0.80	22	97	1995	2817	3342	10260	8721	13634	0.46	18
-oest	300pg/ml	1947	1481	6130	8315	14522	2765	18739	0.46	18	142	1340	3863	8532	11642	17024	33955	0.90	23
Beta	1000pg/ml	2216	911	3979	9536	16990	3375	46069	0.80	22	925	1245	5312	8951	13237	25368	12548	0.80	22
	0	359	743	1602	5407	10074	39818	45958	-	-	57	169	124	1145	940	2525	8322	-	-
	0.5nmol/L	295	264	575	3133	3922	11639	25967	0.38	17	685388	438962	607361	884492	1104824	1238825	1825342	0.90	26
terone	1nmol/L	914	373	718	4007	9340	29516	21276	0.80	22	357698	531483	598648	821683	1985083	1930638	2183225	0.71	21
Testos	2nmol/L	159	594	806	3569	7559	43631	58374	0.80	22	523998	494235	585862	874936	724970	1249492	1586916	0.46	18
	8nmol/L	511	146	495	1126	26540	111769	44212	0.71	21	273418	412198	538590	625239	783171	1759930	1594968	0.80	22
	30nmol/L	631	1154	6598	15862	34123	113895	51960	0.62	29	146998	430438	504562	781164	1517648	1790861	1583131	1	24

	(h)	UUg1											
	(3)		Time (Hours)										
		0	2	4	6	8	10	12	p-Value	U-Value			
Beta-oestradiol	0	2150	1109	4069	10436	18877	7794	9762	_	_			
	62.5pg/ml	8436	722	2167	7534	14962	30767	32133	0.62	29			
	300pg/ml	1698	565	1466	7788	15257	2189	30633	0.62	20			
	1000pg/ml	396	1361	3188	9879	25819	31163	74842	0.62	29			
Testosterone	0	390148	641355	902494	1239473	1651327	2311658	2638640	_	_			
	0.5nmol/L	170388	616094	806870	1217712	1526931	2187910	2531904	0.71	21			
	1nmol/L	196730	598507	764935	1162229	1446166	1643835	2832725	0.71	21			
	2nmol/L	138264	443264	800616	1229754	1471282	1955663	2605212	0.71	21			
	8nmol/L	141180	538559	756895	1077898	1615575	1771173	2341583	0.71	21			
	30nmol/L	231193	435782	761732	804500	1707192	1543945	2157229	0.71	19			



Figure 8-2 – **Growth curve graphs for three** *U. parvum* **isolates cultured in beta-oestradiol.** Graphs are plotted exponentially across the 12-hour culture time.



Figure 8-3 - Growth curve graphs for three *U. parvum* **isolates cultured in testosterone.** Graphs are plotted exponentially across the 12-hour culture time.



Figure 8-4 - Growth curve graphs for three *U. urealyticum* **isolates cultured in beta-oestradiol.** Graphs are plotted exponentially across the 12-hour culture time.



Figure 8-5 - Growth curve graphs for three *U. urealyticum* **isolates cultured in testosterone.** Graphs are plotted exponentially across the 12-hour culture time.